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Dear Shareholders and Friends,

In 2018, we executed on our goals and achieved 

success the right way — the Vulcan Way — through a 

steadfast commitment to our shareholders, customers, 

employees and the communities we serve. Along the 

way, we continued Reaching Higher. We delivered 

pre-tax earnings growth and enhanced profitability 

while also growing the business in strategic locations, 

even as we faced severe weather events that disrupted 

operations in some states for weeks at a time. We 

advanced our world-class safety performance, improving 

on our record-setting results from the previous year. 

With a clear and compelling strategy, a lean and locally-

led operational structure, and unparalleled positions 

in attractive long-term growth markets, we are well-

equipped to take advantage of market opportunities or 

market challenges. And we are especially well-situated 

to benefit as infrastructure demand in key Vulcan states 

continues to grow, fueled by substantial increases in 

state and local funding. 

Even though the year provided plenty of headwinds for 

the construction industry, our people were more than up 

to the challenges we faced. Despite weather disruptions, 

a 32 percent increase in the cost of liquid asphalt, and a 

25 percent increase in the cost of diesel fuel during the 

year, we delivered strong top and bottom line growth 

— a testament to our operating discipline and the talent 

of our people. For the year we increased total revenues, 

earnings from continuing operations before taxes, and 

adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, 

and amortization (EBITDA), while decreasing our 

overhead expenses as a percent of total revenues. We 

finished the year with adjusted earnings from continuing 

operations of $4.05 per diluted share, compared to 

$3.04 per diluted share in the previous year, and with 

same-store flow-through of incremental aggregates 

revenue to the bottom line of 64 percent. 

We performed well in 2018,  
and I am confident that we will 
continue Reaching Higher to 
deliver even stronger results in 
the future as we benefit from 
the operational strength of our 
business and improving market 
trends in the public sector.

Dramatic Growth in Public 
Infrastructure Funding
We begin 2019 on the cusp of a major expansion 

in public infrastructure construction demand. State 

transportation funding legislation and local ballot 

measures are bringing about important increases in 

public spending for much needed projects and are  

finally beginning to generate new highway construction 

and the repair and maintenance work necessary to 

address the country’s failing infrastructure — all projects 

that depend upon aggregates as the fundamental 

building block.

As one example of many, we are just beginning to 

benefit from highway work in California made possible 

by SB-1, The Road Repair and Accountability Act, 

signed into law in 2017. SB-1 provides an additional 

$52.4 billion over a ten-year period to fund the state’s 

dilapidated transportation infrastructure, essentially 

doubling prior funding. As the largest producer of both 

aggregates and asphalt in California, we are uniquely 

positioned to serve SB-1 projects in the Golden State. 

We expect greater demand for aggregates and asphalt 

from these projects in 2019 and for years beyond, as 

new highway work and other major transportation 

projects get underway. 

We’re Reaching Higher the Vulcan Way —  
Doing the right thing, the right way, at the right time
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The same trends are occurring in other Vulcan-served 

states. In fact, nine of our key states that generate 

almost 80 percent of our revenue have passed legislation 

over the last three years that raises their transportation 

infrastructure funding by nearly 60 percent over 2015 

levels. California, Florida, Georgia, Maryland, North 

Carolina, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, and Virginia 

have all stepped up to address their transportation 

infrastructure needs and boost their economies.

Altogether, state laws and local initiatives to increase 

transportation infrastructure funding have added 

more than $20 billion per year of funding capacity in 

just these nine Vulcan states. To put it in perspective, 

that’s nearly half the annual amount provided to all 50 

states under the federal transportation law, the Fixing 

America’s Surface Transportation (FAST) Act. We expect 

more Vulcan-served states to follow suit in 2019 and 

the following years. The momentum and need is there. 

In last November’s elections, 352 local transportation 

funding initiatives appeared on ballots in 31 states, and 

79 percent of them were approved by voters. Voters 

want better infrastructure. Many of America’s political 

leaders are waking up to that fact. 

We are excited about accelerating public sector 

growth. At the same time, demand from private 

sector projects has remained stable in our markets, 

providing a solid base for overall growth. In fact, private 

construction activity has continued to improve in several 

of our important markets, particularly housing and 

nonresidential construction in the South and West. 

Overall, we see significant room for growth, with 

demand for aggregates still below historical averages, 

and well below past peaks in demand, even as 

population and economic activity continue to increase in 

our key markets. We believe that we are in the middle 

stages of the market upturn that began more than five 

years ago. We see significant upside in revenues and 

profitability, and we are working to ensure that our unit 

cost of production per ton of product sold — already the 

best in the industry — continues to improve, resulting in 

even stronger profitability. 

Hand-in-hand with our sharp focus on operational 

excellence, we also continued our leadership in proactive 

capital stewardship. We maintained excellent liquidity, 

reinvested in our core operations, maintained our 

investment grade credit rating, successfully pursued 

profitable growth opportunities, and returned $282 

million to shareholders through dividends and share 

repurchases, an increase of $89 million over the  

previous year.
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The Vulcan Way
Value is created and sustained not only though strong 

financial results, but through a steadfast, long-term 

commitment to our customers, employees, communities, 

and the environment. The construction materials we 

provide create more than just strong financial results 

— they build stronger communities. Our materials are 

the building blocks that make possible the roads and 

bridges, schools, houses, public and private buildings, 

hospitals and places of worship for communities 

throughout America. 

Beyond infrastructure, we are 
also focused on building stronger 
communities by giving back and 
contributing to many worthwhile 
civic and cultural initiatives  
that are important to us and  
to our neighbors. 

We are positive, long-term members of dynamic, 

thriving, and growing communities. We are proud of  

this social responsibility commitment — doing the  

right thing, the right way, at the right time. That is  

the cornerstone of our philosophy, and we call it  

“the Vulcan Way.” 

It is a fundamental commitment for us. It guides 

everything that we do, and we are constantly striving to 

achieve more. We believe in encouraging and enabling 

our people to accomplish great things, both at Vulcan 

and within our communities. The backbone of Vulcan 

is our people, and our people hold themselves to the 

highest standards. 

The most important aspect of our commitment to our 

people is keeping them safe. We are an industry leader 

in safety, and that is very important to us. We take our 

record of excellence seriously, and we are committed to 

improving on it. Our 2018 safety record was even better 

than our world-class 2017 performance, remaining 

at less than one injury per 200,000 employee-hours 

worked. Our goal is zero injuries in the workplace.  

We believe that is achievable. In fact, in the past 12 

months, 94 percent of our facilities have not had an 

employee lose a single hour of work due to an injury. It’s 

a well-earned achievement, the outcome of a relentless 

focus on the safety and well-being of our people. 

Developing Our People — 
Aiming Higher
We are also highly focused on the development and 

growth of our people. We are all working to continually 

improve our performance and to help each other do it. 

We are investing not just in our employees’ safety,  

but also in their professional advancement and growth 

as leaders. 

Our leaders and teams work from carefully developed 

SMART1 goals. They share them, and they revise and 

update them, with a constant eye on continuous 

improvement and performing at the top of their game 

no matter what is thrown at them. Our work together  

is exciting, energizing, and fulfilling. That is one 

reason why our Organizational Health Index scores, as 

measured by McKinsey & Company and compared to 

1,700 other companies, are consistently among the 

1“Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Relevant, Time-bound.”
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highest. Our employees perform at Vulcan with a great 

deal of satisfaction in the work that they do, but they 

are also determined to always get better.

Sustainability and 
Environmental Stewardship

We take great pride in our sustainability and 

environmental stewardship initiatives, which underpin 

our commitment to long-term growth. Vulcan’s 

operations ended the year over 98 percent citation-free 

in both state and federal regulatory inspections. We are 

also continually working to increase energy efficiency 

and reduce emissions. Our operations are not a major 

source of greenhouse gas emissions as measured by the 

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Nevertheless, 

we have reduced greenhouse gas emissions by more 

than 49 percent since 2015. And unlike metal mines, 

there is no toxicity associated with by-products from 

our quarries. These by-products can be reclaimed and 

re-blended into saleable materials. However, in no way 

does that diminish our commitment to do better every 

day in protecting the environment, and we are  

always striving to drive further improvements in 

environmental stewardship. 

Every site Vulcan operates has unique environmental 

characteristics that call for a tailored, site-by-site 

stewardship strategy that includes a strong focus 

on water re-use and recycling. Our commitment to 

sustainable growth is also demonstrated by our recent 

investment in two new, state-of-the-art ships that serve 

important and growing markets on the U.S. Gulf Coast 

and up the Atlantic coast as far as Charleston, South 

Carolina. Compliant with Energy Efficient Design Index 

standards, these ships have much lower emissions and 

are far more fuel efficient than our prior fleet. 

We focus intently on the environment when our 

quarries are in use, but we are also focused on their 

best use when production is completed, looking far 

into the future. More than forty Vulcan operations are 

certified by the international Wildlife Habitat Council 

(WHC) in recognition of our creation and preservation 

of wildlife habitats at these sites. We employ extensive 

land reclamation practices at our sites as we look to 

the end of their productive life, while also holding 

thousands of acres of land in conservation easements. 

Proper stewardship of the land, for the long term, is 

of great importance to us. Our team at Vulcan’s Calica 

Quarry in Mexico, for instance, has been recognized by 

the Mexican government for its reforestation program 

that produces more than 20,000 plants and trees from 

our nursery there — plants that are native to the land 

in Mexico’s Yucatán Peninsula. Over the last 15 years, 

Vulcan’s Calica facility has continued to receive “Clean 

Industry” certificates for outstanding environmental 

performance as determined and issued by PROFEPA, 

Mexico’s federal environmental protection agency in 

charge of enforcing environmental laws.

In this year’s annual report, we 
describe some of our investments 
in employees and in environmental 
sustainability. These investments  
are the right thing to do, are good 
for our business, and have helped  
us deliver superior performance. 

In closing, I’m extremely proud of our resilience in 2018. 

We faced no shortage of challenges, but our people still 

delivered impressive results and positioned us extremely 

well for 2019 and the ensuing years. We looked out for 

each other, for our Company, and for our communities 

and the environment, all consistent with our sharp focus 

on creating long-term value for shareholders. 

We are excited about the future and committed to 

capitalizing on the opportunities before us in the right 

way — the Vulcan Way. Our customers, partners, 

communities, and shareholders have come to expect 

a world-class level of commitment, service and focus 

from us, and we will honor that expectation by always 

Reaching Higher. 

As always, thank you for your support and 

investment in Vulcan Materials.

Sincerely,

Tom Hill

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
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MANAGEMENT UPDATE
Vulcan welcomed a new Senior Vice President and 

Chief Financial Officer, Suzanne Wood, who joined 

the Company in September 2018. Prior to joining the 

Vulcan family, Suzanne was the Group Finance Director 

and Chief Financial Officer at Ashtead Group plc, a FTSE 

50 international equipment rental company serving the 

construction industry and similar markets. Suzanne is a 

key member of the Company’s Senior Leadership Team 

and we are pleased to benefit from her deep financial 

and operational skills and broad industry experience. 

John McPherson, Suzanne’s predecessor as Executive  

Vice President and Chief Financial & Strategy Officer, 

stepped down in December after more than six years 

at the Company, to spend more time with his family in 

Texas. John made outstanding contributions to Vulcan 

during his time with the Company, and we wish him the 

very best in the days and years ahead.

Separately, the Company would like to thank Kathleen 

Wilson-Thompson, who stepped down from Vulcan’s 

Board of Directors in late December to concentrate on 

other commitments. Kathleen made many contributions 

to the growth and success of Vulcan since joining our 

Board of Directors in 2009.
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Vulcan has delivered strong financial results during the past five years, including consistent 

revenue and gross profit growth. As the leading aggregates producer in the United States, 

serving many of the most attractive markets, we are well positioned for continued growth, 

particularly as federal, state, and local governments increase spending on public infrastructure 

construction, while demand from private sector projects remains stable. In addition, our keen 

focus on operational excellence, cost control, and disciplined investment should enable us to 

continue to enhance profitability and drive sustainable, long-term shareholder value. 

EXCEPTIONAL 
PERFORMANCE
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Continued improvement in the 
demand environment, particularly 
public, was supported by steady 

shipment growth

Customer confidence and visibility 
to growth resulted in higher pricing

Fixed cost leverage and  
operating efficiencies more  

than offset higher diesel costs

+$137M

+$0.27 PER TON

+18.2M TONS

+$0.19 PER TON

-$0.08 PER TON

Increase in Aggregates Segment Gross Profit in 2018

Gross Profit
16%

Unit Profitability
6%

Volume
10%

Price
1%

Unit Cost
1%

Total Revenues
$ in millions

2018201720162014 2015

$4
,3

83

$3
,8

90

$3
,5

93

$2
,9

94 $3
,4

22

+10%CAGR 

Net Earnings
$ in millions

20182017320162014 2015

$5
16

$6
01

$4
19

$2
05 $2

21

+26%CAGR 

Adjusted EBITDA2

$ in millions

2018201720162014 2015

$1
,1

32

$9
82

$9
66

$6
00

$8
35

+17%CAGR 

2Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure. See Page 47 in the 10K for a reconciliation of this non-GAAP financial measure to our results 
reported under GAAP. 
32017 net earnings includes an income tax benefit of $301.6 million arising from the enactment of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, which reduced the U.S. 
federal corporate income tax rate. The application of the new tax rate to our net deferred tax liabilities resulted in a reduction in tax liabilities and a 
corresponding income tax benefit.
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Aggregates Industry Vulcan

Vulcan’s MSHA/OSHA Injury Rate Compared to Aggregates Industry
Continuing Outperformance

Number of Injuries per 200,000 Hours Worked

Freight-Adjusted Sales Price

On a mix-adjusted basis, 2018 pricing increased 3.5 percent versus the prior year. Positive trends in backlogged 

work along with demand visibility, customer confidence, and logistics constraints support continued upward pricing 

momentum. Freight-adjusted sales price has increased at a 4% compound annual growth rate since the beginning  

of the economic recovery in the second quarter of 2013.

4The aggregates industry MSHA/OSHA injury rate for 2018 was not available as of the publication of this report.
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Vulcan’s strategic position in high-growth markets in the United States is without parallel in 

the aggregates industry. We currently serve markets that are projected to see 80 percent of the 

country’s population growth from 2020 to 2030.5 Nine of the states where we operate, which 

accounted for almost 80 percent of our revenue, have passed legislation over the last three years 

that dramatically increased their transportation infrastructure funding. Along with successful 

local ballot measures, these actions have added more than $20 billion annually in transportation 

funding in these nine states alone — almost half as much as the annual appropriation for 

highway funding under the federal Fixing America’s Surface Transportation (FAST) Act.  

We believe we are at the beginning of a new era in major transportation funding for much  

needed and long overdue projects. Many of our most important markets will be prime 

beneficiaries for years to come.

ACCELERATING
PUBLIC SECTOR 

DEMAND
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5Source: Moody’s Analytics, October 2018.
6Source: Dodge Data & Analytics and Company Estimates.

3.0

2.5

2.0

1.5

1

.5

0
2007 2008 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 20172009 2018

U.S. Aggregates Demand6

Billions of Tons

Public Private

Public Highway Starts in Vulcan-Served Markets
On the Cusp of a New Surge in Growth

+12%
in 2018

+14%
in 2017

~60% increase
in state transportation infrastructure spending over 2015 levels 

in California, Florida, Georgia, Maryland, North Carolina, South 

Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, and Virginia. These nine Vulcan states 

contribute almost 80% of the Company’s revenue.

Overall, we see significant room for growth. Demand for aggregates is still below historical averages — and well below 

past peaks in demand — even as population and economic activity continue to increase in our key markets. We believe 

that we are in the middle stages of the market upturn that began more than five years ago.
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RESPONSIBLE
STEWARDS

Vulcan takes pride in its responsibility to its employees, communities, and the environment. 

We look to foster the talent and growth of our people by helping build leadership skills, 

enhancing employee engagement, providing comprehensive training, and emphasizing 

diversity and inclusion. Investing in and empowering our workforce creates a highly engaged 

team and sustainable, long-term value. 
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that minimize water consumption. Our stewardship 

programs are designed to protect the environment while 

also strengthening relationships with our communities, 

customers, regulators, and employees. 

Emissions 
Vulcan has made significant improvements in its 

carbon footprint over the years, investing heavily in fuel 

efficient mobile equipment and heightening its focus on 

operating efficiency.

From 2016 to 2018, Vulcan has 
invested $140 million in Tier 4 
mobile equipment or mobile 
equipment engines, with new fleet 
particulate, NOx and SO2 emissions 
reductions of more than 90 percent. 
Our new state-of-the-art ships for 
Gulf of Mexico transportation are 
significantly more fuel efficient  
than the prior fleet.

We invest in our communities through support of many 

important civic and cultural programs from the Vulcan 

Materials Company Foundation, through countless 

employee volunteer hours in community programs, and 

with our industry-leading Adopt-a-School program, 

among other initiatives. The Vulcan Foundation focuses 

support on education and environmental stewardship 

initiatives, and on our employees’ involvement in the 

communities where we operate and live.

Similarly, we believe that superior environmental 

stewardship not only drives long-term results, it is the 

right social and business policy. We see land use as 

a privilege granted to us by the community, and we 

are stewards of our land holdings so that they have 

long-term community value well beyond the interim 

period of active mining. We are also deeply engaged 

in a variety of initiatives that will continue to improve 

our management of energy consumption, combining 

environmental and economic benefits. Although not 

a significant source of greenhouse gas emissions as 

determined by the U.S. Environmental Protection 

Agency, we continue to reduce them through new 

investments and more efficient operations and 

transportation equipment and processes. We are 

focused on being responsible stewards of water usage, 

with an emphasis on closed loop and recycling processes 

Scope 1 Emissions Decreased 
Significantly Since 20137

Tons of Scope 1 Emissions

7Scope 1 = Direct Greenhouse Gas Emissions, less transportation 
and international operations.

2018

58
8,

92
1

2013

1,
15

3,
49

7 -49%
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Responsible Water Usage
Every site Vulcan operates has unique environmental 

traits that call for tailored, site-by-site stewardship 

strategies and operations. Vulcan’s focus on water  

re-use and recycling reduces its impact on available 

water in its communities and minimizes wastewater 

discharge. Unlike metal mines, there is no toxicity 

associated with by-products from Vulcan quarries —  

only rock dust and particles that can be reclaimed  

from water re-use and recycling initiatives. 

 McCook Quarry

 At our McCook Quarry in Illinois, Vulcan uses  

 on average up to 170,000 gallons of recycled  

 water per day.

 Stockbridge Quarry

 Automated dust suppression valves and road  

 sprinkler valves at our Stockbridge Quarry in  

 Georgia reduce dust and protect the health and  

 safety of our employees and the community.

Environmental Conservation
Vulcan is committed to first-class environmental 

conservation, as evidenced by its citation-free 

environmental inspection rate of over 98 percent.  

Vulcan takes a long-term view of its operating sites, 

focusing not just on the present, but on repurposing  

the land for community use after a quarry’s life cycle. 

During 2018, Vulcan 
maintained 44 wildlife 
habitat sites, as certified 
by the international 
Wildlife Habitat  
Council (WHC)

 Bellwood Quarry

 Following the completion of mining, our Bellwood  

 Quarry was acquired by the City of Atlanta as the  

 centerpiece of the Beltline Park project and as a  

 water reservoir with the capacity to hold 2 billion  

 gallons of water.

 Crystal Lake

 At Crystal Lake in Illinois, our sand and gravel  

 operation was reclaimed and turned into a lake  

 and recreation park facility for the community.

McCook Quarry

Stockbridge Quarry

Bellwood Quarry

Crystal Lake
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Employee Development  
and Growth

At Vulcan we invest in our people, giving them essential 

training, guidance, and support they need to develop, 

excel, and advance. We foster an environment of 

diversity and inclusion that enables us to attract, grow, 

and retain the best talent possible. Our people are our 

most important resource, and we believe they are at 

their best working in a culture of mutual respect and 

integrity that nurtures their growth.

We seek to identify and promote the growth of 

well-rounded individuals who are leaders, with sound 

business judgment, strong ethical values, and an 

entrepreneurial spirit.

34%
Vulcan hires in 2018  
who were diverse8

12%
Vulcan’s workforce  

that is female 

28%
Vulcan’s workforce  

that is diverse8

7,000
Hours of leadership and 
supervisory training for 

managers in 2018

215,000
Hours of  

employee training  
in 2018

118,400
Hours dedicated to 
safety and health 
training in 2018

Vulcan has a clear strategic 
vision that is understood 

and shared by its employees

Shared  
Vision

Vulcan’s management models 
the values of the company and 
demonstrates supportive and 

challenging leadership

Effective  
Leadership

Vulcan’s “family” work 
environment influences  
positive behaviors and 
encourages retention

Great Place  
to Work

8Diversity based on ethnicity and gender. 
9Source: McKinsey & Company’s Organizational Health Index, June 2017. The Organizational Health Index utilized by Vulcan in 2015 and again in 2017 is 
a proprietary survey conducted by McKinsey and Company that measures the extent to which habits and practices are recognized by employees.  
The results are benchmarked against over 5 million respondents representing 1,700 engagements. For more information see https://www.mckinsey.com/
solutions/orgsolutions/overview/organization-health-index.

Top 10% overall organizational health score9

Organizational health is the best indicator of an organization’s capacity to excel. 

Companies with leading health scores deliver on average 3x greater TSR over time.9

Recognized in 2018 as 
a “Women on Boards” 
winning company
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PART I 

“SAFE HARBOR” STATEMENT UNDER THE PRIVATE SECURITIES  
LITIGATION REFORM ACT OF 1995 
Certain of the matters and statements made herein or incorporated by reference into this report constitute forward-looking 
statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. All such statements are made 
pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements reflect our 
intent, belief or current expectation. Often, forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of words, such as 
“anticipate,” “may,” “believe,” “estimate,” “project,” “expect,” “intend” and words of similar import. In addition to the 
statements included in this report, we may from time to time make other oral or written forward-looking statements in other 
filings under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or in other public disclosures. Forward-looking statements are not 
guarantees of future performance, and actual results could differ materially from those indicated by the forward-looking 
statements. All forward-looking statements involve certain assumptions, risks and uncertainties that could cause actual 
results to differ materially from those included in or contemplated by the statements. These assumptions, risks and 
uncertainties include, but are not limited to: 

 general economic and business conditions 

 the timing and amount of federal, state and local funding for infrastructure 

 changes in the level of spending for private residential and private nonresidential construction 

 changes in our effective tax rate 

 the increasing reliance on information technology infrastructure for our ticketing, procurement, financial statements and 
other processes could adversely affect operations in the event that the infrastructure does not work as intended or 
experiences technical difficulties or is subjected to cyber-attacks 

 the impact of the state of the global economy on our businesses and financial condition and access to capital markets 

 the highly competitive nature of the construction materials industry 

 the impact of future regulatory or legislative actions, including those relating to climate change, wetlands, greenhouse gas 
emissions, the definition of minerals, tax policy or international trade 

 the outcome of pending legal proceedings 

 pricing of our products 

 weather and other natural phenomena, including the impact of climate change 

 energy costs 

 costs of hydrocarbon-based raw materials 

 healthcare costs 

 the amount of long-term debt and interest expense we incur 

 changes in interest rates 

 volatility in pension plan asset values and liabilities, which may require cash contributions to the pension plans 

 the impact of environmental cleanup costs and other liabilities relating to existing and/or divested businesses 

 our ability to secure and permit aggregates reserves in strategically located areas 

 our ability to manage and successfully integrate acquisitions 

 the effect of changes in tax laws, guidance and interpretations, including those related to the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act that 
was enacted in December 2017 

 significant downturn in the construction industry may result in the impairment of goodwill or long-lived assets 

 changes in technologies, which could disrupt the way we do business and how our products are distributed 

 the risks set forth in Item 1A “Risk Factors,” Item 3 “Legal Proceedings,” Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and Note 12 “Commitments and Contingencies” to the consolidated 
financial statements in Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data,” all as set forth in this report 

 other assumptions, risks and uncertainties detailed from time to time in our filings made with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission 
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All forward-looking statements are made as of the date of filing or publication. We undertake no obligation to publicly update 
any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except to the extent 
required by law. Investors are cautioned not to rely unduly on such forward-looking statements when evaluating the 
information presented in our filings, and are advised to consult any of our future disclosures in filings made with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission and our press releases with regard to our business and consolidated financial 
position, results of operations and cash flows. 
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ITEM 1 
BUSINESS 

 

Vulcan Materials Company, a New Jersey corporation, operates primarily in the U.S. and is the nation’s largest supplier of 
construction aggregates (primarily crushed stone, sand and gravel) and a major producer of asphalt mix and ready-mixed 
concrete. We provide the basic materials for the infrastructure needed to maintain and expand the U.S. economy. Delivered 
by trucks, ships, barges and trains, our products are the indispensable materials building homes, offices, places of worship, 
schools, hospitals and factories, as well as vital infrastructure including highways, bridges, roads, ports and harbors, water 
systems, campuses, dams, airports and rail networks. As of December 31, 2018, we had 351 active aggregates facilities, 67 
asphalt facilities and 46 concrete facilities. 

BUSINESS STRATEGY 
Our strategy and competitive advantage are based on our strength in aggregates which are used in most types of 
construction and in the production of asphalt mix and ready-mixed concrete. Our strategy for long-term value creation is built 
on: (1) an aggregates-focused business, (2) a disciplined approach to portfolio management and capital allocation, (3) a 
focus on continuous compounding improvement in profitability, (4) a holistic approach to land management, and (5) our 
commitment to safety, health and the environment. 

1. AGGREGATES FOCUS 
Aggregates are used in virtually all types of public and private construction and practically no substitutes for quality 
aggregates exist. Given our focus on aggregates, we: 

 BUILD AND HOLD SUBSTANTIAL RESERVES: Our reserves are critical to our long-term success. We currently have 
16.3 billion tons of permitted and proven or probable aggregates reserves. They are strategically located throughout the 
United States in high-growth areas that are expected to require large amounts of aggregates to meet future construction 
demand. Moreover, there are significant barriers to entry in many metropolitan markets due to stringent zoning and 
permitting regulations. These restrictions curtail expansion in certain areas, but they also increase the value of our 
reserves at existing locations. Our downstream businesses (asphalt and concrete) use Vulcan-produced aggregates 
almost exclusively. 

TAKE ADVANTAGE OF SIZE AND SCALE: We are the largest aggregates supplier in the U.S. Our 351 active aggregates 
facilities as of December 31, 2018 provide opportunities to standardize operating practices and procure equipment (fixed and 
mobile), parts, supplies and services in an efficient and cost-effective manner, both regionally and nationally. Each 
aggregates operation is also unique because of its location within a local market and its particular geological 
characteristics. Every operation, however, uses a similar group of assets to produce saleable aggregates and provide 
customer service. Additionally, we are able to share best practices across the organization and leverage our size for 
administrative support, customer service, accounting, procurement, technical support and engineering. 
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2. PORTFOLIO MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL ALLOCATION  
Demand for our products is dependent on construction activity and correlates positively with changes in population growth, 
household formation and employment. During the period 2020 - 2030, Moody's Analytics projects that 80% of the U.S. 
population growth, 73% of household formation and 64% of new jobs will occur in Vulcan-served states. The close proximity 
of our production facilities and our aggregates reserves to this projected population growth creates many opportunities to 
invest capital in high-return projects. 

 
     Source: Moody’s Analytics as of December 14, 2018 

 

We have pursued a strategy to increase our presence in U.S. metropolitan areas that are expected to grow the most rapidly 
and by divesting assets that are no longer considered part of our long-term growth strategy. Our coast-to-coast footprint 
serves 19 of the top 25 highest-growth U.S. metropolitan areas in 20 states plus the District of Columbia. 

Our top ten revenue producing states accounted for 86% of our 2018 revenues while our top five accounted for 61%. 

          VULCAN’S TOP TEN REVENUE PRODUCING STATES IN 2018 
 

 1. California  6. Florida  

 2. Texas  7. Arizona  

 3. Virginia  8. North Carolina  

4. Tennessee  9. South Carolina  

 5. Georgia  10. Alabama  
 

18 

6 

9 

5 
3 3 

Population Growth Employment Growth Household Growth

Projected Demographic Growth, 2020 to 2030
(Millions)

Vulcan States Non-Vulcan States
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 PORTFOLIO MANAGEMENT: Since becoming a public company in 1957, Vulcan has principally grown by mergers and 
acquisitions. For example, in 1999 we acquired CalMat Co., thereby expanding our aggregates operations into California 
and Arizona and making us one of the nation’s leading producers of asphalt mix. In 2007, we acquired Florida Rock 
Industries, Inc. This acquisition expanded our aggregates business in Florida and our aggregates and ready-mixed 
concrete businesses in other Southeastern and Mid-Atlantic states. In 2017, we acquired Aggregates USA — this 
acquisition greatly expanded our ability to serve customers in Florida, Georgia and South Carolina. 

Additionally, throughout our history we have completed many bolt-on acquisitions that have contributed significantly to our 
growth. We closed seven additional acquisitions in 2017 that complement our existing positions in Arizona, California, 
Illinois, New Mexico, Tennessee, and Virginia. From 2015 to 2017, we invested over $1.2 billion in acquisitions and 
internal projects for long-term growth, while further strengthening our portfolio through divestitures and swaps, including 
swapping our concrete operations in Arizona for asphalt operations in Arizona during 2017. 

While an aggregates-focused business, we selectively make investments in downstream products that drive local market 
profitability. In January 2017, we entered the asphalt market in Tennessee through the acquisition of several asphalt mix 
operations and a construction paving business. During 2018, we entered the asphalt mix and construction paving markets 
in Alabama and expanded our asphalt operations and service offerings in Texas through the acquisition of several asphalt 
mix operations and construction paving businesses. 

 CAPITAL ALLOCATION: Our long-term strategy around capital allocation has given us the ability to leverage decisions 
we have made over the past few years. During 2018, we reinvested $469.1 million into core operating, internal growth and 
maintenance capital expenditures, in addition to $459.6 million reinvested in 2017. These investments are fundamental 
actions that strengthen the business. They improve the longer-term efficiency, capacity and flexibility of our production, 
and they support our strong commitment to superior customer service. 

3. COMPOUNDING IMPROVEMENT IN PROFITABILITY 
Our focus on the following three major profit drivers has made us one of the most profitable public companies in the industry 
(as measured by aggregates gross profit per ton). 

 Price for Service — We seek to receive full and fair value for the quality of products and services we provide. We should 
be paid appropriately for helping our customers be successful. Our expanding margins will continue to benefit from the 
compounding pricing gains associated with cyclical recoveries. 

 Operating Efficiency and Leverage — We focus on rigorous cost management throughout the economic cycle. Small 
savings per ton add up to significant cost reductions. We are operating a capital-intensive business well below full 
capacity and are extremely well positioned to further leverage fixed costs on incremental sales as we move forward. 

 Sales and Production Mix — We adjust production levels to meet varying market conditions. Managing inventories 
responsibly results in improved cost performance and an improved return on capital. As the recovery continues and as we 
see a larger portion of new construction activity in the end-use mix, we will sell the entire production mix much more 
efficiently and at fuller value. 

We manage these factors locally and align our talent and incentives accordingly. Our knowledgeable and experienced 
workforce and our flexible production capabilities allow us to manage operational and overhead costs aggressively. 
Recovery in demand serves as a tailwind for all three major profit drivers. 
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4. LAND MANAGEMENT 
With approximately 240,000 acres in our land portfolio, a long-term holistic approach to preserving land and water is integral 
to sustaining our success. From pre-mining to mining to reclamation, we are actively managing the entire life cycle of our 
land, creating maximum value for the business, our shareholders and our communities. 

We are putting land to use before we mine by creating opportunities for agriculture and timber development. After mining, 
our land and water assets will be converted to other valuable uses including drinking water reservoirs, aquifer recharge 
basins, public parks, habitat mitigation banks, wetlands, productive farmland and residential and commercial developments. 

Because of the evolving needs of our communities, we listen to and collaborate with our neighbors to prepare the land for its 
highest and best use after mining is complete. Our work with state, regional and local governments to develop solutions 
today will benefit future generations. 

5. SAFETY, HEALTH AND THE ENVIRONMENT 
A strategy for sustainable, long-term value creation must include doing right by your employees, your neighbors and the 
environment in which you operate. We are a leader in our industry in safety performance by applying the shared 
experiences, expertise and resources at each of our locally led sites with an emphasis on taking care of one another. We 
focus on our environmental stewardship programs with the same intensity that we bring to our health and safety initiatives. 
And, our community relations programs serve our neighbors, while ensuring that we grow and thrive in the communities 
where we operate. 

PRODUCT LINES 
Our products are used to build the roads, tunnels, bridges, railroads and airports that connect us, and to build the hospitals, 
schools, shopping centers, factories and places of worship that are essential to our lives and the economy. We have four 
operating (and reportable) segments organized around our principal product lines: 

1. Aggregates – 74% of 2018’s total revenues and 90% of gross profit 

2. Asphalt – 17% of 2018’s total revenues and 5% of gross profit 

3. Concrete – 9% of 2018’s total revenues and 5% of gross profit 

4. Calcium – less than 1% of 2018’s total revenues and less than 1% of gross profit 

See Note 15 “Segment Reporting” in Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.” 

1. AGGREGATES 
Our construction aggregates are used in a number of ways: 

 as a base material underneath highways, walkways, airport runways, parking lots and railroads 

 to aid in water filtration, purification and erosion control 

 as a raw material used in combination with other resources to construct many of the items we rely on to sustain our 
quality of life including: 

 houses and apartments 

 roads, bridges and parking lots 

 schools and hospitals 

 commercial buildings and retail space 

 sewer systems 

 power plants 

 airports and runways 
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AGGREGATES INDUSTRY 

Factors that affect the U.S. aggregates industry and our business include: 

 LOCATION OF RESERVES: Aggregates have a high weight-to-value ratio and, in most cases, must be produced near 
where they are used; if not, transportation can cost more than the materials, rendering them uncompetitive compared to 
locally produced materials. Exceptions to this typical market structure include areas along the U.S. Gulf Coast and the 
Eastern Seaboard where there are limited supplies of locally available, high-quality aggregates. We serve these markets 
from quarries that have access to cost-effective long-haul transportation — shipping by barge and rail — and from our 
quarry on Mexico’s Yucatan Peninsula with our fleet of Panamax-class, self-unloading ships. 

Where practical, we have operations located close to our local markets because the cost of trucking materials long 
distances is prohibitive. Approximately 80% of our total aggregates shipments are delivered exclusively from the producing 
location to the customer by truck, and another 15% are delivered by truck after reaching a sales yard by rail or water. The 
remaining 5% of aggregates shipments are delivered directly to the customer by rail or water. 

 LIMITED PRODUCT SUBSTITUTION: There are limited substitutes for quality aggregates. Recycled concrete and 
asphalt have certain applications as a lower-cost alternative to virgin aggregates. However, many types of construction 
projects cannot be served by recycled concrete and require the use of virgin aggregates to meet technical specifications 
and performance-based criteria for durability, strength and other qualities. Moreover, the amount of recycled asphalt 
included in asphalt mix as a substitute for aggregates is limited due to specifications. 

 HIGHLY FRAGMENTED INDUSTRY: The U.S. aggregates industry is composed of over 5,800 companies that manage 
more than 10,600 operations. This fragmented structure provides many opportunities for consolidation. Companies in the 
industry commonly enter new markets or expand positions in existing markets through the acquisition of existing facilities. 

Through strategic acquisitions and investments, we have developed an unmatched coast-to-coast footprint of strategically 
located permitted reserves concentrated in and serving the nation’s key growth centers. We have over 23,000 customers 
in 20 states, the District of Columbia, Mexico and the Bahamas. 

 FLEXIBLE PRODUCTION CAPABILITIES: The production of aggregates is a mechanical process in which stone is 
crushed and, through a series of screens, separated into various sizes depending on how it will be used. Production 
capacity can be flexible by adjusting operating hours to meet changing market demand. 

 RAW MATERIAL INPUTS LARGELY CONTROLLED: Unlike typical industrial manufacturing industries, the aggregates 
industry does not require the input of raw material beyond owned or leased aggregates reserves. Stone, sand and gravel 
are naturally occurring resources. However, production does require the use of explosives, hydrocarbon fuels and electric 
power. 

 DEMAND CYCLES: Long-term growth in demand for aggregates is largely driven by growth in population, jobs and 
households. While short-term and medium-term demand for aggregates fluctuates with economic cycles, declines have 
historically been followed by strong recoveries, with each peak establishing a new historical high. 

The drivers underpinning demand recovery — and sustained, multi-year volume and pricing growth — remain firmly in 
place, in both the public and private sectors of the economy. They include: population growth; gains in total employment 
and in household income and wages; a continuing increase in household formations; the growing need for additional 
housing stock and housing demand; a multi-year federal transportation law in place and continuing increases in 
transportation funding at state and local levels; record state tax receipts; public investment in infrastructure that is still well 
below the long-term trend-line, and increasing political awareness and acceptance of the need to invest in infrastructure. 



 

Part I 8 
 

AGGREGATES MARKETS 

We focus on the U.S. markets with above-average long-term expected population growth and where construction is 
expected to expand. Because transportation is a significant part of the delivered cost of aggregates, our facilities are 
typically located in the markets they serve or have access to economical transportation via rail, barge or ship to a particular 
end market. We serve both the public and the private sectors. 

Public sector construction activity has historically been more stable and less cyclical than privately-funded construction, and 
generally requires more aggregates per dollar of construction spending. Private sector construction (primarily residential and 
nonresidential buildings) typically is more affected by general economic cycles than publicly-funded projects (particularly 
highways, roads and bridges), which tend to receive more consistent levels of funding throughout economic cycles. 

 

 
 
Source: Company estimates 
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PUBLIC SECTOR CONSTRUCTION MARKET 

Public sector construction includes spending by federal, state, and local governments for highways, bridges, buildings, 
airports, schools and prisons as well as other infrastructure construction for sewer and waste disposal systems, water supply 
systems, dams, reservoirs and other public construction projects. Construction for power plants and other utilities is funded 
from both public and private sources. In 2018, publicly-funded construction accounted for approximately 44% of our total 
aggregates shipments, and approximately 23% of our aggregates sales by volume were used in highway construction 
projects. 

 PUBLIC SECTOR FUNDING: Generally, public sector construction spending is more stable than private sector 
construction spending; public sector spending is less sensitive to interest rates and has historically been supported by 
multi-year laws, which provide certainty in funding amounts, program structures, and rules and regulations. Federal 
spending is governed by authorization, budget and appropriations laws. The level of state and local spending on 
infrastructure varies across the United States and depends on individual state needs and economies. 

 STATE AND LOCAL TRANSPORTATION FUNDING: Since 2012, 31 states have approved plans to increase 
revenues for transportation investment through motor fuel tax increases, revenues outside of fuel taxes, and one-
time increases; 13 of those states, representing 81% of our 2018 revenues, are in Vulcan’s footprint. In 2017 alone, 7 
state legislatures voted to raise motor fuel taxes for transportation investment. 

In the November 2018 general election, voters in 31 states approved 79% of 352 state and local transportation 
funding ballot measures. Major transportation funding measures in Vulcan-served areas are estimated to result in 
$30 billion in revenues and bond proceeds primarily dedicated to roads, streets and bridges. Including 2018, voters 
have approved 78% of nearly 1,700 transportation investment ballot measures since 2009. 

 FEDERAL HIGHWAY FUNDING: In December 2015, President Obama signed a new, long-term federal highway 
and transit authorization bill, Fixing America’s Surface Transportation Infrastructure Act (FAST Act), into law after the 
final legislation received strong, bipartisan support in both the House and the Senate. The FAST Act provides multi-
year funding to state and local governments in support of road, bridge, intermodal and public transportation projects. 

The FAST Act increases Federal-Aid Highway Program funding from $41 billion in the federal fiscal year (FFY) 2015 
to $47 billion in FFY 2020. In addition, the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018 added approximately $2 billion per year to 
base highway programs in 2018 and 2019. 

The long-term nature of the FAST Act is important. The Federal-Aid Highway Program is the largest component of 
the law and has provided, on average, 52% of all state capital investment in roads and bridges over the last 10 years. 
This multi-year authorization and the associated dedicated funding provides state departments of transportation with 
the ability to plan and execute long-range, complex highway projects. 

The FAST Act also contains important policy changes. To further accelerate the project delivery process, it augments 
the environmental review and permitting process reforms contained in the prior law, Moving Ahead for Progress in 
the 21st Century Act (MAP-21). The new law also provides assistance for states making investments in major capital 
projects — particularly freight projects. In states where we operate, we are well positioned to serve the large general 
contractors who will compete for new freight and other major capacity projects that will move forward with this FAST 
Act funding and policy implementation. 

Project financing remains an important additional component of overall surface transportation spending, with the 
Transportation Infrastructure Finance & Innovation Act (TIFIA) program authorized at $275 million (in line with the 
previous program outlays) and growing to $300 million by 2020. The FAST Act also created a new National Surface 
Transportation and Innovative Finance Bureau to provide technical assistance to states seeking to pursue public-
private partnerships and other financing arrangements for transportation projects. 
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 FEDERAL WATER INFRASTRUCTURE:  In October 2018, President Trump signed America’s Water Infrastructure 
Act of 2018 (AWIA 2018) into law. The new law includes the Water Resources Development Act of 2018 (WRDA 
2018), which reauthorizes needed investment in America’s ports, channels, locks, dams, and other infrastructure that 
supports the maritime and waterways transportation system and provides flood protection for communities. It also 
improves EPA programs for storm water, water recycling, and sewer overflow projects. Included in AWIA 2018 are 
improvements to the Water Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act (WIFIA) program, which was modeled after the 
highly popular TIFIA program in the surface transportation sector. Created in the Water Resources Reform and 
Development Act of 2014 (WRRDA 2014), WIFIA allows for federal credit assistance to water resources projects in 
the form of low-cost loans, loan guarantees and lines of credit. 

In addition to these regular authorizations, $89.3 billion in immediate federal emergency supplemental appropriations 
was provided for disaster recovery in the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018 for hurricane-affected areas in Florida, 
Louisiana, Texas and other states. A portion of these funds will be directed to long-term and short-term U.S. Army 
Corps of Engineers-supported flood control and other water resources construction projects as well as additional 
infrastructure projects that use aggregates and related materials. 

PRIVATE SECTOR CONSTRUCTION MARKET 

The private sector construction markets include both nonresidential building construction and residential construction and 
are considerably more cyclical than public construction. In 2018, privately-funded construction accounted for approximately 
56% of our total aggregates shipments. 

 NONRESIDENTIAL CONSTRUCTION: Private nonresidential building construction includes a wide array of projects. 
Such projects generally are more aggregates intensive than residential construction. Overall demand in private 
nonresidential construction generally is driven by job growth, vacancy rates, private infrastructure needs and demographic 
trends. The growth of the private workforce creates demand for offices, hotels and restaurants. Likewise, population 
growth generates demand for stores, shopping centers, warehouses and parking decks as well as hospitals, places of 
worship and entertainment facilities. Large industrial projects, such as a new manufacturing facility, can increase the need 
for other manufacturing plants to supply parts and assemblies. Construction activity in this end market is influenced by a 
firm's ability to finance a project and the cost of such financing. This end market also includes capital investments in public 
nonresidential facilities to meet the needs of a growing population. 

 RESIDENTIAL CONSTRUCTION: Household formations in Vulcan-served states continue to outpace household 
formations in the rest of the United States. The majority of residential construction is for single-family housing with the 
remainder consisting of multi-family construction (i.e., two family houses, apartment buildings and condominiums). Public 
housing comprises only a small portion of housing demand. Construction activity in this end market is influenced by the 
cost and availability of mortgage financing and builders’ ability to maintain skilled labor. 

U.S. housing starts, as measured by Dodge Data & Analytics data, peaked in early 2006 at over 2 million units annually. 
By the end of 2009, total housing starts had declined to less than 0.6 million units, well below prior historical lows of 
approximately 1 million units annually. In 2018, total annual housing starts in the U.S. reached 1.35 million units. 

ADDITIONAL AGGREGATES PRODUCTS AND MARKETS 
We sell aggregates that are used as ballast for construction and maintenance of railroad tracks. We also sell riprap and jetty 
stone for erosion control along roads and waterways. In addition, stone can be used as a feedstock for cement and lime 
plants and for making a variety of adhesives, fillers and extenders. Coal-burning power plants use limestone in scrubbers to 
reduce harmful emissions. Limestone that is crushed to a fine powder can be sold as agricultural lime. 

We sell a relatively small amount of construction aggregates outside of the United States, principally in the areas 
surrounding our large quarry on the Yucatan Peninsula in Mexico. Nondomestic sales and long-lived assets outside the 
United States are reported in Note 15 “Segment Reporting” in Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.” 
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VERTICAL INTEGRATION 

While aggregates is our focus and primary business, we believe vertical integration between aggregates and downstream 
products, such as asphalt mix and ready-mixed concrete, can be managed effectively in certain markets generating 
acceptable financial returns and enhancing financial returns in our core Aggregates segment. We produce and sell asphalt 
mix and/or ready-mixed concrete primarily in our Alabama, mid-Atlantic, Southwestern, Tennessee and Western markets. 
Aggregates comprise approximately 95% of asphalt mix by weight and 80% of ready-mixed concrete by weight. In both of 
these downstream businesses, aggregates are primarily supplied from our operations. 

 

 

Vulcan’s Top 10 Revenue Producing States in 2018
Other Vulcan-served States

Symbols indicate states where Vulcan
is integrated into additional product lines:

Asphalt CalciumConcrete
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2. ASPHALT 
We produce and sell asphalt mix in Alabama, Arizona, California, New Mexico, Tennessee and Texas. In June 2018, we 
strengthened our asphalt position in Texas by acquiring additional asphalt mix operations and a construction paving 
business. In March 2018, we entered the Alabama asphalt market through the acquisition of an aggregates, asphalt mix and 
construction paving business. In December 2017, we strengthened our asphalt position in Arizona by swapping ready-mixed 
concrete operations for an asphalt mix operation. In January 2017, we entered the Tennessee asphalt market through the 
acquisition of several asphalt mix operations and a construction paving business. For additional details, see Note 19 
“Acquisitions and Divestitures” in Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.” 

This segment relies on our reserves of aggregates, functioning essentially as a customer to our aggregates operations. 
Aggregates are a major component in asphalt mix, comprising approximately 95% by weight of this product. We meet the 
aggregates requirements for our Asphalt segment primarily through our Aggregates segment. These product transfers are 
made at local market prices for the particular grade and quality of material required. 

Because asphalt mix hardens rapidly, delivery typically is within close proximity to the producing facility. The asphalt mix 
production process requires liquid asphalt cement, which we purchase from third-party producers. We do not anticipate any 
significant difficulties in obtaining the raw materials necessary for this segment to operate. We serve our Asphalt segment 
customers directly from our local production facilities.  

3. CONCRETE 
We produce and sell ready-mixed concrete in California, Maryland, New Mexico, Texas, Virginia, Washington D.C. and the 
Bahamas. In March 2018, we exited the Georgia ready-mixed concrete market (we retained all real property which is leased 
to the buyer, and obtained a long-term aggregates supply agreement). As noted above, in December 2017 we exited the 
Arizona ready-mixed concrete market via a swap for an asphalt mix operation, continuing our strategy to focus on asphalt 
mix in that market. In March 2017, we reentered the California ready-mixed concrete market through an acquisition. For 
additional details see Note 19 “Acquisitions and Divestitures” in Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.” 

This segment relies on our reserves of aggregates, functioning essentially as a customer to our aggregates operations. 
Aggregates are a major component in ready-mixed concrete, comprising approximately 80% by weight of this product. We 
meet the aggregates requirements of our Concrete segment primarily through our Aggregates segment. These product 
transfers are made at local market prices for the particular grade and quality of material required. 

We serve our Concrete segment customers from our local production facilities or by truck. Because ready-mixed concrete 
hardens rapidly, delivery typically is within close proximity to the producing facility. Ready-mixed concrete production also 
requires cement which we purchase from third-party producers. We do not anticipate any significant difficulties in obtaining the 
raw materials necessary for this segment to operate. 

4. CALCIUM 
Our Calcium segment is composed of a single calcium operation in Brooksville, Florida. This facility produces calcium products 
for the animal feed, plastics and water treatment industries with high-quality calcium carbonate material mined at the 
Brooksville quarry. 



 

Part I 13 
 

OTHER BUSINESS-RELATED ITEMS 

SEASONALITY AND CYCLICAL NATURE OF OUR BUSINESS 
Almost all of our products are produced and consumed outdoors. Seasonal changes and other weather-related conditions 
can affect the production and sales volumes of our products. Therefore, the financial results for any quarter do not 
necessarily indicate the results expected for the year. Normally, the highest sales and earnings are in the third quarter and 
the lowest are in the first quarter. Furthermore, our sales and earnings are sensitive to national, regional and local economic 
conditions, demographic and population fluctuations, and particularly to cyclical swings in construction spending, primarily in 
the private sector. 

COMPETITORS 
We operate in a generally fragmented industry with a large number of small, privately-held companies. We estimate that the 
ten largest aggregates producers accounted for less than one-third of the total U.S. aggregates production in 2018. Despite 
being the industry leader, Vulcan’s total U.S. market share is less than 10%. Other publicly traded companies among the ten 
largest U.S. aggregates producers include the following: 

 Cemex S.A.B. de C.V. 

 CRH plc  

 HeidelbergCement AG 

 LafargeHolcim 

 Martin Marietta Materials, Inc. 

 MDU Resources Group, Inc. 

 Summit Materials, Inc. 

Because the U.S. aggregates industry is highly fragmented, with over 5,800 companies managing more than 10,600 
operations during 2018, many opportunities for consolidation exist. Therefore, companies in the industry tend to grow by 
acquiring existing facilities to enter new markets or extend their existing market positions. 

CUSTOMERS 
No material part of our business depends upon any single customer whose loss would have a significant adverse effect on 
our business. In 2018, our five largest customers accounted for 8% of our total revenues (excluding internal sales), and no 
single customer accounted for more than 2% of our total revenues. Our products typically are sold to private industry and not 
directly to governmental entities. Although approximately 45% to 55% of our aggregates shipments have historically been 
used in publicly-funded construction, such as highways, airports and government buildings, relatively insignificant sales are 
made directly to federal, state, county or municipal governments/agencies. Therefore, although reductions in state and 
federal funding can curtail publicly-funded construction, our business is not directly subject to renegotiation of profits or 
termination of contracts with state or federal governments. 
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ENVIRONMENTAL COSTS AND GOVERNMENTAL REGULATION 
Our operations are subject to numerous federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to the protection of the 
environment and worker health and safety; examples include regulation of facility air emissions and water discharges, waste 
management, protection of wetlands, listed and threatened species, noise and dust exposure control for workers, and safety 
regulations under both Mine Safety and Health Administration (MSHA) and Occupational Safety and Health Administration 
(OSHA). Compliance with these various regulations requires a substantial capital investment, and ongoing expenditures for 
the operation and maintenance of systems and implementation of programs. We estimate that capital expenditures for 
environmental control facilities in 2019 and 2020 will be $12.2 million and $21.3 million, respectively. These anticipated 
expenditures are not expected to have a material impact on our earnings or competitive position. 

We have received notices from the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) or similar state or local agencies 
that we are considered a potentially responsible party (PRP) at a limited number of sites under the Comprehensive 
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (CERCLA or Superfund) or similar state and local environmental 
laws. Generally we share the cost of remediation at these sites with other PRPs or alleged PRPs in accordance with 
negotiated or prescribed allocations. There is inherent uncertainty in determining the potential cost of remediating a given 
site and in determining any individual party's share in that cost. As a result, estimates can change substantially as additional 
information becomes available about the nature or extent of site contamination, remediation methods, other PRPs and their 
probable level of involvement, and actions by or against governmental agencies or private parties. 

For additional information about litigation and environmental matters, see Notes 1 and 12 to the consolidated financial 
statements in Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.” 

Frequently, we are required by state and local regulations or contractual obligations to reclaim our former mining sites. 
These reclamation liabilities are recorded in our financial statements as a liability at the time the obligation arises. The fair 
value of such obligations is capitalized and depreciated over the estimated useful life of the owned or leased site. The 
liability is accreted through charges to operating expenses. To determine the fair value, we estimate the cost for a third party 
to perform the legally required reclamation, which is adjusted for inflation and risk and includes a reasonable profit margin. 
All reclamation obligations are reviewed at least annually. Reclaimed quarries often have potential for use in commercial or 
residential development or as reservoirs or landfills. However, no projected cash flows from these anticipated uses have 
been considered to offset or reduce the estimated reclamation liability. 

For additional information about reclamation obligations (referred to in our financial statements as asset retirement 
obligations), see Notes 1 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements in Item 8 “Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data.” 

PATENTS AND TRADEMARKS 
We do not own or have a license or other rights under any patents, registered trademarks or trade names that are material 
to any of our reporting segments. 

OTHER INFORMATION ABOUT VULCAN 
Vulcan is a New Jersey corporation incorporated on February 14, 2007, while its predecessor company was incorporated on 
September 27, 1956. Our principal sources of energy are electricity, diesel fuel and natural gas. We do not anticipate any 
difficulty in obtaining sources of energy required for operation of any of our reporting segments in 2019. 

As of January 1, 2019, we employed 8,373 people in the United States. Of these employees, 659 are represented by labor 
unions. Also, as of that date, we employed 408 people in Mexico and 1 in the Bahamas, 332 of whom are represented by 
labor unions. We do not anticipate any significant issues with any unions in 2019.  

We generally ship our products upon receipt of a purchase order or in some cases simply a price quote. Therefore, we do not 
have a significant order backlog. 
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SHAREHOLDER RETURN PERFORMANCE PRESENTATION 
Below is a graph comparing the performance of our common stock, with dividends reinvested, to that of the Standard & 
Poor’s 500 Stock Index (S&P 500) and the Materials and Services Sector of the Wilshire 5000 Index (Wilshire 5000 M&S) 
from December 31, 2013 to December 31, 2018. The Wilshire 5000 M&S is a market capitalization weighted sector 
containing public equities of firms in the Materials and Services sector, which includes our company and approximately 
1,300 other companies. 

   

 
 
 
 
                      

     2013   2014   2015   2016   2017   2018 

Comparative Total Return 1                 

Vulcan Materials Company   $     100.00    $     111.00    $     161.06    $     213.73    $     220.99    $     171.71  
S&P 500   $     100.00    $     113.70    $     115.29    $     129.13    $     157.28    $     150.36  
Wilshire 5000 M&S   $     100.00    $     108.30    $     113.50    $     126.44    $     161.33    $     149.23   

1 Assumes an initial investment at December 31, 2013 of $100 in each stock/index, with quarterly reinvestment of dividends. 
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INVESTOR INFORMATION 
We make available on our website, www.vulcanmaterials.com, free of charge, copies of our:  

 Annual Report on Form 10-K 

 Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q 

 Current Reports on Form 8-K 

Our website also includes amendments to those reports filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission 
(SEC) pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as well as all Forms 3, 4 and 5 filed with 
the SEC by our executive officers and directors, as soon as the filings are made publicly available by the SEC on its EDGAR 
database (www.sec.gov). 

In addition to accessing copies of our reports online, you may request a copy of our Annual Report on Form 10-K, including 
financial statements, by writing to Jerry F. Perkins Jr., General Counsel and Secretary, Vulcan Materials Company, 1200 
Urban Center Drive, Birmingham, Alabama 35242. 

We have a:  

 Business Conduct Policy applicable to all employees and directors 

 Code of Ethics for the CEO and Senior Financial Officers 

Copies of the Business Conduct Policy and the Code of Ethics are available on our webs ite under the heading “Corporate 
Governance.” If we make any amendment to, or waiver of, any provision of the Code of Ethics, we will disclose such 
information on our website as well as through filings with the SEC.  

Our Board of Directors has also adopted: 

 Corporate Governance Guidelines 

 Charters for our Audit, Compensation, Executive, Finance, Governance and Safety, Health & Environmental Affairs 
Committees 

These documents meet all applicable SEC and New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) regulatory requirements. 

The Charters of the Audit, Compensation and Governance Committees are available on our website under the heading, 
“Corporate Governance,” or you may request a copy of any of these documents by writing to Jerry F. Perkins Jr., General 
Counsel and Secretary, Vulcan Materials Company, 1200 Urban Center Drive, Birmingham, Alabama 35242. 

Information included on our website is not incorporated into, or otherwise made a part of, this report. 

CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSERTIONS 
The certifications of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer made pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 are included as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Additionally, on June 5, 2018 our Chief 
Executive Officer submitted to the NYSE the annual written affirmation required by the rules of the NYSE certifying that he 
was not aware of any violations of Vulcan Materials Company of NYSE corporate governance listing standards.  
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ITEM 1A  
RISK FACTORS 

 
The following risks could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations, and 
cause the trading price of our common stock to decline. These risk factors do not identify all risks that we face; our 
operations could also be affected by factors that are not presently known to us or that we currently consider to be immaterial 
to our operations. Due to risks and uncertainties, known and unknown, our past financial results may not be a reliable 
indicator of future performance and historical trends should not be used to anticipate results or trends in future periods. You 
should also refer to the other information set forth in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including Item 7 “Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and Item 8 “Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data.” 

ECONOMIC/POLITICAL RISKS 
Our business is dependent on the construction industry and is subject to economic cycles — Our products are 
principally sold to the U.S. construction industry. Since our business is dependent on spending in both the public and private 
sector construction markets, our profits are sensitive to the underlying national, regional, and local economic conditions. 
Construction spending, which is cyclical, is affected by general economic conditions, changes in interest rates, demographic 
shifts, industry cycles, employment levels, inflation and other business, economic and financial factors that are beyond our 
control. A downturn in construction activities or spending in Vulcan-served markets, particularly in our top revenue-
generating markets, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. 

Changes in legal requirements and governmental policies concerning zoning, land use, environmental and other 
areas of the law may result in additional liabilities, a reduction in operating hours and additional capital 
expenditures — Our operations are affected by numerous federal, state and local laws and regulations related to zoning, 
land use and environmental matters. Despite our compliance efforts, we have an inherent risk of liability in the operation of 
our business. These potential liabilities could have an adverse impact on our operations and profitability. In addition, our 
operations require numerous governmental approvals and permits, which often require us to make significant capital and 
operating expenditures to comply with the applicable requirements. Stricter laws and regulations, or more stringent 
interpretations of existing laws or regulations, may impose new liabilities, taxes or tariffs on us, reduce operating hours, 
require additional investment by us in pollution control equipment, create restrictions on our products or impede our access 
to reserves or opening new or expanding existing plants or facilities. 

Our business is dependent on the timing and amount of federal, state and local funding for infrastructure — Our 
products are used in a variety of public infrastructure projects that are funded and financed by federal, state and local 
governments. In 2018, voters in local jurisdictions in California, Florida, Georgia, North Carolina and Texas, among others, 
approved bond and revenue-raising measures to provide additional resources for transportation projects. In 2017, three 
state legislatures in Vulcan-served areas — California, South Carolina and Tennessee — passed new long-term highway 
funding legislation. In 2016, three states saw one-time revenue increases for transportation, and numerous ballot measures 
were passed to increase investment in several Vulcan-served areas including northern and southern California, Georgia, 
North Carolina and South Carolina. The federal FAST Act, a five year, fully-funded road, bridge and public transportation 
authorization law, is providing assistance to state DOTs and metro areas. However, given varying state and local budgetary 
situations and the associated pressure on infrastructure spending, we cannot be entirely assured of the existence, amount 
and timing of appropriations for future public infrastructure projects. 

Climate change and climate change legislation or regulations may adversely impact our business — A number of 
governmental bodies have introduced or are contemplating legislative and regulatory change in response to the potential 
impacts of climate change. Such legislation or regulation, if enacted, potentially could include provisions for a “cap and 
trade” system of allowances and credits or a carbon tax, among other provisions.  

Other potential impacts of climate change include physical impacts, such as disruption in production and product distribution 
due to impacts from major storm events, shifts in regional weather patterns and intensities, and potential impacts from sea 
level changes. There is also a potential for climate change legislation and regulation to adversely impact the cost of 
purchased energy and electricity.  

The impacts of climate change on our operations and the company overall are highly uncertain and difficult to estimate. 
However, climate change legislation and regulation concerning greenhouse gases could have a material adverse effect on 
our future financial position, results of operations or cash flows. 
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We are subject to various risks arising from our international business operations and relationships, which could 
adversely affect our business — We have international operations and are subject to both the risks of conducting 
international business and the requirements of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 (the FCPA). We face political and 
other risks associated with our international operations, including our largest production facility located in Playa del Carmen, 
Mexico. These risks may include changes in international trade policies, such as the North American Free Trade Agreement, 
imposition of duties, taxes or government royalties, arbitrary changes to permits, zoning classifications or operating 
agreements, or overt acts by foreign governments, including expropriations and other forms of takings of property. In 
addition, failure to comply with the FCPA may result in legal claims against us.  

GROWTH AND COMPETITIVE RISKS 
Within our local markets, we operate in a highly competitive industry which may negatively impact prices, volumes 
and costs — The construction aggregates industry is highly fragmented with a large number of independent local producers 
in a number of our markets. Additionally, in most markets, we also compete against large private and public companies, 
some of which are significantly vertically integrated. Therefore, there is intense competition in a number of markets in which 
we operate. This significant competition could lead to lower prices and lower sales volumes in some markets, negatively 
affecting our earnings and cash flows. 

The expanded use of aggregates substitutes could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations — Recycled concrete and asphalt are increasingly being used in a number of our 
markets, particularly urban markets, as a substitute for aggregates. The expanded use of recycled concrete and asphalt 
could cause a significant reduction in the demand for aggregates. 

Our long-term success depends upon securing and permitting aggregates reserves in strategically located areas. If 
we are unable to secure and permit such reserves it could negatively affect our future earnings — Construction 
aggregates are bulky and heavy and, therefore, difficult to transport efficiently. Because of the nature of the products, the 
freight costs can quickly surpass the production costs. Therefore, except for geographic regions that do not possess 
commercially viable deposits of aggregates and are served by rail, barge or ship, the markets for our products tend to be 
localized around our quarry sites and are served by truck. New quarry sites often take years to develop; therefore, our 
strategic planning and new site development must stay ahead of actual growth. Additionally, in a number of urban and 
suburban areas in which we operate, it is increasingly difficult to permit new sites or expand existing sites due to community 
resistance. Therefore, our future success is dependent, in part, on our ability to accurately forecast future areas of high 
growth in order to locate optimal facility sites and on our ability to secure operating and environmental permits to operate at 
those sites. 

Our future growth depends in part on acquiring other businesses in our industry and successfully integrating them 
with our existing operations. If we are unable to integrate acquisitions successfully, it could lead to higher costs 
and could negatively affect our earnings — The expansion of our business is dependent in part on the acquisition of 
existing businesses that own or control aggregates reserves. Disruptions in the availability of financing could make it more 
difficult to capitalize on potential acquisitions. Additionally, with regard to the acquisitions we are able to complete, our future 
results will depend in part on our ability to successfully integrate these businesses with our existing operations. 

FINANCIAL/ACCOUNTING RISKS 
Our industry is capital intensive, resulting in significant fixed and semi-fixed costs. Therefore, our earnings are 
highly sensitive to changes in product shipments — Due to the high levels of fixed capital required for extracting and 
producing construction aggregates, our profits are negatively affected by significant decreases in shipments. 

Significant downturn in the construction industry may result in an impairment of our goodwill — We test goodwill for 
impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if events or circumstances change in a manner that would more likely 
than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value. While we have not identified any events or changes 
in circumstances since our annual impairment test on November 1, 2018 that indicate the fair value of any of our reporting 
units is below its carrying value, a significant downturn in the construction industry may have a material effect on the fair 
value of our reporting units. A significant decrease in the estimated fair value of one or more of our reporting units could 
result in the recognition of a material, noncash write-down of goodwill. 
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A deterioration in our credit ratings and/or the state of the capital markets could negatively impact our business — 
We currently have $2.8 billion of debt with maturities between 2019 and 2048. Given our current credit metrics and ratings, 
together with other factors, we expect to refinance our nearer term debt maturities rather than repay them when due. 
Furthermore, we expect to finance acquisitions with a combination of cash flows from existing operations, additional debt 
and/or additional equity. The mix of financing sources for acquisitions will be situationally dependent. 

A deterioration in our credit ratings, regardless of the cause, could limit our debt financing options and increase the cost of 
such debt financing (whether for refinancing existing debt or financing acquisitions). While we do not anticipate a credit 
ratings downgrade, and plan to manage our capital structure consistent with investment-grade credit metrics, we cannot 
assure our current credit ratings. 

A deterioration in the state of the capital markets, regardless of our credit rating, could impact our access to, and cost of, 
new debt or equity capital. 

We use estimates in accounting for a number of significant items. Changes in our estimates could adversely affect 
our future financial results — As discussed more fully in “Critical Accounting Policies” under Item 7 “Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” we use significant judgment in accounting for: 

 goodwill impairment 

 impairment of long-lived assets excluding goodwill 

 business combinations and purchase price allocation 

 pension and other postretirement benefits 

 environmental compliance costs 

 claims and litigation including self-insurance 

 income taxes 

These assumptions and estimates could change significantly in the future and could adversely affect our financial position, 
results of operations, or cash flows. 

PERSONNEL RISKS 
Our future success greatly depends upon attracting and retaining qualified personnel, particularly in sales and 
operations — A significant factor in our future profitability is our ability to attract, develop and retain qualified personnel. Our 
success in attracting qualified personnel, particularly in the areas of sales and operations, is affected by changing 
demographics of the available pool of workers with the training and skills necessary to fill the available positions, the impact 
on the labor supply due to general economic conditions, and our ability to offer competitive compensation and benefit 
packages. 

Disputes with organized labor could disrupt our business operations — Labor unions represent approximately 11% of 
our workforce. Disputes with our trade unions, or the inability to renew our labor agreements, may lead to strikes or other 
actions that could disrupt our business operations leading to higher costs and/or reduced revenues resulting in lower 
earnings. 

OTHER RISKS 
A significant interruption of our information technology systems or the loss of confidential or other sensitive data 
could have a material adverse impact on our operations and financial results — Given our reliance on information 
technology (our own and our third-party providers’), a significant interruption in the availability of information technology, 
regardless of the cause, could negatively impact our operations. Additionally, the loss of confidential, personal, or proprietary 
information (whether our own, our employees’, our suppliers’, or our customers’), regardless of the cause, could result in a 
business interruption, reputational damage, lost revenue, litigation, penalties or higher costs. While we have, and 
periodically test, information technology and data protection policies and procedures, there can be no assurance that our 
efforts will prevent breakdowns or breaches that could adversely affect our business. Management is not aware of a 
cybersecurity incident that has had a material adverse impact on our operations. 
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Weather can materially affect our operating results — Almost all of our products are consumed outdoors in the public or 
private construction industry, and our production and distribution facilities are located outdoors. Inclement weather affects both 
our ability to produce and distribute our products and affects our customers’ short-term demand because their work also can be 
hampered by weather.  

Our products are transported by truck, rail, barge or ship, often by third-party providers. Significant delays or 
increased costs affecting these transportation methods could materially affect our operations and earnings — Our 
products are distributed either by truck to local markets or by rail, barge or oceangoing vessel to remote markets. The costs 
of transporting our products could be negatively affected by factors outside of our control, including rail service interruptions 
or rate increases, tariffs, rising fuel costs, truck/railcar/barge shortages and capacity constraints. Additionally, inclement 
weather, including hurricanes, tornadoes and other weather events, can negatively impact our distribution network. 

We use large amounts of electricity, diesel fuel, liquid asphalt and other petroleum-based resources that are 
subject to potential supply constraints and significant price fluctuation, which could affect our operating results 
and profitability — In our production and distribution processes, we consume significant amounts of electricity, diesel fuel, 
liquid asphalt and other petroleum-based resources. The availability and pricing of these resources are subject to market 
forces that are beyond our control. Our suppliers contract separately for the purchase of such resources and our sources of 
supply could be interrupted should our suppliers not be able to obtain these materials due to higher demand or other factors 
that interrupt their availability. Variability in the supply and prices of these resources could materially affect our operating 
results from period to period and rising costs could erode our profitability. 

We are involved in a number of legal proceedings. We cannot predict the outcome of litigation and other 
contingencies with certainty — We are involved in several complex litigation proceedings, some arising from our previous 
ownership and operation of our Chemicals business. Although we divested our Chemicals business in June 2005, we 
retained certain liabilities related to the business. As required by generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), we 
establish reserves when a loss is determined to be probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated. Our assessment 
of probability and loss estimates are based on the facts and circumstances known to us at a particular point in time. 
Subsequent developments in legal proceedings may affect our assessment and estimates of a loss contingency, and could 
result in an adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. For a description of our current 
significant legal proceedings see Note 12 “Commitments and Contingencies” in Item 8 “Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data.” 

Our construction paving business may subject us to contractually imposed penalties or lost profits — As a result of 
recent acquisitions, we operate construction paving businesses in Alabama, Tennessee and Texas. In some instances, 
including many of our fixed price paving contracts, we agree to complete a project by a certain date. If we fail to complete 
the project as scheduled, we may be held responsible for costs resulting from the delay. Consequently, the total project cost 
could exceed our original estimate and we could experience reduced profits or even a loss on the project. 

We are involved in certain environmental matters. We cannot predict the outcome of these contingencies with 
certainty — We are involved in environmental investigations and cleanups at sites where we operate or have operated in 
the past or sent materials for recycling or disposal. As required by generally accepted accounting principles, we establish 
reserves when a loss is determined to be probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated. Our assessment of 
probability and loss estimates are based on the facts and circumstances known to us at a particular point in time. 
Subsequent developments related to these matters may affect our assessment and estimates of loss contingency, and could 
result in an adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. For a description of our current 
significant environmental matters see Note 12 “Commitments and Contingencies” in Item 8 “Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data.” 

  
  

ITEM 1B 
UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS 

 

We have not received any written comments from the Securities and Exchange Commission staff regarding our periodic or 
current reports under the Exchange Act of 1934 that remain unresolved. 
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ITEM 2 

PROPERTIES 

AGGREGATES 
As the largest U.S. supplier of construction aggregates, we have operating facilities across the U.S. and in Mexico and the 
Bahamas. We principally serve markets in 20 states, Washington D.C. and the local markets surrounding our operations in 
Mexico and the Bahamas. Our primary focus is serving states and metropolitan markets in the U.S. that are expected to 
experience the most significant growth in population, households and employment. These three demographic factors are 
significant drivers of demand for aggregates. 

 

 

Our current estimate of 16.3 billion tons of proven and probable aggregates reserves reflects an increase of 0.3 billion tons 
from the prior year’s estimate. Estimates of reserves are of recoverable stone, sand and gravel of suitable quality for 
economic extraction, based on drilling and studies by our geologists and engineers, recognizing reasonable economic and 
operating constraints as to maximum depth of overburden and stone excavation, and subject to permit or other restrictions. 

Proven, or measured, reserves are those reserves for which the quantity is computed from dimensions revealed by drill 
data, together with other direct and measurable observations, such as outcrops, trenches and quarry faces. The grade and 
quality of those reserves are computed from the results of detailed sampling, and the sampling and measurement data are 
spaced so closely and the geologic character is so well defined that size, shape, depth and mineral content of reserves are 
well established. Probable, or indicated, reserves are those reserves for which quantity, grade and quality are computed 
partly from specific measurements and partly from projections based on reasonable, though not drilled, geologic evidence. 
The degree of assurance, although lower than that for proven reserves, is high enough to assume continuity between points of 
observation. 

Vulcan’s limestone quarry on
Mexico’s Yucatán Peninsula
serves aggregates markets in
all of the Gulf Coast states.

Vulcan’s 351 Active Aggregates Facilities as of December 31, 2018

Region of U.S. with little or no indigenous stone deposits
Vulcan’s 20 Served States (plus D.C.)
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Reported proven and probable reserves include only quantities that are owned in fee or under lease, and for which all 
appropriate zoning and permitting have been obtained through permit, contract or grandfathered status. Leases, zoning, 
permits, reclamation plans and other government or industry regulations often set limits on the areas, depths and lengths of 
time allowed for mining, stipulate setbacks and slopes that must be left in place, and designate which areas may be used for 
surface facilities, berms, and overburden or waste storage, among other requirements and restrictions. Our reserve 
estimates take into account these factors. Technical and economic factors also affect the estimates of reported reserves 
regardless of what might otherwise be considered proven or probable based on a geologic analysis. For example, excessive 
overburden or weathered rock, rock quality issues, excessive mining depths, groundwater issues, overlying wetlands, 
endangered species habitats, and rights of way or easements may effectively limit the quantity of reserves considered 
proven and probable. In addition, computations for reserves in-place are adjusted for estimates of unsaleable sizes and 
materials as well as pit and plant waste. 

The 16.3 billion tons of estimated proven and probable aggregates reserves reported at the end of 2018 include reserves at 
inactive and greenfield (undeveloped) sites. The table below presents, by division, the tons of proven and probable 
aggregates reserves as of December 31, 2018 and the types of facilities operated. 
 

                    

   (millions of tons)  Count of Aggregates Operating Facilities 2 
 Aggregates Reserves   2018      Sand and  
Division 1 Proven   Probable   Total   Production   Stone   Gravel Sales Yards 

Central  2,875.6     859.9    3,735.5     38.3     53     5   9  
International  554.2     0.0    554.2     12.7     1     0   0  
Mideast  2,519.9     988.8    3,508.7     35.4     34     5   22  
Mountain West  177.0     125.8    302.8     9.4     2     12   2  
Southeast 3  3,067.1     882.5    3,949.6     49.8     43     11   22  
Southern Gulf Coast  1,326.8     45.4    1,372.2     16.3     22     0   19  
Southwest  1,322.4     0.0    1,322.4     22.5     15     1   23  
Western  1,033.6     504.1    1,537.7     22.2     5     13   2  
Total  12,876.6     3,406.5    16,283.1     206.6     175     47   99  
 

1 The divisions are defined by states/countries as follows: 
Central Division — Arkansas, Illinois, Kentucky and Tennessee 
International Division — Mexico 
Mideast Division — Delaware, Maryland, North Carolina, Pennsylvania, Virginia and Washington D.C. 
Mountain West Division — Arizona and New Mexico 
Southeast Division — Florida (excluding panhandle), Georgia, South Carolina and the Bahamas 
Southern Gulf Coast Division — Alabama, Florida Panhandle, Louisiana and Mississippi 
Southwest Division — Oklahoma and Texas 
Western Division — California 

2 In addition to the facilities included in the table above, we operated 30 recycled concrete plants which are not dependent on 
reserves. 

3 Includes a maximum of 340.1 million tons of reserves encumbered by volumetric production payments as defined in Note 2 
“Revenues” in Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.” 

 
Of the 16.3 billion tons of aggregates reserves at December 31, 2018, 9.0 billion tons or 55% are located on owned land and 
7.3 billion tons or 45% are located on leased land. 



 

Part I 23 
 

The following table lists our ten largest active aggregates facilities based on the total proven and probable reserves at the 
sites. None of our aggregates facilities, other than Playa del Carmen, contributed more than 5% to our total revenues in 
2018. 

           

(millions of tons)          
      Reserves at 12/31/2018   2018 

Location (nearest major metropolitan area)  Proven   Probable   Total  Production 

Playa del Carmen (Cancun), Mexico   554.2     0.0     554.2     12.7  
Hanover (Harrisburg), Pennsylvania   226.3     236.4     462.7     2.7  
McCook (Chicago), Illinois   105.8     266.5     372.3     5.0  
Corona (Los Angeles), California   12.5     321.8     334.3     2.2  
Gold Hill (Charlotte), North Carolina   148.6     121.2     269.8     1.0  
Postell (Macon), Georgia   195.3     72.3     267.6     3.8  
San Emidio (Bakersfield), California   250.0     0.0     250.0     1.4  
Macon, Georgia   119.2     128.0     247.2     1.8  
Norcross (Atlanta), Georgia   186.9     27.7     214.6     2.8  
1604 Stone (San Antonio), Texas   208.1     0.0     208.1     1.4  
 

ASPHALT, CONCRETE AND CALCIUM 
As of December 31, 2018, we operated a number of facilities producing asphalt mix, ready-mixed concrete and calcium in 
several of our divisions as reflected in the table below: 
 
                       

               Asphalt 2   Concrete 3 Calcium 4 
Division 1  Facilities   Facilities Facilities 

Central   10     0   0  

Mideast   0     31   0  
Mountain West   21     2   0  
Southeast   0     1   1  
Southern Gulf Coast   3     0   0  
Southwest   13     7   0  
Western   20     5   0  
Total             67     46   1  
 

  

1 International Division has no asphalt, concrete or calcium facilities. 
2 Asphalt facilities for the Central, Southern Gulf Coast and Southwest Divisions are comprised of asphalt mix facilities and 

construction paving businesses. 
3 Southeast Division Concrete is comprised of a ready-mixed concrete plant in the Bahamas. 
4 Comprised of a ground calcium plant. 

 
The asphalt and concrete facilities are able to meet their needs for raw material inputs with a combination of internally 
sourced and purchased raw materials. 
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Our Calcium segment operates a quarry at Brooksville, Florida which provides feedstock for the ground calcium operation. 
 

                    

(millions of tons)         
          Reserves at 12/31/2018  2018 
Location  Proven   Probable   Total Production 

Brooksville   5.0     7.2     12.2     0.3  
 
Our Brooksville limestone quarry is mined and processed primarily as a supplement for end-use products, such as animal 
feed and plastics. High purity limestone is inert and relatively inexpensive compared to the other components used in these 
end-use products. The Brooksville limestone quarry has an average calcium carbonate (CaCO3) content of 97%. 

HEADQUARTERS 
Our headquarters are located in an office complex in Birmingham, Alabama. The office space consists of approximately 
184,410 square feet and is leased through December 31, 2023, with three five-year renewal periods thereafter. The annual 
rental cost for the current term of the lease is approximately $3.6 million. 

 

ITEM 3 
LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

 
We are subject to occasional governmental proceedings and orders pertaining to occupational safety and health or to 
protection of the environment, such as proceedings or orders relating to noise abatement, air emissions or water discharges. 
As part of our continuing program of stewardship in safety, health and environmental matters, we have been able to resolve 
such proceedings and to comply with such orders without any material adverse effects on our business. 

We are a defendant in various lawsuits in the ordinary course of business. It is not possible to determine with precision the 
outcome of, or the amount of liability, if any, under these lawsuits, especially where the cases involve possible jury trials with 
as yet undetermined jury panels. 

We were not subject to any penalties in 2018 for failure to disclose transactions identified by the Internal Revenue Service 
as abusive under Internal Revenue Code Section 6707A. 

See Note 12 “Commitments and Contingencies” in Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” for a discussion 
of our material legal proceedings. 

 

ITEM 4 
MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES 

 
The information concerning mine safety violations or other regulatory matters required by Section 1503(a) of the Dodd-Frank 
Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and Item 104 of Regulation S-K is included in Exhibit 95 of this report. 
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT 
The names, positions and ages, as of February 20, 2019, of our executive officers are as follows: 

Name Position Age  

J. Thomas Hill Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer 59   

Suzanne H. Wood Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 58   

Stanley G. Bass Chief Growth Officer 57   

Michael R. Mills Chief Administrative Officer 58   

Thompson S. Baker II Senior Vice President 60   

Jerry F. Perkins Jr. General Counsel and Secretary 49   

Randy L. Pigg Vice President, Controller and Principal Accounting Officer 46   

David P. Clement 1 President, Central Division 58   

C. Brockway Lodge, Jr. 1 President, Western Division 46  
 

1 These Division Presidents are designated as Executive Officers as a result of their significant policy-making function and direct 
reporting relationship to J. Thomas Hill. 

 

The principal occupations of the executive officers during the past five years are set forth below: 

J. Thomas Hill was elected Chairman of the Board of Directors effective January 1, 2016. He was elected President and 
Chief Executive Officer in July 2014. Prior to that, he served as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer 
(January 2014 – July 2014), Senior Vice President – South Region (December 2011 – December 2013). Prior to that, he 
served in a number of positions with Vulcan including President, Florida Rock Division (September 2010 – December 2011). 

Suzanne H. Wood was elected Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer effective September 2018. From 2012 to 2018, 
she served as Group Finance Director and Chief Financial Officer of Ashtead Group plc, a FTSE 50 international equipment 
rental company serving the construction industry and other markets. Prior to that, she was Executive Vice President and 
Chief Financial Officer of Sunbelt Rentals, Inc., the North American subsidiary of Ashtead Group plc. A certified public 
accountant, she also previously held Chief Financial Officer positions at Tultex Corporation and Oakwood Homes 
Corporation. She currently serves on the board of directors and audit committee of RELX Group, a FTSE 50 global 
professional information and analytics company. 

Stanley G. Bass was elected Chief Growth Officer in February 2016. He served as Senior Vice President – Western and 
Mountain West Divisions from January 2015 to February 2016. He served as Senior Vice President – West Region from 
September 2013 to December 2014. Prior to that, he served as Senior Vice President – Central and West Regions 
(February 2013 – September 2013), Senior Vice President – Central Region (December 2011 – February 2013). Prior to 
that, he served in a number of positions with Vulcan including President, Midsouth and Southwest Divisions (September 
2010 – December 2011). 

Michael R. Mills was elected Chief Administrative Officer in February 2016. He served as Senior Vice President and General 
Counsel from November 2012 to February 2016; and as Senior Vice President – East Region from December 2011 to 
October 2012. Prior to that, he was President, Southeast Division. 

Thompson S. Baker II was elected Senior Vice President in March 2017. He served in a number of positions with Vulcan, 
including President – Florida Rock Division, prior to serving as Chief Executive Officer of FRP Holdings, Inc. from October 
2010 to March 2017 and President and Chief Executive Officer of Patriot Transportation Holding, Inc. from December 2014 
to March 2017. 
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Jerry F. Perkins Jr. was elected General Counsel and Secretary in February 2016. He served as Assistant General Counsel 
and Secretary since 2011. 

Randy L. Pigg was elected Vice President, Controller and Principal Accounting Officer in April 2018. He served as Vice 
President, Accounting since June 2016, and prior to that served as Director, Financial Shared Services since April 2014. 
Prior to that, he served in a number of positions with Vulcan, including Manager Financial Research & Reporting and 
Finance Director – Central Region. 

David P. Clement was named President, Central Division effective January 1, 2015. He served as Senior Vice President – 
Central Region from September 2013 through December 2014. During the five years prior to such role, he served in a 
number of positions with Vulcan including Vice President and General Manager, Midwest Division and Vice President of 
Operations, Midwest Division. 

C. Brockway (Brock) Lodge, Jr. was named President, Western Division in February 2016. He served as Vice President and 
General Manager, Western Division from April 2015 to February 2016. Before that, he was Senior Area General Manager – 
Central Division (June 2013 – March 2015) and Director of Sales and Marketing – Midsouth Division (April 2010 – May 
2013). 
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PART II 
ITEM 5 

MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 
 AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES 

 
Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange (ticker symbol VMC). As of February 12, 2019, the number of 
shareholders of record was 2,601. 

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES 
Purchases of our equity securities during the quarter ended December 31, 2018 are summarized below. 

          

     Total Number    Maximum   
     of Shares    Number of   

 Total      Purchased as    Shares that May   
 Number of   Average    Part of Publicly    Yet Be Purchased   
 Shares   Price Paid   Announced Plans    Under the Plans   
Period Purchased   Per Share    or Programs    or Programs 1   

2018           
Oct 1 - Oct 31  0    $          0.00     0     8,623,227   
Nov 1 - Nov 30  325,438    $      104.68     325,438     8,297,789   
Dec 1 - Dec 31  0    $          0.00     0     8,297,789   
Total  325,438    $      104.68     325,438       

1 On February 10, 2017, our Board of Directors authorized us to purchase up to 8,243,243 shares of our common stock to refresh 
the number of shares we were authorized to purchase to 10,000,000. As of December 31, 2018, there were 8,297,789 shares 
remaining under this authorization. Depending upon market, business, legal and other conditions, we may purchase shares 
from time to time through the open market (including plans designed to comply with Rule 10b5-1 of the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934) and/or through privately negotiated transactions. The authorization has no time limit, does not obligate us to purchase 
any specific number of shares, and may be suspended or discontinued at any time. 

 
We did not have any unregistered sales of equity securities during the fourth quarter of 2018.  
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ITEM 6 
SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 

 
The selected earnings data, per share data and balance sheet data for each of the five most recent years ended December 
31 set forth below have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements. The following data should be read 
in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and notes to consolidated financial statements in Item 8 “Financial 
Statements and Supplementary Data.” 
 

               

    2018   2017   2016   2015  2014 
As of and for the years ended December 31               
in millions, except per share data             

Total revenues $  4,382.9   $  3,890.3   $  3,592.7   $  3,422.2   $  2,994.2  
Gross profit 1 $  1,100.9   $  993.5   $  988.9   $  857.5   $  587.6  
Gross profit margin  25.1%   25.5%   27.5%   25.1%  19.6% 
Earnings from continuing operations 2 $  517.8   $  593.4   $  422.4   $  232.9   $  207.1  
Earnings (loss) on discontinued operations,                
  net of tax 3 $  (2.0)  $  7.8   $  (2.9)  $  (11.7)  $  (2.2) 
Net earnings $  515.8   $  601.2   $  419.5   $  221.2   $  204.9  
Basic earnings (loss) per share               
  Continuing operations $  3.91   $  4.48   $  3.17   $  1.75   $  1.58  
  Discontinued operations   (0.01)    0.06     (0.02)    (0.09)   (0.02) 
Basic net earnings (loss) per share $  3.90   $  4.54   $  3.15   $  1.66   $  1.56  

Diluted earnings (loss) per share               
  Continuing operations $  3.87   $  4.40   $  3.11   $  1.72   $  1.56  
  Discontinued operations   (0.02)    0.06     (0.02)    (0.08)   (0.02) 
Diluted net earnings (loss) per share $  3.85   $  4.46   $  3.09   $  1.64   $  1.54  

Cash and cash equivalents $  40.0   $  141.6   $  259.0   $  284.1   $  141.3  
Total assets $  9,832.1   $  9,504.9   $  8,471.5   $  8,301.6   $  8,041.1  
Working capital $  476.6   $  737.2   $  764.9   $  731.1   $  468.6  
Current maturities and short-term debt $  133.0   $  41.4   $  0.1   $  0.1   $  150.1  
Long-term debt $  2,779.4   $  2,813.5   $  1,982.8   $  1,980.3   $  1,834.6  
Equity $  5,202.9   $  4,968.9   $  4,572.5   $  4,454.2   $  4,176.7  
Cash dividends declared per share $  1.12   $  1.00   $  0.80   $  0.40   $  0.22   

1 As a result of our first quarter 2018 adoption of ASU 2017-07 (see Note 1 “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” in Item 8 
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” under the caption New Accounting Standards), gross profit was reduced by $7.0 
million and $11.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. We have not revised years prior to 2016 
as the impact is deemed as immaterial. 

2 Earnings from continuing operations for 2017 include pretax interest charges of $153.1 million referable to debt purchases and 
$297.0 million of discrete net tax benefits. Earnings from continuing operations for 2014 include a pretax gain of $211.4 million 
referable to the sale of our Florida cement and concrete businesses. 

3 Discontinued operations include the results attributable to our former Chemicals business. 
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 ITEM 7 
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
FINANCIAL SUMMARY FOR 2018 (compared to 2017) 
 Total revenues increased $492.6 million, or 13%, to $4,382.9 million 
 Gross profit increased $107.4 million, or 11%, to $1,100.9 million 
 Aggregates segment sales increased $417.6 million, or 13%, to $3,513.6 million 
 Aggregates segment freight-adjusted revenues increased $274.6 million, or 11%, to $2,667.3 million 

 Shipments increased 10%, or 18.2 million tons, to 201.4 million tons 
 Same-store shipments increased 6%, or 10.7 million tons, to 193.8 million tons 

 Freight-adjusted sales price increased 1%, or $0.19 per ton 
 Same-store freight-adjusted sales price increased 2%, or $0.21 per ton 

 Segment gross profit increased $137.3 million, or 16%, to $991.9 million 
 Asphalt, Concrete and Calcium segment gross profit decreased $29.9 million, or 22%, to $109.1 million, collectively 
 Selling, administrative and general (SAG) expenses increased 3% to $333.4 million and decreased 0.75 percentage 

points (75 basis points) as a percentage of total revenues 
 Operating earnings increased $108.7 million, or 17%, to $747.7 million 
 Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes were $623.3 million compared to $361.3 million 
 Effective tax rate was 16.9% compared with negative 64.2% 
 Earnings from continuing operations were $517.8 million, or $3.87 per diluted share, compared to $593.4 million, or $4.40 

per diluted share 
 Discrete items in 2018 include: 

 $0.6 million of tax expense related to the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (TCJA) 
 pretax interest charges of $7.4 million related to the January and March early debt retirements 
 pretax gains of $2.9 million for the sale of businesses 
 pretax charges of $18.5 million for divested operations 
 pretax gains of $2.3 million for business interruption claims 
 pretax charges of $5.2 million associated with non-routine business development 
 pretax charges of $6.2 million for restructuring 

 Discrete items in 2017 include: 
 $297.0 million of net tax benefits (including $268.2 million related to TCJA and a $28.8 million partial release of a net 

operating loss (NOL) carryforward valuation allowance) 
 pretax interest charges of $153.1 million related to debt purchases 
 pretax gains of $10.5 million for the sale of real estate and businesses 
 pretax charges of $4.3 million for property donation 
 pretax charges of $18.1 million for divested operations 
 pretax charges of $6.7 million for one-time employee bonuses 
 pretax charges of $3.1 million associated with non-routine business development, net of an asset purchase 

agreement termination fee 
 pretax charges of $1.9 million for restructuring 

 Net earnings were $515.8 million, a decrease of $85.4 million, or 14% 
 Adjusted EBITDA was $1,131.7 million, an increase of $149.8 million, or 15% 
 Returned capital to shareholders via dividends ($148.1 million versus $132.3 million) and share repurchases ($134.0 

million versus $60.3 million) 
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In 2018, we executed on our goals through a commitment to our shareholders, customers, employees and the communities 
we serve. We delivered growth and enhanced profitability in the face of several severe weather events that disrupted 
operations in some states for weeks at a time. With a clear and compelling strategy, a lean and locally-led operational 
structure, and unparalleled positions in attractive long-term growth markets, we are especially well-situated to benefit as 
infrastructure demand in key Vulcan states continues to grow, fueled by marked increases in state and local funding and we 
are well-equipped to overcome market challenges.  

Even though the year provided plenty of headwinds for the construction industry, including weather disruptions and a 25% 
increase in the cost of diesel fuel during the year, we delivered strong top and bottom line growth. For the year, we 
increased total revenues, gross profit and earnings from continuing operations before income taxes, and adjusted earnings 
before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization (Adjusted EBITDA). Our 2018 net earnings were down compared to 
2017 because of the one-time impact of TCJA on our 2017 income tax provision (-64.2% effective tax rate). 

Our capital allocation and investment-grade rating priorities remain unchanged. For the full year, capital expenditures were 
$469.1 million. This amount included $221.7 million of core operating and maintenance capital investments to improve or 
replace existing property, plant & equipment. In addition, we invested $247.4 million in internal growth projects to secure 
new aggregates reserves, develop new production sites, enhance our distribution capabilities and support the targeted 
growth of our asphalt and concrete operations. 

At year end, total debt was $2,912.4 million, or 2.6 times 2018 Adjusted EBITDA. Throughout 2017 and during the first 
quarter of 2018, we completed a number of debt refinancing activities (see Note 6 “Debt” in Item 8 “Financial Statements 
and Supplementary Data”) in order to extend the maturity of our debt portfolio consistent with the long-lived nature of our 
asset base. As a result of these actions, the weighted-average term of our debt portfolio has more than doubled to 
approximately 15 years. 

As the leading aggregates producer in the U.S., serving many of the most attractive markets, we are well positioned for 
continued top line growth, particularly as federal, state and local governments increase spending on public infrastructure 
construction, while demand from private sector projects remains stable. In addition, our keen focus on operational 
excellence, cost control and disciplined investment should enable us to continue to enhance profitability and drive 
sustainable, long-term shareholder value. 

Additionally, we advanced our world-class safety performance, improving on our record-setting results from the previous 
year. 

2018 ACQUISITIONS 
We continue to pursue opportunities for value-creating acquisitions, swaps and greenfield investments. We remain active in 
the pursuit of bolt-on acquisitions and other value-creating growth investments. We closed four business acquisitions during 
2018 for total consideration of $219.9 million (see Note 19 “Acquisitions and Divestitures” in Item 8 “Financial Statements 
and Supplementary Data”). These acquisitions complement our existing positions in our Alabama, California and Texas 
markets. 

We will continue to make disciplined investments in organic and acquisition-led growth, while continuing to emphasize 
capital returns and cost control. We are completely focused on actions that improve returns to our shareholders. We seek 
continuous, compounding improvement, generating big results through small actions. Our capital allocation priorities remain 
unchanged: 

 deploying operating capital to sustain our franchise 

 maintaining the financial strength and flexibility needed through the cycle 

 strategic growth through mergers and acquisitions and internal development 

 returning excess cash to shareholders through a healthy mix of sustainable dividend growth and stock repurchases 

For a detailed discussion of our acquisitions and divestitures, see Note 19 “Acquisitions and Divestitures” in Item 8 
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.” 
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MARKET DEVELOPMENTS AND OUTLOOK  
Our aggregates-focused business is well positioned in 2019 for further gains in our industry-leading unit profitability in 
aggregates and double-digit earnings growth. Vulcan-served markets are benefitting disproportionally from both strong 
growth in public construction demand and continued growth in private demand.  

Public funding for transportation infrastructure has changed significantly over the last three years. State transportation 
funding legislation and local ballot measures are bringing about important increases in public spending for much needed 
projects and are finally beginning to generate new highway construction and the repair and maintenance work necessary to 
address the country’s failing infrastructure — all projects that depend upon aggregates as the fundamental building block.  

Nine of our key states that generate almost 80% of our revenue have passed legislation over the last three years that raises 
their transportation infrastructure funding by almost 60% over 2015 levels. These nine key states — California, Florida, 
Georgia, Maryland, North Carolina, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas and Virginia — have all addressed their 
transportation infrastructure needs and boosted their economies.  

Altogether, state laws and local initiatives to increase transportation infrastructure funding have added more than $20 billion 
annually in just these nine Vulcan states. To put that in perspective, that’s nearly half as much as the federal transportation 
law, the FAST Act, provides on an annual basis to all 50 states. We expect more Vulcan-served states to follow suit in 2019 
and following years. In last November’s elections, 352 state and local transportation funding initiatives appeared on ballots  in 
31 states, and 79% of them were approved by voters. 

We are excited about accelerating public sector growth. At the same time, demand from private sector projects has 
continued to be stable in our markets, providing a solid base for overall growth. In fact, private construction activity continues 
to improve in several of our important markets, particularly housing and nonresidential construction in the South and West. 

Overall, we see significant room for growth, with demand for aggregates still below historical averages, and well below past 
peaks in demand, even as population and economic activity continue to increase in our key markets. We believe that we are 
in the middle stages of the market upturn that began five and a half years ago and see significant upside in revenues and 
profitability. 

Management Expectations for 2019 — We expect solid growth in private demand and strong growth in public demand. 
Above-average demand growth in Vulcan markets compared to the rest of the U.S. further supports our positive outlook for 
aggregates shipment growth. The underlying direction of aggregates unit profitability remains clear, strongly supported by 
our strategic and tactical focus on compounding pricing improvements. We expect double-digit earnings growth in 2019. 

Management expectations for 2019 include: 

 Aggregates shipments growth of 3% to 5% 

 Aggregates freight-adjusted price increase of 5% to 7% 

 Collective Asphalt, Concrete and Calcium segment gross profit growth of 15% to 20% 

 SAG expenses of approximately $355 million 

 Net earnings of $610 million to $670 million 

 Adjusted EBITDA of $1.25 billion to $1.33 billion 

 Interest expense of approximately $130 million 

 Depreciation, depletion, accretion and amortization expense of approximately $360 million 

 An effective tax rate of approximately 20% 

 Earnings from continuing operations of $4.55 to $5.05 per diluted share 

Additionally, we expect to spend approximately $250 million on maintenance capital and $200 million for internal growth 
projects that are largely underway. 
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COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGES 

AGGREGATES FOOTPRINT 
Over time, we have strategically and systematically built one of the most valuable aggregates franchises in the U.S., with a 
footprint that is impossible to replicate. Zoning and permitting regulations have made it increasingly difficult to expand 
existing quarries or to develop new quarries. Such regulations, while curtailing expansion, also increase the value of our 
reserves that were zoned and permitted decades ago. 
Demand for aggregates correlates positively with changes in population growth, household formation and employment. We 
have a coast-to-coast footprint that serves 19 of the top 25 highest-growth metropolitan areas and states where 80% of U.S. 
population growth from 2020 to 2030 is projected to occur. As state and federal spending increases, Vulcan is poised to 
benefit greatly from growing private and public demand for aggregates, thereby delivering significant long-term value for our 
shareholders. 

 

  

Vulcan’s limestone quarry on
Mexico’s Yucatán Peninsula
serves aggregates markets in
all of the Gulf Coast states.

Vulcan’s 351 Active Aggregates Facilities as of December 31, 2018

Region of U.S. with little or no indigenous stone deposits
Vulcan’s 20 Served States (plus D.C.)
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OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE 
We have continued to deliver strong financial performance over time and through business cycles. Through our aggregates-
led strategy with a focus on continuous operational improvement; disciplined investment in organic and acquisition-led 
growth; and an ongoing emphasis on capital returns and controlling costs, we have created one of the most profitable public 
companies in our industry as measured by aggregates gross profit per ton. 

 

 
 
Current economic indicators and market fundamentals point toward continued market growth. We are currently operating at 
well below full capacity making us extremely well positioned to further benefit from economies of scale as this growth 
continues. 
Additionally, we recognize that the aggregates mining in which we engage is an interim use of the approximately 240,000 
acres of land in our portfolio. Our land and water assets will be converted to other valuable uses at the end of mining. 
Effective management throughout the life cycle of our land —  from pre-mining utilization as agriculture and timber 
development, to post-mining development as water reservoirs or residential and commercial development — not only 
generates significant additional value for our shareholders but greatly benefits the communities in which we operate. 

SAFETY, HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE 
A strategy for sustainable, long-term value creation must include doing right by your employees, your neighbors and the 
environment in which you operate. Over our more than six decades as a public company, we have built a strong, resilient 
and vital business on this foundation of doing things the right way. 
We are a leader in our industry in safety, health and environmental performance, with a safety record substantially better 
than the industry average. We apply the shared experiences, expertise and resources at each of our locally led sites, with an 
emphasis on taking care of one another. The result is a record of safety excellence consistently outperforming the industry.  
 

                      
     Source: Mine Safety and Health Administration (MSHA) records and Internal Vulcan Data. 

* The aggregates industry MSHA injury rate for 2018 was not available as of the filing of this report. 
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We focus on our environmental stewardship programs with the same intensity that we bring to our health and safety 
initiatives resulting in 98% citation-free inspections out of all 2018 federal and state environmental inspections. 
We lead community relations programs that serve our neighbors while ensuring that we grow and thrive in the communities 
where we operate. During 2018, we operated 44 certified wildlife habitat sites, the second largest number of sites in the 
nation and third largest globally, as certified by the Wildlife Habitat Council. We conducted tours for more than 26,000 
students and neighbors at our operations, partnered with 238 adopted schools, and provided 141 scholarships to students 
nationwide. 

CUSTOMER SERVICE 
More than an aggregates supplier, we are a business dedicated to customer service and finding creative solutions to meet 
our customers’ needs. Being a valued partner and trusted supplier means that we are providing the right product, with the 
right specifications, that is the right quality, delivered the right way — on time and safely. Our One-Vulcan, Locally Led 
approach, in which our employees work together to leverage the size and strengths of Vulcan as a whole, while running their 
operations with a strong entrepreneurial spirit and sense of ownership, allows us to deliver market-leading services to our 
customers. 
Transportation costs are passed along to our customers, and because aggregates have a very high weight-to-value ratio, 
those costs can add up quickly when transporting aggregates long distances. Having the most extensive distribution network 
of any aggregates producer sets us apart. Combining our trucking, rail, barge and shipping logistics capabilities allows us to 
provide better customer solutions and create a seamless customer experience at a competitive price. 

PRODUCTION FACILITIES

Shipping by Rail

Shipping by Ocean Vessel

DISTRIBUTION FACILITIES

Shipping by Barge

 

C a l i f o r n i a



 

Part II 35 
 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
Total revenues are primarily derived from our product sales of aggregates, asphalt mix and ready-mixed concrete, and 
include freight & delivery costs that we pass along to our customers to deliver these products. We also generate revenues 
from our asphalt construction paving business and services related to our aggregates business. We discuss separately our 
discontinued operations, which consists of our former Chemicals business. 

The following table highlights significant components of our consolidated operating results including EBITDA and Adjusted 
EBITDA. 

CONSOLIDATED OPERATING RESULTS HIGHLIGHTS 
 

        

For the years ended December 31 2018   2017   2016 
in millions, except per share data       

Total revenues $    4,382.9    $    3,890.3    $    3,592.7  
Cost of revenues  3,282.0     2,896.8     2,603.8  
Gross profit $    1,100.9    $       993.5    $       988.9  
Selling, administrative and general expenses $       333.4    $       325.0    $       316.8  
Operating earnings $       747.7    $       639.0    $       665.9  
Interest expense $       138.0    $       295.5    $       134.1  
Earnings from continuing operations         
 before income taxes $       623.3    $       361.3    $       547.3  

Earnings from continuing operations $       517.8    $       593.4    $       422.4  
Earnings (loss) on discontinued operations, net of income taxes  (2.0)    7.8     (2.9) 
Net earnings $       515.8    $       601.2    $       419.5  

Basic earnings (loss) per share         
   Continuing operations $         3.91    $         4.48    $         3.17  
   Discontinued operations  (0.01)    0.06     (0.02) 
Basic net earnings per share $         3.90    $         4.54    $         3.15  

Diluted earnings (loss) per share         
  Continuing operations $         3.87    $         4.40    $         3.11  
  Discontinued operations  (0.02)    0.06     (0.02) 

Diluted net earnings per share $         3.85    $         4.46    $         3.09  
EBITDA  $    1,107.0    $       958.4    $       965.5  
Adjusted EBITDA $    1,131.7    $       981.9    $       966.0  
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Net earnings for 2018 were $515.8 million ($3.85 per diluted share) compared to $601.2 million ($4.46 per diluted share) in 
2017 and $419.5 million ($3.09 per diluted share) in 2016. Each year's results were impacted by discrete items, as follows: 

Net earnings for 2018 include: 

 $0.6 million of tax expense related to TCJA 
 pretax gains of $2.9 million related to the sale of businesses 
 pretax charges of $18.5 million associated with divested operations 
 pretax gains of $2.3 million for business interruption claims 
 pretax charges of $5.2 million associated with non-routine business development 
 pretax charges of $6.2 million for restructuring 
 pretax interest charges of $7.4 million related to early debt retirements (see Note 6 “Debt” in Item 8 “Financial Statements 

and Supplementary Data”) 

Net earnings for 2017 include: 

 $297.0 million of net tax benefits (TCJA — $268.2 million, and partial release of the Alabama NOL carryforward valuation 
allowance — $28.8 million) 

 pretax gains of $10.5 million related to the sale of real estate and businesses 
 pretax charges of $4.3 million for property donation 
 pretax charges of $18.1 million associated with divested operations 
 pretax charges of $6.7 million for one-time employee bonuses 
 pretax charges of $3.1 million associated with non-routine business development, net of an asset purchase agreement 

termination fee 
 pretax charges of $1.9 million for restructuring 
 a pretax loss on debt purchases of $153.1 million presented as a component of interest expense (see Note 6 “Debt” in 

Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”) 

Net earnings for 2016 include: 

 $11.3 million of tax benefits (utilization of foreign tax credits — $6.5 million, and partial release of the Alabama NOL 
carryforward valuation allowance — $4.8 million) 

 pretax gains of $16.2 million related to the sale of real estate 
 pretax gains of $11.0 million for business interruption claims (net of incentives) 
 pretax charges of $16.9 million associated with divested operations 
 pretax losses of $10.5 million from asset impairment 

EARNINGS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE INCOME TAXES 
Year-over-year changes in earnings from continuing operations before income taxes are summarized below: 
 
        

in millions        
 2016 $    547.3    2017 $    361.3  

Higher (lower) aggregates gross profit   (9.3)    137.3 
Lower asphalt gross profit   (5.3)    (34.8)
Higher concrete gross profit   20.2     4.7 
Higher (lower) calcium gross profit   (1.0)    0.2 
Higher selling, administrative and general expenses   (8.2)    (8.4)
Higher (lower) gain on sale of property, plant & equipment and businesses   2.4     (2.9)
Lower (higher) interest expense   (161.4)    157.5 
All other   (23.4)    8.4 

 2017 $    361.3    2018 $    623.3  
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OPERATING RESULTS BY SEGMENT 
We present our results of operations by segment at the gross profit level. We have four operating (and reportable) segments 
organized around our principal product lines: (1) Aggregates, (2) Asphalt, (3) Concrete and (4) Calcium. Management 
reviews earnings for the product line reporting segments principally at the gross profit level. 

1. AGGREGATES 
Our year-over-year aggregates shipments: 

 increased 10% in 2018 1 

 increased 1% in 2017 

 increased 2% in 2016 

1 The fourth quarter 2017 acquisition of Aggregates USA contributed to the 2018 increase. 

 
Aggregates shipments increased 10% (6% same–store) led by double-digit growth in Alabama, Arizona, Florida, Illinois, 
Tennessee and Texas. Most other key markets realized flat-to-modest shipment growth. Conversely, in Virginia, volumes 
declined 9% due mostly to wet weather experienced throughout the first half of the year. 

 

                
 

Our year-over-year freight-adjusted selling price1 for aggregates: 

 increased 1% in 2018 

 increased 3% in 2017 

 increased 7% in 2016 

1 We routinely arrange the delivery of our aggregates to the customer. Additionally, we incur freight costs to move aggregates 
from the production site to remote distribution sites. These costs are passed on to our customers in the aggregates price. We 
remove these pass-through freight & delivery revenues (and any other aggregates-derived revenues, such as landfill tipping 
fees) from the freight-adjusted selling price for aggregates. See the Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures within this 
Item 7 for a reconciliation of freight-adjusted revenues. 
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Throughout 2018, aggregates pricing momentum continued to improve as the year-over-year growth rate in freight-adjusted 
average sales price increased each quarter. For the year, freight-adjusted aggregates pricing increased more than 1%. On a 
mix-adjusted basis, pricing increased 3.5% versus the prior year. Positive trends in backlogged project work along with 
demand visibility, customer confidence and logistics constraints support continued upward pricing movements in 2019. 

AGGREGATES SEGMENT SALES AND FREIGHT-
ADJUSTED REVENUES

AGGREGATES GROSS PROFIT AND 
CASH GROSS PROFIT

in millions in millions 

  

 

  

AGGREGATES UNIT SHIPMENTS  AGGREGATES SELLING PRICE AND 
CASH GROSS PROFIT PER TON

tons, in millions Freight-adjusted average sales price per ton 1 
  

  1 Freight-adjusted sales price is calculated as freight-adjusted 
revenues divided by aggregates unit shipments 

 

Unit cost of sales (freight-adjusted) decreased 1% (same-store -2%) versus the prior year as fixed cost leverage and other 
operating efficiencies more than offset a 25% increase in the unit cost for diesel fuel. We remain focused on compounding 
improvements in unit margins throughout the cycle through fixed cost leverage, price growth and operating efficiencies. 
Since the recovery began in the second half of 2013, gross profit per ton in our Aggregates segment has compounded at an 
average annual growth rate of 13%. 

Incremental gross profit as a percentage of segment sales excluding freight & delivery was 47%. On a same-store basis, this 
metric was in-line with our longer-term expectations of 60%. We evaluate this metric on a trailing-twelve month basis as 
quarterly gross profit flow-through rates can vary widely from quarter to quarter. 

$2,961.8 $3,096.1 
$3,513.6 

$2,294.2 $2,392.7 $2,667.3 

2016 2017 2018

Segment Sales Freight-Adj Revenues

$863.8 $854.5 $991.9 $1,100.3 $1,099.7 
$1,273.5 

2016 2017 2018

Gross Profit Cash Gross Profit

181.4 183.2 201.4 

2016 2017 2018

$12.65 $13.06 $13.25 

$6.07 $6.00 $6.32 

2016 2017 2018
Freight-adjusted Sales Price Cash Gross Profit per Ton
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2. ASPHALT 
Our year-over-year asphalt mix shipments: 

 increased 4% in 2018 1 

 increased 14% in 2017 2 

 decreased 2% in 2016 

1 Same-store declined 2%. The 4% increase in asphalt mix shipments in 2018 was attributable to first and second quarter 2018 
acquisitions of asphalt mix operations and construction paving businesses in Alabama and Texas, coupled with the fourth 
quarter 2017 swap of our concrete operations for asphalt operations in Arizona. 

2 The 14% increase in asphalt mix shipments in 2017 was largely attributable to a first quarter 2017 acquisition of asphalt mix 
operations and a construction paving business in Tennessee. 

 
Asphalt segment gross profit of $56.5 million was $34.8 million or 38% lower than 2017. Higher liquid asphalt costs 
negatively affected segment earnings by $54.4 million. Pricing gains are beginning to offset higher liquid asphalt costs, but 
their impact will be gradual during 2019. 

ASPHALT SEGMENT SALES ASPHALT GROSS PROFIT AND 
CASH GROSS PROFIT 

in millions in millions 

  

 

$512.3 
$622.1 

$733.2 

2016 2017 2018

$96.6 $91.3 

$56.5 

$113.4 $116.7 

$87.8 

2016 2017 2018

Gross Profit Cash Gross Profit
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3. CONCRETE 
Our year-over-year ready-mixed concrete shipments: 

 decreased 10% in 2018 1 

 increased 19% in 2017 2 

 increased 7% in 2016 

1 The 10% decrease in ready-mixed concrete shipments in 2018 was attributable to the March 2018 disposition of ready-mixed 
concrete facilities in Georgia, and the fourth quarter 2017 swap of our concrete operations for asphalt operations in Arizona. 

2 Of the 19% increase in ready-mixed concrete shipments in 2017, 9% was attributable to a March 2017 acquisition of ready-
mixed concrete facilities in California. 

 
Concrete segment gross profit was $49.9 million, up 10% from 2017 on a 10% decline in shipments (same-store -1%). 
Strategic market restructuring (exiting Georgia and Arizona and entering Northern California) contributed to improved 
Concrete segment material margins and unit gross profit. The material margins per cubic yard improved 6% (same store 
+3%) and unit gross profit improved 22% (+2% same-store). 

CONCRETE SEGMENT SALES CONCRETE GROSS PROFIT AND 
CASH GROSS PROFIT

in millions in millions 

 
 

4. CALCIUM 
Calcium segment gross profit increased 10% from 2017 to $2.7 million. 

CALCIUM SEGMENT SALES CALCIUM GROSS PROFIT AND 
CASH GROSS PROFIT

in millions in millions 

  

 

In total, the 2018 gross profit contributions from our three non-aggregates (Asphalt, Concrete and Calcium) segments was 
$109.1 million, a 22% decrease over 2017, and a 13% decrease over 2016. As stated previously, higher liquid asphalt costs 
in our Asphalt segment accounted for all of this decrease. 

$330.1 

$417.7 $402.0 

2016 2017 2018

$25.0 

$45.2 $49.9 
$37.1 

$59.0 $62.4 

2016 2017 2018

Gross Profit Cash Gross Profit

$8.9 
$7.7 $8.1 

2016 2017 2018

$3.5 
$2.5 $2.7 

$4.2 
$3.2 $3.0 

2016 2017 2018

Gross Profit Cash Gross Profit
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SELLING, ADMINISTRATIVE AND GENERAL (SAG) EXPENSES 
in millions 
 

 
 

As a percentage of total revenues, SAG expense was: 

 7.6% in 2018 — decreased 0.75 percentage points (75 basis points) 

 8.4% in 2017 — decreased 0.45 percentage points (45 basis points) 

 8.8% in 2016 — increased 0.4 percentage points (40 basis points) 

Our comparative total company employment levels at year end: 

 increased 6% in 2018 

 increased 11% in 2017 

 increased 4% in 2016 

Increases in our employment levels were driven by our acquisitions (see Note 19 “Acquisitions and Divestitures” in Item 8 
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”). As noted above, 2018 SAG expenses were $333.4 million or 7.6% as a 
percentage of total revenues, down from 8.4% in 2017. We remain focused on further leveraging our overhead cost 
structure. 

GAIN ON SALE OF PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT AND BUSINESSES 
in millions 
 

 
 

The 2018 gain on sale of property, plant & equipment and businesses of $14.9 million includes $2.9 million of pretax gain 
from the sale of our ready-mixed concrete operations in Georgia, $3.8 million of pretax gain related to the sale of mitigation 
credits and $1.3 million of pretax gain from the sale of one of the replaced self-unloading ships. The 2017 gain on sale of 
property, plant & equipment and businesses of $17.8 million includes $8.0 million of pretax gain from a swap of ready-mixed 
concrete operations for an asphalt operation (all in Arizona) and $2.5 million of pretax gain related to a property donation. 
The 2016 gain includes $11.9 million of pretax gain from surplus land sales in Virginia and California. See Note 19 
“Acquisitions and Divestitures” in Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”  

$333.4 

$325.0 

$316.8 

2018

2017

2016

$14.9 

$17.8 

$15.4 

2018

2017

2016
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OTHER OPERATING EXPENSE, NET 
Other operating expense, which has an approximate run-rate of $12 million a year (exclusive of discrete items), is composed 
of various operating items not specifically presented in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive 
Income. The total other operating expense, net and significant items included in the total were: 

 $34.8 million in 2018— includes discrete items as follows: 

 $5.2 million of non-routine business development charges 

 $18.5 million of charges associated with divested operations, including environmental liability accruals associated with 
previously divested properties ($20.0 million) 

 $6.2 million of managerial restructuring charges 

 $2.3 million gain referable to the settlement of business interruption claims related to the 2010 Gulf Coast oil spill 

 $47.3 million in 2017 — includes discrete items as follows: 

 $3.1 million of non-routine business development charges, net of a termination fee. These net charges were composed 
of $11.1 million of non-routine business development charges partially offset by an $8.0 million credit related to an 
asset purchase agreement termination fee 

 $18.1 million of charges associated with divested operations including $16.6 million of environmental liability accruals 
related to the Hewitt Landfill matter (see Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements) 

 $6.7 million of one-time cash bonuses for non-incentive eligible employees ($1,000 per employee) 

 $4.3 million of charges related to a property donation 

 $1.9 million of managerial restructuring charges 

 $21.6 million in 2016 — includes discrete items as follows: 

 $16.9 million of charges associated with divested operations, including charges associated with office space no longer 
needed and vacated ($5.2 million), the write-off of a prepaid royalty asset resulting from a change in long-term mining 
plans ($3.6 million), a property litigation settlement ($1.9 million), a pension withdrawal settlement revision ($1.5 
million), and environmental liability accruals associated with previously divested properties ($4.5 million) 

 $10.5 million of impairment charges related to the termination of a nonstrategic aggregates site lease we no longer 
intended to develop ($9.6 million) and the write-off of nonrecoverable project costs related to two Aggregates segment 
capital projects that we no longer intend to complete ($0.9 million) 

 $11.7 million gain referable to the settlement of business interruption claims related to the 2010 Gulf Coast oil spill 

 $4.3 million gain referable to a plant relocation 
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INTEREST EXPENSE 
in millions 
 

 
 

Interest expense was $138.0 million in 2018 compared to $295.5 million in 2017 and $134.1 million in 2016. Interest 
expense for 2017 included $153.1 million of charges related to the 2017 debt purchases. See Note 6 “Debt” in Item 8 
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” for additional discussion. 

INCOME TAXES 
Our income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations for the years ended December 31 is shown below: 
 
           

dollars in millions 2018   2017   2016  

Earnings from continuing operations         
  before income taxes $        623.3   $        361.3    $        547.3  
Income tax expense (benefit) $        105.4   $       (232.1)   $        124.9  
Effective tax rate 16.9%  -64.2%   22.8% 
 
The $337.5 million increase in our 2018 income tax expense was primarily due to $297.0 million of net discrete tax benefits 
recorded in the fourth quarter of 2017. 

These discrete items were composed of two tax benefits: 

 a $301.6 million remeasurement of our deferred tax assets and liabilities at the new Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (TCJA) 21% 
federal corporate income tax rate 

 a $28.8 million partial release of our Alabama NOL carryforward valuation allowance 

Partially offset by two tax charges: 

 $21.1 million of lost tax benefits associated with tax deductions accelerated into 2017 (e.g., lost U.S. production 
deduction) 

 a $12.3 million tax expense for the one-time Deemed Repatriation Transition Tax 

See Note 9 “Income Taxes” in Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.” 

$138.0 

$295.5 

$134.1 

2018

2017

2016

Cash Noncash
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DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 
Pretax earnings (loss) from discontinued operations were: 

 $(2.7) million in 2018 

 $13.0 million in 2017 

 $(4.9) million in 2016 

Pretax earnings (loss) from discontinued operations for 2018, 2017 and 2016, resulted primarily from general and product 
liability costs, including legal defense costs and environmental remediation costs associated with our former Chemicals 
business. The 2017 results also include insurance recoveries from previously incurred general liability costs. For additional 
information about discontinued operations, see Note 1 “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” in Item 8 “Financial 
Statements and Supplementary Data” under the caption Discontinued Operations. 

RECONCILIATION OF NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES 

SAME-STORE 
We have provided certain information on a same-store basis. When discussing our financial results in comparison to prior 
periods, we may exclude the operating results of recently acquired/divested businesses that do not have comparable results 
in the periods being discussed. These recently acquired/divested businesses are disclosed in Note 19 “Acquisitions and 
Divestitures” in Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.” This approach allows us to evaluate the 
performance of our operations on a comparable basis. We believe that measuring performance on a same-store basis is 
useful to investors because it enables evaluation of how our operations are performing period over period without the effects 
of acquisition and divestiture activity. Our same-store information may not be comparable to similar measures used by other 
companies. 

AGGREGATES SEGMENT FREIGHT-ADJUSTED REVENUES 

Aggregates segment freight-adjusted revenues is not a Generally Accepted Accounting Principle (GAAP) measure. We 
present this metric as it is consistent with the basis by which we review our operating results. We believe that this 
presentation is consistent with our competitors and meaningful to our investors as it excludes revenues associated with 
freight & delivery, which are pass-through activities. It also excludes immaterial other revenues related to services, such as 
landfill tipping fees, that are derived from our aggregates business. Additionally, we use this metric as the basis for 
calculating the average sales price of our aggregates products. Reconciliation of this metric to its nearest GAAP measure is 
presented below: 

        

dollars in millions 2018   2017   2016  

Aggregates segment         

Segment sales $     3,513.6   $      3,096.1    $      2,961.8  
Less         
  Freight & delivery revenues 1  796.9    670.7     651.9  
  Other revenues  49.4    32.7     15.7  
Freight-adjusted revenues $     2,667.3   $      2,392.7    $      2,294.2  
Unit shipments - tons  201.4    183.2     181.4  
Freight-adjusted sales price $        13.25   $         13.06    $         12.65  
 

1 At the segment level, freight & delivery revenues include intersegment freight & delivery (which are eliminated at the 
consolidated level) and freight to remote distribution sites. 
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AGGREGATES SEGMENT GROSS PROFIT 

Aggregates segment gross profit margin as a percentage of segment sales excluding freight & delivery (revenues and costs) 
is not a GAAP measure. We present this metric as it is consistent with the basis by which we review our operating results. 
We believe that this presentation is consistent with our competitors and meaningful to our investors as it excludes revenues 
associated with freight & delivery, which are pass-through activities (we do not generate a profit associated with the 
transportation component of the selling price of the product). Incremental gross profit as a percentage of segment sales 
excluding freight & delivery represents the year-over-year change in gross profit divided by the year-over-year change in 
segment sales excluding freight & delivery. Reconciliations of these metrics to their nearest GAAP measures are presented 
below: 

MARGIN IN ACCORDANCE WITH GAAP 
        

dollars in millions 2018   2017   2016  

Aggregates segment         
Gross profit $        991.9   $        854.5    $        863.8  
Segment sales $     3,513.6   $     3,096.1    $     2,961.8  
Gross profit margin 28.2%  27.6%   29.2% 
Incremental gross profit margin 32.9%  n/a     

AS A PERCENTAGE OF SEGMENT SALES EXCLUDING FREIGHT & DELIVERY 
           

dollars in millions 2018   2017   2016  

Aggregates segment         
Gross profit $        991.9   $        854.5    $        863.8  
Segment sales $     3,513.6   $     3,096.1    $     2,961.8  
  Freight & delivery revenues 1  796.9    670.7     651.9  
Segment sales excluding freight & delivery $     2,716.7   $     2,425.4    $     2,309.9  
Gross profit as a percentage of segment sales         
  excluding freight & delivery 36.5%  35.2%   37.4% 
Incremental gross profit as a percentage of segment         
 sales excluding freight & delivery 47.1%  n/a     

   
1 At the segment level, freight & delivery revenues include intersegment freight & delivery (which are eliminated at the 

consolidated level) and freight to remote distribution sites. 
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CASH GROSS PROFIT 
GAAP does not define “cash gross profit” and it should not be considered as an alternative to earnings measures defined by 
GAAP. We and the investment community use this metric to assess the operating performance of our business. Additionally, 
we present this metric as we believe that it closely correlates to long-term shareholder value. We do not use this metric as a 
measure to allocate resources. Aggregates segment cash gross profit per ton is computed by dividing Aggregates segment 
cash gross profit by tons shipped. Reconciliation of this metric to its nearest GAAP measure is presented below: 

        

in millions, except per ton data 2018   2017   2016  

Aggregates segment         
Gross profit $        991.9   $        854.5    $        863.8  
Depreciation, depletion, accretion and amortization  281.6    245.2     236.5  
Aggregates segment cash gross profit $     1,273.5   $     1,099.7   $     1,100.3 
Unit shipments - tons  201.4    183.2     181.4  
Aggregates segment cash gross profit per ton $          6.32   $          6.00   $          6.07 
Asphalt segment         
Gross profit $          56.5   $          91.3    $          96.6  
Depreciation, depletion, accretion and amortization  31.3    25.4     16.8  
Asphalt segment cash gross profit $          87.8   $        116.7   $        113.4 
Concrete segment         
Gross profit $          49.9   $          45.2    $          25.0  
Depreciation, depletion, accretion and amortization  12.5    13.8     12.1  
Concrete segment cash gross profit $          62.4   $          59.0   $          37.1 
Calcium segment         
Gross profit $            2.7   $            2.5    $            3.5  
Depreciation, depletion, accretion and amortization  0.3    0.7     0.7  

Calcium segment cash gross profit $            3.0   $            3.2   $            4.2 
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EBITDA AND ADJUSTED EBITDA 
GAAP does not define “Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization” (EBITDA) and it should not be 
considered as an alternative to earnings measures defined by GAAP. We use this metric to assess the operating 
performance of our business and as a basis for strategic planning and forecasting as we believe that it closely correlates to 
long-term shareholder value. We do not use this metric as a measure to allocate resources. We adjust EBITDA for certain 
items to provide a more consistent comparison of earnings performance from period to period. Reconciliation of this metric 
to its nearest GAAP measure is presented below: 

        

in millions 2018   2017   2016  

Net earnings $        515.8   $        601.2    $        419.5  
Income tax expense (benefit)  105.4    (232.1)    124.9  
Interest expense, net of interest income  137.6    291.1     133.3  
(Earnings) loss on discontinued operations, net of tax  2.0    (7.8)    2.9  
EBIT  760.8    652.4     680.6  
Depreciation, depletion, accretion and amortization  346.2    306.0     284.9  
EBITDA $     1,107.0   $        958.4   $        965.5 

Gain on sale of real estate and businesses 1 $           (2.9)   $         (10.5)  $         (16.2)
Property donation  0.0    4.3    0.0 
Business interruption claims recovery, net of incentives  (2.3)    0.0    (11.0)
Charges associated with divested operations  18.5    18.1    16.9 
Business development, net of termination fee 2  5.2    3.1    0.0 
One-time employee bonuses  0.0    6.7    0.0 
Asset impairment  0.0    0.0    10.5 
Restructuring charges  6.2    1.9    0.3 
Adjusted EBITDA $     1,131.7   $        981.9   $        966.0 
Depreciation, depletion, accretion and amortization  346.2    306.0     284.9  
Adjusted EBIT $        785.5   $        675.9   $        681.1 
 

1 The 2016 amount includes a $4.3 million gain (reflected within Other operating income, net) for plant relocation reimbursement. 
2 Represents non-routine charges associated with acquisitions including the cost impact of purchase accounting inventory 

valuations. 

2019 PROJECTED EBITDA 
The following reconciliation to the mid-point of the range of 2019 Projected EBITDA excludes adjustments (as noted in 
Adjusted EBITDA above) as they are difficult to forecast (timing or amount). Due to the difficulty of forecasting such 
adjustments, we are unable to estimate their significance. This metric is not defined by GAAP and should not be considered 
as an alternative to earnings measures defined by GAAP. Reconciliation of this metric to its nearest GAAP measure is 
presented below: 
     

2019 Projected  
in millions Mid-point  

Net earnings $          640  
Income tax expense  160  
Interest expense, net of interest income  130  
Discontinued operations, net of tax  0  
Depreciation, depletion, accretion and amortization  360  
Projected EBITDA $       1,290 
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES 
Our primary sources of liquidity are cash provided by our operating activities and a substantial, committed bank line of credit. 
Additional sources of capital include access to the capital markets, the sale of surplus real estate, and dispositions of 
nonstrategic operating assets. We believe these financial resources are sufficient to fund our business requirements for 
2019, including: 

 cash contractual obligations 

 capital expenditures 

 debt service obligations 

 dividend payments 

 potential share repurchases 

 potential acquisitions 

Our balanced approach to capital deployment remains unchanged. We intend to balance reinvestment in our business, 
growth through acquisitions and return of capital to shareholders, while sustaining financial strength and flexibility. In 2018 
and 2017, we returned $148.1 million and $132.3 million, respectively, in cash to shareholders through our dividends and 
$134.0 million and $60.3 million, respectively, through share repurchases. 

We actively manage our capital structure and resources in order to minimize the cost of capital while properly managing 
financial risk. We seek to meet these objectives by adhering to the following principles: 

 maintain substantial bank line of credit borrowing capacity 

 proactively manage our debt maturity schedule such that repayment/refinancing risk in any single year is low 

 maintain an appropriate balance of fixed-rate and floating-rate debt 

 minimize financial and other covenants that limit our operating and financial flexibility 
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CASH 
Included in our December 31, 2018 cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash balances of $44.4 million is $19.1 million 
of cash held at our foreign subsidiaries. Use of this cash is no longer limited to our foreign operations as a result of our 
decision to remove our indefinite reinvestment assertion as it relates to the earnings of our foreign subsidiaries (see Note 9 
“Income Taxes” in Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”). 

CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
in millions 
 

 
 

Net cash provided by operating activities is derived primarily from net earnings before noncash deductions for depreciation, 
depletion, accretion and amortization. 
 

        

in millions 2018   2017   2016  

Net earnings $        515.8   $        601.2    $        419.5  
Depreciation, depletion, accretion         
 and amortization (DDA&A)  346.2    306.0     284.9  

Contributions to pension plans  (109.6)   (20.0)    (9.6) 
Deferred tax expense (benefit) 1  64.6    (235.7)    33.6  
Cost of debt purchase  6.9    140.8     0.0  
Other operating cash flows, net 2  8.9    (147.6)    (83.8) 
Net cash provided by operating activities $        832.8   $        644.7    $        644.6  
  

1 The change from 2016 to 2017 reflects a $301.6 million reduction of our net deferred income tax liability as a result of the Tax 
Cuts and Jobs Act (TCJA). 

2 Primarily reflects changes to working capital balances. 
 
2018 VERSUS 2017 — Net cash provided by operating activities was $832.8 million during 2018, a $188.1 million increase 
compared to 2017. During the first quarter of 2018, we made a $100.0 million discretionary contribution to our qualified 
pension plans that was deductible for tax purposes in 2017 and early retired debt incurring premium and transaction costs of 
$6.9 million which was added back to operating cash flows and reflected as a financing cash outflow. During 2017, we made 
a discretionary pension plan contribution of $10.6 million and early retired debt incurring premium and transaction costs of 
$140.8 million which was added back to operating cash flows and is reflected as a financing cash outflow. 

2017 VERSUS 2016 — Net cash provided by operating activities was $644.7 million during 2017 and $644.6 during 2016. 
Although net earnings increased by $181.7 million compared to 2016, 2017 earnings included discrete deferred tax benefits 
of $301.6 million referable to the TCJA (see Note 9 “Income Taxes” in Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary 
Data”) partially offset by cost of debt purchases of $140.8 million (see Note 6 “Debt” in Item 8 “Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data”). Cash paid for debt purchases is presented as a component of financing activities. 

$644.6 $644.7
$832.8 

2016 2017 2018
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CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
in millions 
 

 
 

2018 VERSUS 2017 — Net cash used for investing activities was $669.9 million during 2018, a $599.6 million decrease 
compared to 2017. We invested $469.1 million in our existing operations in 2018, a $9.5 million increase compared to 2017. 
Of this $469.1 million, $247.4 million was invested in internal growth projects to secure new aggregates reserves, develop 
new production sites, enhance our distribution capabilities and support the targeted growth of our asphalt and concrete 
operations. Additionally, during 2018 we acquired businesses for $221.4 million of cash consideration as compared to 
$822.4 million of cash consideration (excluding the assets immediately divested in the Aggregates USA acquisition for 
$287.3 million) for businesses in 2017. 

2017 VERSUS 2016 — Net cash used for investing activities was $1,269.5 million during 2017, a $912.3 million increase 
compared to 2016. We invested $459.6 million in our existing operations in 2017, a $109.4 million increase compared to 
2016. Of this $459.6 million, $167.7 million was invested in internal growth projects to secure new aggregates reserves, 
develop new production sites, enhance our distribution capabilities and support the targeted growth of our asphalt and 
concrete operations. As noted above, acquisitions during 2017 totaled $822.4 million of cash consideration. During 2016, we 
expanded our aggregates distribution capabilities in Georgia and completed two strategic bolt-on acquisitions in New Mexico 
and Texas for $32.5 million of cash consideration (see Note 19 “Acquisitions and Divestitures” in Item 8 “Financial 
Statements and Supplementary Data”). 

CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
in millions 
 

 
 

2018 VERSUS 2017 — Net cash used for financing activities in 2018 was $265.1 million, compared to $503.4 million 
provided by financing activities in 2017. The 2017 results included $721.4 million of net proceeds from debt refinancing 
activities compared to 2018 net proceeds of $48.8 million. Additionally, we increased by $89.5 million the return of capital to 
our shareholders via higher dividends of $15.8 million ($1.12 per share compared to $1.00 per share) and higher share 
repurchases of $73.7 million (1,191,928 shares @ $112.41 per share compared to 510,283 shares @ $118.18 per share). 

2017 VERSUS 2016 — Net cash provided by financing activities in 2017 was $503.4 million, an increase of $808.0 million 
compared with the cash used during 2016. This increase was primarily attributable to the 2017 debt issuances (see Note 6 
“Debt” in Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”) which provided net proceeds of $2,184.7 million partially 
offset by the repayment of $235.0 million borrowed against our line of credit and the early retirement of notes due in 2018 
and 2021 for a total cost of $1,228.2 million ($1,087.4 million principal and $140.8 million cost of debt purchase). 
Additionally, we increased dividends to our shareholders by $26.0 million ($1.00 per share compared to $0.80 per share). 
Share repurchases decreased by $101.2 million (510,283 shares @ $118.18 per share compared to 1,426,659 shares @ 
$113.18 per share). 

$(357.2)

$(1,269.5)

$(669.9)

2016 2017 2018

$(304.6)

$503.4 

$(265.1)

2016 2017 2018
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DEBT 
Certain debt measures as of December 31 are outlined below: 
 

        

dollars in millions 2018   2017  

Debt      
Current maturities of long-term debt $            0.0    $          41.4  
Short-term debt  133.0     0.0  
Long-term debt 1  2,779.4     2,813.5  
Total debt  $     2,912.4    $     2,854.9  
Capital      
Total debt  $     2,912.4    $     2,854.9  
Equity  5,202.9     4,968.9  
Total capital $     8,115.3    $     7,823.8  
Total Debt as a Percentage of Total Capital 35.9%   36.5%
Weighted-average Effective Interest Rates    
  Line of credit 2 1.25%   1.25%
  Term debt 4.56%   4.26%

Fixed versus Floating Interest Rate Debt      
   Fixed-rate debt 70.4%   61.8% 
   Floating-rate debt 29.6%   38.2%   

1 Includes borrowing under our line of credit for which we have the intent and ability to extend repayment beyond twelve months, 
as follows: December 31, 2018 — none, and December 31, 2017 — $250.0 million. The December 31, 2017 long-term debt 
also includes a $350.0 million unsecured term loan due 2018 which was subsequently refinanced in February 2018. 

2 Reflects the margin above LIBOR for LIBOR-based borrowings; we also paid upfront fees that are amortized to interest expense 
and pay fees for unused borrowing capacity and standby letters of credit. 

LINE OF CREDIT 
Covenants, borrowings, cost ranges and other details are described in Note 6 “Debt” in Item 8 “Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data.” As of December 31, 2018, we were in compliance with the line of credit covenants and the credit 
margin for LIBOR borrowings was 1.25%, the credit margin for base rate borrowings was 0.25%, and the commitment fee 
for the unused portion was 0.15%. 

As of December 31, 2018, our available borrowing capacity under the line of credit was $572.0 million. Utilization of the 
borrowing capacity was as follows: 

 $133.0 million was borrowed 

 $45.0 million was used to provide support for outstanding standby letters of credit 

TERM DEBT 
All of our $2,846.4 million (face value) of term debt is unsecured. $2,846.2 million of such debt is governed by three 
essentially identical indentures that contain customary investment-grade type covenants. The primary covenant in all three 
indentures limits the amount of secured debt we may incur without ratably securing such debt. As of December 31, 2018, we 
were in compliance with all term debt covenants. 

Throughout 2017 and during the first quarter of 2018, we completed a number of debt refinancing activities (see Note 6 
“Debt” in Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”) in order to extend the maturity of our debt portfolio 
consistent with the long-lived nature of our asset base. As a result of these actions, the weighted-average term of our debt 
portfolio has more than doubled to approximately 15 years. 
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As a result of the first quarter 2018 early debt retirements, we recognized premiums of $5.6 million, transaction costs of $1.3 
million and noncash expense (acceleration of unamortized deferred transaction costs) of $0.5 million. The combined charge 
of $7.4 million was a component of interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2018. 

As a result of the 2017 early debt retirements, we recognized premiums of $139.2 million, transaction costs of $1.6 million 
and noncash expense (acceleration of unamortized deferred transaction costs) of $7.2 million. The combined charge of 
$148.0 million was a component of interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2017. 

DEBT PAYMENTS AND MATURITIES 
Scheduled debt payments during 2018 included $350.0 million (which we refinanced in February via issuing $350.0 million 
of 30-year 4.70% senior notes due 2048) as described in Note 6 “Debt” in Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary 
Data.” Additionally, we early retired $396.1 million of debt during the first quarter of 2018. There were no significant 
scheduled debt payments during 2017 and 2016.  

As of December 31, 2018, maturities for the next four quarters and maturities for the next five years are due as follows 
(excluding borrowings on the line of credit): 
 
       

 2019    Debt 
in millions Debt Maturities   in millions Maturities 

First quarter $                     0.0    2019 $            0.0  
Second quarter  0.0    2020  250.0  
Third quarter  0.0    2021  506.1  
Fourth quarter  0.0    2022  0.0  
    2023  0.0  
 

DEBT RATINGS 
Our debt ratings and outlooks as of December 31, 2018 are as follows: 

      

   Rating/Outlook  Date   Description 

Senior Unsecured Term Debt     
Fitch BBB-/stable  9/24/2018  rating/outlook affirmed 
Moody's Baa3/stable  3/7/2018   rating/outlook affirmed
Standard & Poor's BBB/stable  4/6/2018   rating/outlook affirmed 
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EQUITY 
Our common stock issuances and purchases are as follows: 
 

        

in thousands 2018   2017   2016  

Common stock shares at January 1,         
 issued and outstanding  132,324    132,339     133,172  

Common Stock Issuances         
Share-based compensation plans  630    495     594  
Common Stock Purchases         
Purchased and retired  (1,192)   (510)    (1,427) 
Common stock shares at December 31,         
 issued and outstanding  131,762    132,324     132,339  

 
On February 10, 2017, our Board of Directors authorized us to purchase 8,243,243 shares of our common stock to refresh 
the number of shares we were authorized to purchase to 10,000,000. As of December 31, 2018, there were 8,297,789 
shares remaining under the authorization. Depending upon market, business, legal and other conditions, we may purchase 
shares from time to time through the open market (including plans designed to comply with Rule 10b5-1 of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934) and/or privately negotiated transactions. The authorization has no time limit, does not obligate us to 
purchase any specific number of shares, and may be suspended or discontinued at any time. 

Our common stock purchases (all of which were open market purchases) are detailed below: 
 

        

in thousands, except average cost 2018   2017   2016  

Shares Purchased and Retired         
Number  1,192    510     1,427  
Total purchase price $     133,983   $       60,303    $     161,463  
Average price per share $       112.41   $       118.18    $       113.18  
 
There were no shares held in treasury as of December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016. 

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 
We have no off-balance sheet arrangements, such as financing or unconsolidated variable interest entities, that either have 
or are reasonably likely to have a current or future material effect on our: 

 results of operations and financial position 

 capital expenditures 

 liquidity and capital resources 



 

Part II 54 
 

STANDBY LETTERS OF CREDIT 
For a discussion of our standby letters of credit see Note 6 “Debt” in Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”  

CASH CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS 
We expect core capital spending (excluding growth) of $250.0 million during 2019. Excluding future cash requirements for 
capital expenditures and immaterial or contingent contracts, our obligations to make future contractual payments as of 
December 31, 2018 are summarized in the table below: 
 

            

Note  Payments Due by Year 
in millions Reference  2019  2020-2021  2022-2023  Thereafter  Total 

Cash Contractual Obligations             
Bank line of credit 1             
  Principal payments Note 6  $        0.0   $        133.0  $            0.0  $            0.0  $        133.0  
  Interest payments and fees 2 Note 6   2.2    3.4   0.0   0.0   5.6  
Term debt            
  Principal payments Note 6   0.0    756.1   0.0   2,090.3   2,846.4  
  Interest payments Note 6   121.6    216.6   192.0   1,482.1   2,012.3  
Operating leases Note 7   48.0    79.3   47.2   195.0   369.5  
Mineral royalties Note 12   23.2    36.6   26.0   154.8   240.6  
Unconditional purchase obligations             
  Capital Note 12   35.2    0.0   0.0   0.0   35.2  
  Noncapital 3 Note 12   11.9    9.1   3.7   12.0   36.7  
Benefit plans 4 Note 10   9.1    16.5   39.8   44.4   109.8  

Total cash contractual obligations 5, 6   $    251.2   $     1,250.6  $        308.7  $     3,978.6  $     5,789.1  
 

1 Bank line of credit represents borrowings under our unsecured $750.0 million line of credit that expires December 2021. 
2 Includes fees for unused borrowing capacity, and fees for standby letters of credit. The figures for all years assume that the 

amount of unused borrowing capacity and the amount of standby letters of credit do not change from December 31, 2018, and 
borrowing costs reflect a rising LIBOR. 

3 Noncapital unconditional purchase obligations relate primarily to transportation and electricity contracts. 
4 Payments in “Thereafter” column for benefit plans are for the years 2024-2028. 
5 The above table excludes discounted asset retirement obligations in the amount of $225.7 million at December 31, 2018, the 

majority of which have an estimated settlement date beyond 2023 (see Note 17 “Asset Retirement Obligations” in Item 8 
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”). 

6 The above table excludes liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits in the amount of $3.7 million at December 31, 2018, as we 
cannot make a reasonably reliable estimate of the amount and period of related future payment of these uncertain tax positions 
(for more details, see Note 9 “Income Taxes” in Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”). 

 



 

Part II 55 
 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
We follow certain significant accounting policies when preparing our consolidated financial statements. A summary of these 
policies is included in Note 1 “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” in Item 8 “Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data.” 

We prepare these financial statements to conform with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. These principles require us to make estimates and judgments that affect reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
revenues and expenses, and the related disclosures of contingent assets and contingent liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements. We base our estimates on historical experience, current conditions and various other assumptions we believe 
reasonable under existing circumstances and evaluate these estimates and judgments on an ongoing basis. The results of 
these estimates form the basis for our judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities as well as identifying and 
assessing the accounting treatment with respect to commitments and contingencies. Our actual results may materially differ 
from these estimates. 

We believe the following critical accounting policies require the most significant judgments and estimates used in the 
preparation of our consolidated financial statements: 

1. Goodwill impairment 

2. Impairment of long-lived assets excluding goodwill 

3. Business combinations and purchase price allocation 

4. Pension and other postretirement benefits 

5. Environmental compliance costs 

6. Claims and litigation including self-insurance 

7. Income taxes 

1. GOODWILL IMPAIRMENT 
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of net assets acquired in business combinations over the fair value of the 
identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination. Goodwill impairment 
exists when the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. Goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual 
basis or more frequently whenever events or changes in circumstances would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a 
reporting unit below its carrying amount. The impairment evaluation is a critical accounting policy because goodwill is 
material to our total assets (as of December 31, 2018, goodwill represents 32% of total assets) and the evaluation involves 
the use of significant estimates, assumptions and judgment. 

HOW WE TEST GOODWILL FOR IMPAIRMENT 
Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level, one level below our operating segments. We have identified 17 
reporting units (of which 9 carry goodwill) based primarily on geographic location. We have the option of either assessing 
qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the carrying value of our reporting units exceeds their 
respective fair value or proceeding directly to a quantitative test. We elected to perform the quantitative impairment test for 
all years presented. 

The quantitative impairment test compares the fair value of a reporting unit to its carrying value, including goodwill. If the fair 
value exceeds its carrying value, the goodwill of the reporting unit is not considered impaired. However, if the carrying value 
of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, we recognize an impairment loss equal to that excess. 

HOW WE DETERMINE CARRYING VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 
First, we determine the carrying value of each reporting unit by assigning assets and liabilities, including goodwill, to those 
units as of the measurement date. Then, we estimate the fair values of the reporting units using both an income approach 
(which involves discounting estimated future cash flows) and a market approach (which involves the application of revenue 
and EBITDA multiples of comparable companies). We consider market factors when determining the assumptions and 
estimates used in our valuation models. Finally, to assess the reasonableness of the reporting unit fair values, we compare 
the total of the reporting unit fair values to our market capitalization. 
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OUR FAIR VALUE ASSUMPTIONS 
We base our fair value estimates on market participant assumptions we believe to be reasonable at the time, but such 
assumptions are subject to inherent uncertainty and actual results may differ. Changes in key assumptions or management 
judgment with respect to a reporting unit or its prospects may result from a change in market conditions, market trends, 
interest rates or other factors outside of our control, or underperformance relative to historical or projected operating results. 
These conditions could result in a significantly different estimate of the fair value of our reporting units, which could resul t in 
an impairment charge in the future. 

The significant assumptions in our discounted cash flow models include our estimate of future profitability, capital 
requirements and the discount rate. The profitability estimates used in the models were derived from internal operating 
budgets and forecasts for long-term demand and pricing in our industry. Estimated capital requirements reflect replacement 
capital estimated on a per ton basis and if applicable, acquisition capital necessary to support growth estimated in the 
models. The discount rate was derived using a capital asset pricing model. 

RESULTS OF OUR IMPAIRMENT TESTS 
The results of our annual impairment tests for the last three years indicated that the fair values of all reporting units with 
goodwill substantially exceeded (in excess of 100%) their carrying values. 

For additional information about goodwill, see Note 18 “Goodwill and Intangible Assets” in Item 8 “Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data.” 

2. IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS EXCLUDING GOODWILL 
We evaluate the carrying value of long-lived assets, including intangible assets subject to amortization, when events and 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. The impairment evaluation is a critical accounting 
policy because long-lived assets are material to our total assets (as of December 31, 2018, net property, plant & equipment 
represents 43% of total assets, while net other intangible assets represents 11% of total assets) and the evaluation involves 
the use of significant estimates, assumptions and judgment. The carrying value of long-lived assets is considered impaired 
when the estimated undiscounted cash flows from such assets are less than their carrying value. In that event, we recognize 
a loss equal to the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value. 

Fair value is estimated primarily by using a discounted cash flow methodology that requires considerable judgment and 
assumptions. Our estimate of net future cash flows is based on historical experience and assumptions of future trends, 
which may be different from actual results. We periodically review the appropriateness of the estimated useful lives of our 
long-lived assets. 

We test long-lived assets for impairment at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the 
cash flows of other assets. As a result, our long-lived asset impairment test is at a significantly lower level than the level at 
which we test goodwill for impairment. In markets where we do not produce downstream products (e.g., asphalt mix and 
ready-mixed concrete), the lowest level of largely independent identifiable cash flows is at the individual aggregates 
operation or a group of aggregates operations collectively serving a local market. Conversely, in vertically integrated 
markets, the cash flows of our downstream and upstream businesses are not largely independently identifiable as the selling 
price of the upstream products (aggregates) impacts the profitability of the downstream business. 

During 2018 and 2017, we recorded no losses on impairment of long-lived assets. During 2016, we recorded a $10.5 million 
impairment loss resulting from the termination of a nonstrategic aggregates lease and the write off of nonrecoverable project 
costs related to two Aggregates segment capital projects that we no longer intended to complete. 
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We maintain certain long-lived assets that are not currently being used in our operations. These assets totaled $415.7 
million at December 31, 2018, essentially flat from December 31, 2017. Of the total $415.7 million, approximately 50% 
relates to real estate held for future development and expansion of our operations. In addition, approximately 25% is 
comprised of real estate (principally former mining sites) pending development as commercial or residential real estate, 
reservoirs or landfills. The remaining 25% is composed of aggregates, asphalt and concrete operating assets idled 
temporarily. We evaluate the useful lives and the recoverability of these assets whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that carrying amounts may not be recoverable. 

For additional information about long-lived assets and intangible assets, see Note 4 “Property, Plant & Equipment” and Note 
18 “Goodwill and Intangible Assets” in Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.” 

3. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND PURCHASE PRICE ALLOCATION 
Our strategic long-term plans include potential investments in value-added acquisitions of related or similar businesses. 
When an acquisition is completed, our consolidated statements of comprehensive income includes the operating results of 
the acquired business starting from the date of acquisition, which is the date that control is obtained. 

HOW WE DETERMINE AND ALLOCATE THE PURCHASE PRICE 
The purchase price is determined based on the fair value of consideration transferred to and liabilities assumed from the 
seller as of the date of acquisition. We allocate the purchase price to the fair values of the tangible and identifiable intangible 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the date of acquisition. Goodwill is recorded for the excess of the purchase 
price over the net of the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The purchase price allocation is 
a critical accounting policy because the estimation of fair values of acquired assets and assumed liabilities is judgmental and 
requires various assumptions. Additionally, the amounts assigned to depreciable and amortizable assets compared to 
amounts assigned to goodwill, which is not amortized, can significantly affect our results of operations. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction, and 
therefore represents an exit price. A fair value measurement assumes the highest and best use of the asset by market 
participants. The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three 
broad levels as described below: 

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
Level 2: Inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data 
Level 3: Inputs that are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement 

Level 1 fair values are used to value investments in publicly-traded entities and assumed obligations for publicly-traded long-
term debt. 

Level 2 fair values are typically used to value acquired machinery and equipment, land, buildings, and assumed liabilities for 
asset retirement obligations, environmental remediation and compliance obligations. Additionally, Level 2 fair values are 
typically used to value assumed contracts at other-than-market rates. 

Level 3 fair values are used to value acquired mineral reserves as well as leased mineral interests (referred to in our 
financial statements as contractual rights in place) and other identifiable intangible assets. We determine the fair values of 
owned mineral reserves and leased mineral interests using a lost profits approach and/or an excess earnings approach. 
These valuation techniques require management to estimate future cash flows. The estimate of future cash flows is based 
on available historical information and future expectations and assumptions determined by management, but is inherently 
uncertain. Key assumptions in estimating future cash flows include sales price, shipment volumes, production costs and 
capital needs. The present value of the projected net cash flows represents the fair value assigned to mineral reserves and 
mineral interests. The discount rate is a significant assumption used in the valuation model and is based on the required rate 
of return that a hypothetical market participant would assume if purchasing the acquired business, with an adjustment for the 
risk of these assets not generating the projected cash flows. 
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Other identifiable intangible assets may include, but are not limited to, noncompetition agreements and 
favorable/unfavorable lease agreements. The fair values of these assets are typically determined by an excess earnings 
method, a replacement cost method or a market approach. 

MEASUREMENT PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS 
We may adjust the amounts recognized in an acquisition during a measurement period after the acquisition date. Any such 
adjustments are the result of subsequently obtaining additional information that existed at the acquisition date regarding the 
assets acquired or the liabilities assumed. Measurement period adjustments are generally recorded as increases or 
decreases to goodwill, if any, recognized in the transaction. The cumulative impact of measurement period adjustments on 
depreciation, amortization and other income statement items are recognized in the period the adjustment is determined. The 
measurement period ends once we have obtained all necessary information that existed as of the acquisition date, but does 
not extend beyond one year from the date of acquisition. Any adjustments to assets acquired or liabilities assumed beyond 
the measurement period are recorded through earnings. 

4. PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS 
Accounting for pension and other postretirement benefits requires that we use assumptions for the valuation of projected 
benefit obligations (PBO) and the performance of plan assets. Each year, we review our assumptions for discount rates 
(used for PBO, service cost, and interest cost calculations) and the expected return on plan assets. Due to plan changes 
made in 2012 and 2013, annual pay increases and the per capita cost of healthcare benefits do not materially impact plan 
obligations. 

 DISCOUNT RATES — We use a high-quality bond full yield curve approach (specific spot rates for each annual expected 
cash flow) to establish the discount rates at each measurement date. See Note 10 “Benefit Plans” in Item 8 “Financial 
Statements and Supplementary Data” for the discount rates used for PBO, service cost, and interest cost calculations. 

 EXPECTED RETURN ON PLAN ASSETS — Our expected return on plan assets is: (1) a long-term view based on our 
current asset allocation, and (2) a judgment informed by consultation with our retirement plans’ consultant and our 
pension plans’ actuary. For the year ended December 31, 2018, the expected return on plan assets remained at 7.0%. 

Changes to the assumptions listed above would have an impact on the PBO and the annual net benefit cost. The following 
table reflects the favorable and unfavorable outcomes associated with a change in certain assumptions: 
 
            

(Favorable) Unfavorable 
 0.5 Percentage Point Increase  0.5 Percentage Point Decrease 
 Inc (Dec) in  Inc (Dec) in   Inc (Dec) in  Inc (Dec) in 
in millions Benefit Obligation  Annual Benefit Cost   Benefit Obligation  Annual Benefit Cost 

Actuarial Assumptions            
Discount rates            
  Pension $               (51.1)   $                  (0.9)   $                56.2    $                    1.3   
 Other postretirement benefits  (1.1)    (0.0)    1.2     0.0   

Expected return on plan assets not applicable   (4.3)   not applicable    4.3   
 
As of the December 31, 2018 measurement date, the fair value of our pension plan assets decreased from $840.9 million for 
the prior year-end to $836.8 million. This decrease in fair value was the net result of our $100.0 million contribution to the 
qualified pension plans offset by benefit payments and negative investment returns. Our postretirement plans are unfunded. 

The discount rate is the weighted-average of the spot rates for each cash flow on the yield curve for high-quality bonds as of 
the measurement date. As of the December 31, 2018 measurement date, the PBO of our pension plans decreased from 
$1,091.2 million to $958.9 million. The PBO of our postretirement plans decreased from $43.5 million to $40.8 million. The 
PBO decreases were primarily due to higher discount rates, which ranged from 3.92% to 4.47% in 2018 compared with 
3.24% to 3.79% in 2017. 
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During 2019, we expect to recognize net pension expense of $0.7 million and net postretirement income of $2.6 million 
compared to income of $6.8 million and income of $2.7 million, respectively, in 2018. The increase in pension expense is 
due to investment losses during 2018 coupled with a reduction in our assumption for expected return on plan assets (from 
7.00% in 2018 to 5.75% in 2019). 

We do not anticipate that contributions to the funded pension plans will be required during 2019 and we do not anticipate 
making a discretionary contribution. We currently do not anticipate that the funded status of any of our plans will fall below 
statutory thresholds requiring accelerated funding or constraints on benefit levels or plan administration. 

For additional information about pension and other postretirement benefits, see Note 10 “Benefit Plans” in Item 8 “Financial 
Statements and Supplementary Data.” 

5. ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE COSTS 
Our environmental compliance costs include the cost of ongoing monitoring programs, the cost of remediation efforts and 
other similar costs. Our accounting policy for environmental compliance costs is a critical accounting policy because it 
involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions and requires considerable management judgment. 

HOW WE ACCOUNT FOR ENVIRONMENTAL COSTS 
To account for environmental costs, we: 

 expense or capitalize environmental costs consistent with our capitalization policy 

 expense costs for an existing condition caused by past operations that do not contribute to future revenues 

 accrue costs for environmental assessment and remediation efforts when we determine that a liability is probable and we 
can reasonably estimate the cost 

At the early stages of a remediation effort, environmental remediation liabilities are not easily quantified due to the 
uncertainties of various factors. The range of an estimated remediation liability is defined and redefined as events in the 
remediation effort occur, but generally liabilities are recognized no later than completion of the remedial feasibility study. 
When we can estimate a range of probable loss, we accrue the most likely amount. If no amount in the range of probable 
loss is considered most likely, the minimum loss in the range is accrued. As of December 31, 2018, the difference between 
the amount accrued and the maximum loss in the range for all sites for which a range can be reasonably estimated was $3.1 
million — this amount does not represent our maximum exposure to loss for all environmental remediation obligations as it 
excludes those sites for which a range of loss cannot be reasonably estimated at this time. Our environmental remediation 
obligations are recorded on an undiscounted basis. 

Accrual amounts may be based on technical cost estimations or the professional judgment of experienced environmental 
managers. Our Safety, Health and Environmental Affairs Management Committee routinely reviews cost estimates and key 
assumptions in response to new information, such as the kinds and quantities of hazardous substances, available 
technologies and changes to the parties participating in the remediation efforts. However, a number of factors, including 
adverse agency rulings and unanticipated conditions as remediation efforts progress, may cause actual results to differ 
materially from accrued costs. 

For additional information about environmental compliance costs, see Note 8 “Accrued Environmental Remediation Costs” in 
Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.” 
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6. CLAIMS AND LITIGATION INCLUDING SELF-INSURANCE 
We are involved with claims and litigation, including items covered under our self-insurance program. We are self-insured for 
losses related to workers' compensation up to $2.0 million per occurrence and automotive and general/product liability up to 
$3.0 million per occurrence. We have excess coverage on a per occurrence basis beyond these retention levels. 

Under our self-insurance program, we aggregate certain claims and litigation costs that are reasonably predictable based on 
our historical loss experience and accrue losses, including future legal defense costs, based on actuarial studies. Certain 
claims and litigation costs, due to their unique nature, are not included in our actuarial studies. For matters not included in 
our actuarial studies, legal defense costs are accrued when incurred. 

Our accounting policy for claims and litigation including self-insurance is a critical accounting policy because it involves the 
use of significant estimates and assumptions and requires considerable management judgment. 

HOW WE ASSESS THE PROBABILITY OF LOSS 
We use both internal and outside legal counsel to assess the probability of loss, and establish an accrual when the claims 
and litigation represent a probable loss and the cost can be reasonably estimated. Significant judgment is used in 
determining the timing and amount of the accruals for probable losses, and the actual liability could differ materially from the 
accrued amounts. 

For additional information about claims and litigation including self-insurance, see Note 1 “Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies” in Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” under the caption Claims and Litigation 
Including Self-insurance. 

7. INCOME TAXES 
VALUATION OF OUR DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 
We file federal, state and foreign income tax returns and account for the current and deferred tax effects of such returns 
using the asset and liability method. We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities (which reflect our best assessment of 
the future taxes we will pay) based on the differences between the book basis and tax basis of assets and liabilities. 
Deferred tax assets represent items to be used as a tax deduction or credit in future tax returns while deferred tax liabilit ies 
represent items that will result in additional tax in future tax returns. 

Significant judgments and estimates are required in determining our deferred tax assets and liabilities. These estimates are 
updated throughout the year to consider income tax return filings, our geographic mix of earnings, legislative changes and 
other relevant items. We are required to account for the effects of changes in income tax rates on deferred tax balances in 
the period in which the legislation is enacted. 

Each quarter we analyze the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be realized. Realization of the deferred tax assets 
ultimately depends on the existence of sufficient taxable income of the appropriate character in either the carryback or 
carryforward period. A valuation allowance is recorded if, based on the weight of all available positive and negative 
evidence, it is more likely than not (a likelihood of more than 50%) that some portion, or all, of a deferred tax asset will not 
be realized. A summary of our deferred tax assets is included in Note 9 “Income Taxes” in Item 8 “Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data.” 
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LIABILITY FOR UNRECOGNIZED TAX BENEFITS 
We recognize a tax benefit associated with a tax position when we judge it is more likely than not that the position will be 
sustained based upon the technical merits of the position. For a tax position that meets the more likely than not recognition 
threshold, we measure the income tax benefit as the largest amount that we judge to have a greater than 50% likelihood of 
being realized. A liability is established for the unrecognized portion of any tax position. Our liability for unrecognized tax 
benefits is adjusted periodically due to changing circumstances, such as the progress of tax audits, case law developments 
and new or emerging legislation. 

Generally, we are not subject to significant changes in income taxes by any taxing jurisdiction for the years before 2015. 
While it is often difficult to predict the final outcome or the timing of resolution of any particular tax matter, we believe our 
liability for unrecognized tax benefits is appropriate. 

We consider a tax position to be resolved at the earlier of the issue being “effectively settled,” settlement of an examination, 
or the expiration of the statute of limitations. Upon resolution of a tax position, any liability for unrecognized tax benefits will 
be released. 

Our liability for unrecognized tax benefits is generally presented as noncurrent. However, if we anticipate paying cash within 
one year to settle an uncertain tax position, the liability is presented as current. We classify interest and penalties associated 
with our liability for unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense. 

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 
For a discussion of accounting standards recently adopted or pending adoption and the effect such accounting changes will 
have on our results of operations, financial position or liquidity, see Note 1 “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” in 
Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” under the caption New Accounting Standards. 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 
The foregoing discussion and analysis, as well as certain information contained elsewhere in this Annual Report, contain 
“forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E 
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and are intended to be covered by the safe harbor created thereby. 
See the discussion in Safe Harbor Statement under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 in Part I, above. 
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ITEM 7A 
QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 

MARKET RISK 
We are exposed to certain market risks arising from transactions that are entered into in the normal course of business. To 
manage these market risks, we may use derivative financial instruments. We do not enter into derivative financial 
instruments for speculative or trading purposes. 

As discussed in the Liquidity and Financial Resources section of Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” we actively manage our capital structure and resources to balance the cost 
of capital and risk of financial stress. Such activity includes balancing the cost and risk of interest expense. In addition to 
floating-rate borrowings, we at times use interest rate swaps to manage the mix of fixed-rate and floating-rate debt. Over 
time, our EBITDA and operating income are positively correlated to floating interest rates (as measured by 3-month LIBOR). 
As such, our business serves as a natural hedge to rising interest rates, and floating-rate debt serves as a natural hedge 
against weaker operating results due to general economic weakness. 

At December 31, 2018, the estimated fair value of our long-term debt including current maturities was $2,695.8 million 
compared to a book value of $2,779.4 million. The estimated fair value was determined by averaging several asking price 
quotes for the publicly traded notes and assuming par value for the remainder of the debt. The fair value estimate is based 
on information available as of the balance sheet date. The effect of a decline in interest rates of one percentage point would 
increase the fair value of our debt by approximately $236.1 million. 

We are exposed to certain economic risks related to the costs of our pension and other postretirement benefit plans. These 
economic risks include changes in the discount rate for high-quality bonds and the expected return on plan assets. The 
impact of a change in these assumptions on our annual pension and other postretirement benefits costs is discussed in 
greater detail within the Critical Accounting Policies section of this Annual Report. 
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ITEM 8 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 
To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of Vulcan Materials Company: 

Opinion on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Vulcan Materials Company and subsidiaries (the 
“Company”) as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the related consolidated statements of comprehensive income, equity, and 
cash flows, for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018, and the related notes (collectively referred 
to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Company as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of 
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. 

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
(PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on the criteria established 
in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission and our report dated February 26, 2019 expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company's internal control 
over financial reporting. 

Basis for Opinion 

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and 
are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the 
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, 
whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures 
included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits 
also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our 
opinion. 

 

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP 
Birmingham, Alabama 
February 26, 2019 
 
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1956. 
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VULCAN MATERIALS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 

        

 2018   2017  2016 
For the years ended December 31       
in thousands, except per share data       

Total revenues $      4,382,869    $    3,890,296    $    3,592,667  
Cost of revenues  3,281,924     2,896,783     2,603,782  
   Gross profit  1,100,945     993,513     988,885  
Selling, administrative and general expenses  333,371     324,972     316,769  
Gain on sale of property, plant & equipment and businesses  14,944     17,827     15,431  
Other operating expense, net  (34,805)    (47,324)    (21,645) 
   Operating earnings  747,713     639,044     665,902  
Other nonoperating income, net  13,000     13,357     14,624  
Interest income  554     4,437     807  
Interest expense  137,977     295,522     134,076  
Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes  623,290     361,316     547,257  
Income tax expense (benefit)         
   Current  40,516     354     94,254  
   Deferred  64,933     (232,429)    30,597  
Total income tax expense (benefit)  105,449     (232,075)    124,851  
Earnings from continuing operations  517,841     593,391     422,406  
Earnings (loss) on discontinued operations, net of tax  (2,036)    7,794     (2,915) 
Net earnings $         515,805    $       601,185    $       419,491  

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax         
   Deferred gain on interest rate derivative  2,496     0     0  
   Amortization of prior interest rate derivative loss  226     1,862     1,194  
   Adjustment for funded status of benefit plans  (207)    (14,106)    (20,583) 
   Amortization of actuarial loss and prior service cost for benefit plans  4,365     2,154     82  
Other comprehensive income (loss)  6,880     (10,090)    (19,307) 
Comprehensive income $         522,685    $       591,095    $       400,184  

Basic earnings (loss) per share         
   Continuing operations  $               3.91    $             4.48    $             3.17  
   Discontinued operations  (0.01)    0.06     (0.02) 
   Net earnings $               3.90    $             4.54    $             3.15  

Diluted earnings (loss) per share         
   Continuing operations  $               3.87    $             4.40    $             3.11  
   Discontinued operations  (0.02)    0.06     (0.02) 
  Net earnings $               3.85    $             4.46    $             3.09  

Weighted-average common shares outstanding          
  Basic  132,393     132,513     133,205  

   Assuming dilution  133,926     134,878     135,790  

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.   
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VULCAN MATERIALS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
 

     

 2018   2017 
As of December 31    
in thousands      

Assets      
Cash and cash equivalents  $         40,037    $       141,646  
Restricted cash  4,367     5,000  
Accounts and notes receivable      
  Customers, less allowance for doubtful accounts      
    2018 — $2,090; 2017 — $2,649  512,279     434,089  
  Other  28,499     154,248  

Inventories  429,330     384,338  
Other current assets  64,633     60,780  
Total current assets  1,079,145     1,180,101  
Investments and long-term receivables  44,615     35,115  
Property, plant & equipment, net  4,237,307     3,918,931  
Goodwill  3,165,396     3,122,321  
Other intangible assets, net  1,095,378     1,063,630  
Other noncurrent assets   210,289     184,793  
Total assets $    9,832,130    $    9,504,891  
Liabilities      
Current maturities of long-term debt  23     41,383  
Short-term debt  133,000     0  
Trade payables and accruals  216,473     197,335  
Accrued salaries, wages and management incentives  91,960     87,208  
Accrued interest  19,631     11,664  
Other current liabilities  141,463     105,282  
Total current liabilities  602,550     442,872  
Long-term debt  2,779,357     2,813,482  
Deferred income taxes, net  567,283     464,081  
Deferred management incentive and other compensation  16,604     19,856  
Pension benefits  119,587     245,449  
Other postretirement benefits  35,274     37,856 
Asset retirement obligations  225,726     218,117 
Deferred revenue  186,397     191,476 
Other noncurrent liabilities  96,449     102,809  
Total liabilities $    4,629,227    $    4,535,998  
Other commitments and contingencies (Note 12)      
Equity      
Common stock, $1 par value, Authorized 480,000 shares,      
  Outstanding 131,762 and 132,324 shares, respectively  131,762     132,324  

Capital in excess of par value  2,798,486     2,805,587  
Retained earnings  2,444,870     2,180,448  
Accumulated other comprehensive loss  (172,215)    (149,466) 
Total equity  5,202,903     4,968,893 
Total liabilities and equity $    9,832,130    $    9,504,891  

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.   
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VULCAN MATERIALS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
 

        

 2018   2017   2016 
For the years ended December 31         
in thousands         

Operating Activities         
Net earnings $       515,805    $       601,185   $       419,491 
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating activities         
  Depreciation, depletion, accretion and amortization  346,246     305,965     284,940  
  Net gain on sale of property, plant & equipment and businesses  (14,944)    (17,827)    (15,431) 
  Contributions to pension plans  (109,631)    (20,023)    (9,576) 
  Share-based compensation expense  25,215     26,635     20,670  
  Deferred tax expense (benefit)  64,639     (235,697)    33,591  
  Cost of debt purchase  6,922     140,772     0  
 (Increase) decrease in assets excluding the initial effects of business          

     acquisitions and dispositions         
       Accounts and notes receivable  63,230     (81,561)    (72,763) 
       Inventories  (34,976)    (14,121)    1,625  
       Prepaid expenses  (2,167)    (28,445)    2,558  
       Other assets  (58,489)    (23,759)    (18,236) 
   Increase (decrease) in liabilities excluding the initial effects of business         
      acquisitions and dispositions         
       Accrued interest and income taxes  12,148     1,303     (7,187) 
       Trade payables and other accruals  40,181     9,823     30,353  
       Other noncurrent liabilities  (26,901)    (32,592)    (29,138) 
Other, net  5,499     13,020     3,691  
Net cash provided by operating activities $       832,777    $       644,678    $       644,588  
Investing Activities         
Purchases of property, plant & equipment  (469,088)    (459,566)    (350,148) 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment  22,210     15,756     23,318  
Proceeds from sale of businesses  11,256     287,292     0  
Payment for businesses acquired, net of acquired cash  (221,419)    (1,109,725)    (32,537) 
Other, net  (12,850)    (3,248)    2,173  
Net cash used for investing activities $     (669,891)   $  (1,269,491)   $     (357,194) 
Financing Activities         
Proceeds from short-term debt  739,900     5,000     3,000  
Payment of short-term debt  (606,900)    (5,000)    (3,000) 
Payment of current maturities and long-term debt  (892,055)    (1,463,308)    (130) 
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt  850,000     2,200,000     0  
Debt issuance and exchange costs  (45,513)    (15,291)    (1,860) 
Settlements of interest rate derivatives  3,378     0     0  
Purchases of common stock  (133,983)    (60,303)    (161,463) 
Dividends paid  (148,109)    (132,335)    (106,333) 
Share-based compensation, shares withheld for taxes  (31,846)    (25,323)    (34,799) 
Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities $     (265,128)   $       503,440    $     (304,585) 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash  (102,242)    (121,373)    (17,191) 
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year  146,646     268,019    285,210 
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of year $         44,404    $       146,646    $       268,019  

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.   
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VULCAN MATERIALS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY 
 

              

        Accumulated  
     Capital in    Other  

Common Stock   Excess of  Retained  Comprehensive     
in thousands Shares Amount   Par Value  Earnings  Income (Loss) Total 

Balances at December 31, 2015  133,172   $    133,172    $    2,822,578   $    1,618,507   $     (120,069)   $    4,454,188  
Net earnings  0    0     0    419,491    0     419,491  
Share-based compensation plans,                
 net of shares withheld for taxes  594    594     (35,363)   0    0     (34,769) 
Purchase and retirement of               
 common stock  (1,427)   (1,427)    0    (160,036)   0     (161,463) 
Share-based compensation expense  0    0     20,670    0    0     20,670  
Cash dividends on common stock  0    0     0    (106,333)   0     (106,333) 
Other comprehensive loss  0    0     0    0    (19,307)    (19,307) 
Other  0    0     110    (111)   0     (1) 
Balances at December 31, 2016  132,339   $    132,339    $    2,807,995   $    1,771,518   $     (139,376)   $    4,572,476  
Net earnings  0    0     0    601,185    0     601,185  
Share-based compensation plans,               
 net of shares withheld for taxes  495    495     (29,168)   0    0     (28,673) 
Purchase and retirement of               
 common stock  (510)   (510)    0    (59,793)   0     (60,303) 
Share-based compensation expense  0    0     26,635    0    0     26,635  
Cash dividends on common stock  0    0     0    (132,335)   0     (132,335) 
Other comprehensive loss  0    0     0    0    (10,090)    (10,090) 
Other  0    0     125    (127)   0     (2) 
Balances at December 31, 2017  132,324   $    132,324    $    2,805,587   $    2,180,448   $     (149,466)   $    4,968,893  
Released stranded tax effects               
 ASU 2018-02 (Note 9)  0    0     0    29,629    (29,629)    0  
Balances at January 1, 2018, due to               
 reclassification  132,324   $    132,324    $    2,805,587   $    2,210,077   $     (179,095)   $    4,968,893  
Net earnings  0    0     0    515,805    0     515,805  
Share-based compensation plans,                
 net of shares withheld for taxes  630    630     (32,428)   0    0     (31,798) 
Purchase and retirement of               
 common stock  (1,192)   (1,192)    0    (132,791)   0     (133,983) 
Share-based compensation expense  0    0     25,215    0    0     25,215  
Cash dividends on common stock  0    0     0    (148,109)   0     (148,109) 
Other comprehensive income  0    0     0    0    6,880     6,880  
Other  0    0     112    (112)   0     0  
Balances at December 31, 2018  131,762   $    131,762    $    2,798,486   $    2,444,870   $     (172,215)   $    5,202,903  
The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements. 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

NATURE OF OPERATIONS 
Vulcan Materials Company (the “Company,” “Vulcan,” “we,” “our”), a New Jersey corporation, is the nation's largest supplier 
of construction aggregates (primarily crushed stone, sand and gravel) and a major producer of asphalt mix and ready-mixed 
concrete. 

We operate primarily in the United States and our principal product — aggregates — is used in virtually all types of public 
and private construction projects and in the production of asphalt mix and ready-mixed concrete. We serve markets in 
twenty states, Washington D.C., and the local markets surrounding our operations in Mexico and the Bahamas. Our primary 
focus is serving metropolitan markets in the United States that are expected to experience the most significant growth in 
population, households and employment. These three demographic factors are significant drivers of demand for aggregates. 
While aggregates is our focus and primary business, we produce and sell asphalt mix and/or ready-mixed concrete in our 
Alabama, mid-Atlantic, Southwestern, Tennessee and Western markets. 

Due to the 2005 sale of our Chemicals business as described below, the results of the Chemicals business are presented as 
discontinued operations in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income. 

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 
In 2005, we sold substantially all the assets of our Chemicals business to Basic Chemicals, a subsidiary of Occidental 
Chemical Corporation. The financial results of the Chemicals business are classified as discontinued operations in the 
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for all periods presented. Results from discontinued 
operations are as follows: 
         

in thousands 2018   2017   2016  

Discontinued Operations         
Pretax earnings (loss) $        (2,748)   $       12,959   $        (4,877) 
Income tax (expense) benefit  712     (5,165)   1,962  

Earnings (loss) on discontinued operations,         
  net of tax $        (2,036)   $         7,794   $        (2,915) 
 
Discontinued operations include charges related to general and product liability costs, including legal defense costs, and 
environmental remediation costs associated with our former Chemicals business. The 2017 results also reflect insurance 
recoveries for past legal expenses associated with the Texas Brine matter (see Note 12). There were no revenues from 
discontinued operations for the years presented. 

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Vulcan Materials Company and all our majority or 
wholly-owned subsidiary companies. Partially-owned affiliates are either consolidated or accounted for at cost or as equity 
investments depending on the level of ownership interest or our ability to exercise control over the affiliates’ operations. Al l 
intercompany transactions and accounts have been eliminated in consolidation. 
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USE OF ESTIMATES IN THE PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted (GAAP) in the 
United States of America requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
revenues and expenses, and the related disclosures of contingent assets and contingent liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements. We evaluate these estimates and judgments on an ongoing basis and base our estimates on historical 
experience, current conditions and various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
The results of these estimates form the basis for our judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities as well as 
identifying and assessing the accounting treatment with respect to commitments and contingencies. Actual results may differ 
materially from these estimates. The most significant estimates included in the preparation of these financial statements are 
related to goodwill and long-lived asset impairments, business combinations and purchase price allocation, pension and 
other postretirement benefits, environmental compliance, claims and litigation including self-insurance, and income taxes. 

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 
We account for business combinations under the acquisition method of accounting. The purchase price of an acquisition is 
allocated to the underlying identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their respective fair values. The 
purchase price is determined based on the fair value of consideration transferred to and liabilities assumed from the seller 
as of the date of acquisition. We allocate the purchase price to the fair values of the tangible and identifiable intangible 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the date of acquisition. Goodwill is recorded for the excess of the purchase 
price over the net of the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 

Determining the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed requires judgment and often involves the use of 
significant estimates and assumptions. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction, and therefore represents an exit price. A fair value measurement assumes the highest and 
best use of the asset by market participants. 

We may adjust the amounts recognized in an acquisition during a measurement period after the acquisition date. Any such 
adjustments are the result of subsequently obtaining additional information that existed at the acquisition date regarding the 
assets acquired or the liabilities assumed. Measurement period adjustments are generally recorded as increases or 
decreases to goodwill, if any, recognized in the transaction. The cumulative impact of measurement period adjustments on 
depreciation, amortization and other income statement items are recognized in the period the adjustment is determined. 

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS 
The U.S. dollar is the functional currency for all of our operations. For our non-U.S. subsidiaries, local currency inventories 
and long-term assets such as property, plant & equipment and intangibles are remeasured into U.S. dollars at approximate 
rates prevailing when acquired; all other assets and liabilities are remeasured at year-end exchange rates. Inventories 
charged to cost of sales and depreciation are remeasured at historical rates; all other income and expense items are 
remeasured at average exchange rates prevailing during the year. Gains and losses which result from remeasurement are 
included in earnings and are not material for the years presented. 

CASH EQUIVALENTS 
We classify as cash equivalents all highly liquid securities with a maturity of three months or less at the time of purchase. 
The carrying amount of these securities approximates fair value due to their short-term maturities. 

RESTRICTED CASH 

Restricted cash consists of cash proceeds from the sale of property held in escrow for the acquisition of replacement 
property under like-kind exchange agreements and cash reserved by other contractual agreements (such as asset purchase 
agreements) for a specified purpose and therefore not available for use in our operations. The escrow accounts are 
administered by an intermediary. Cash restricted pursuant to like-kind exchange agreements remains restricted for a 
maximum of 180 days from the date of the property sale pending the acquisition of replacement property. Restricted cash is 
included with cash and cash equivalents in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. 
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ACCOUNTS AND NOTES RECEIVABLE 
Accounts and notes receivable from customers result from our extending credit to trade customers for the purchase of our 
products. The terms generally provide for payment within 15 days of the month following invoice. On occasion, when 
necessary to conform to regional industry practices, we sell product under extended payment terms, which may result in 
either secured or unsecured short-term notes; or, on occasion, notes with durations of less than one year are taken in 
settlement of existing accounts receivable. Other accounts and notes receivable result from short-term transactions (less 
than one year) other than the sale of our products, such as interest receivable; insurance claims; freight claims; tax refund 
claims; bid deposits or rents receivable. As of December 31, 2018, income tax receivables of $922,000 are included in other 
accounts and notes receivable in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet. There were similar receivables of 
$106,980,000 ($106,000,000 related to 2017 federal estimated payments which were refunded early 2018) as of December 
31, 2017. 

Receivables are aged and appropriate allowances for doubtful accounts and bad debt expense are recorded. Bad debt expense 
(net of recoveries) for the years ended December 31 was as follows: 2018 — $251,000, 2017 — $812,000 and 2016 — 
$(1,190,000). Write-offs of accounts receivables for the years ended December 31 were as follows: 2018 — $1,291,000, 2017 
— $1,384,000 and 2016 — $1,544,000. The bad debt recovery in 2016 relates to the collection of previously reserved 
receivables primarily attributable to the 2014 sale of our Florida area concrete and cement businesses. 

INVENTORIES 
Inventories and supplies are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. We use the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method of 
valuation for most of our inventories because it results in a better matching of costs with revenues. Such costs include fuel, 
parts and supplies, raw materials, direct labor and production overhead. An actual valuation of inventory under the LIFO 
method can be made only at the end of each year based on the inventory levels and costs at that time. Accordingly, interim 
LIFO calculations are based on our estimates of expected year-end inventory levels and costs and are subject to the final 
year-end LIFO inventory valuation. Substantially all operating supplies inventory is carried at average cost. For additional 
information about our inventories see Note 3. 

PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT 
Property, plant & equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization. The cost of 
properties held under capital leases, if any, is equal to the lower of the net present value of the minimum lease payments or 
the fair value of the leased property at the inception of the lease. 

Capitalized software costs of $4,155,000 and $4,446,000 are reflected in net property, plant & equipment as of December 
31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. We capitalized software costs for the years ended December 31 as follows: 2018 — 
$2,213,000, 2017 — $1,988,000 and 2016 — $152,000. 

For additional information about our property, plant & equipment see Note 4. 

REPAIR AND MAINTENANCE 
Repair and maintenance costs generally are charged to operating expense as incurred. Renewals and betterments that add 
materially to the utility or useful lives of property, plant & equipment are capitalized and subsequently depreciated. Actual 
costs for planned major maintenance activities, related primarily to periodic overhauls on our oceangoing vessels, are 
capitalized and amortized to the next overhaul. 
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DEPRECIATION, DEPLETION, ACCRETION AND AMORTIZATION 
Depreciation is generally computed by the straight-line method at rates based on the estimated service lives of the various 
classes of assets, which include machinery and equipment (3 to 35 years), buildings (7 to 20 years) and land improvements 
(8 to 20 years). Capitalized software costs are included in machinery and equipment and are depreciated on a straight-line 
basis beginning when the software project is substantially complete. 

Cost depletion on depletable land is computed by the unit-of-sales method based on estimated recoverable units. 

Accretion reflects the period-to-period increase in the carrying amount of the liability for asset retirement obligations. It is 
computed using the same credit-adjusted, risk-free rate used to initially measure the liability at fair value. 

Leaseholds are amortized over varying periods not in excess of applicable lease terms or estimated useful lives. 

Amortization of intangible assets subject to amortization is computed based on the estimated life of the intangible assets. 
A significant portion of our intangible assets is contractual rights in place associated with zoning, permitting and other r ights 
to access and extract aggregates reserves. Contractual rights in place associated with aggregates reserves are amortized 
using the unit-of-sales method based on estimated recoverable units. Other intangible assets are amortized principally by 
the straight-line method. 

Depreciation, depletion, accretion and amortization expense for the years ended December 31 is outlined below: 
 
         

in thousands 2018   2017   2016  

Depreciation, Depletion, Accretion and Amortization         
Depreciation $      276,814    $     250,835   $     238,237  
Depletion  23,260     19,342    17,812  
Accretion  10,776     11,415    11,059  
Amortization of leaseholds  472     608    267  
Amortization of intangibles  34,924     23,765    17,565  

Total $      346,246    $     305,965   $     284,940  
 

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS 
During the normal course of operations, we are exposed to market risks including interest rates, foreign currency exchange 
rates and commodity prices. From time to time, and consistent with our risk management policies, we use derivative 
instruments to balance the cost and risk of such expenses. We do not use derivative instruments for trading or other 
speculative purposes. 

The accounting for gains and losses that result from changes in the fair value of derivative instruments depends on whether 
the derivatives have been designated and qualify as hedging instruments and the type of hedging relationship. Changes in 
the fair value of interest rate swap cash flow hedges are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) and 
are reclassified into interest expense in the same period the hedged items affect earnings. Changes in the fair value of 
interest rate swap fair value hedges are recorded as interest expense consistent with the change in the fair value of the 
hedged items attributable to the risk being hedged. Additional disclosures about our derivative instruments are presented in 
Note 5. 
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques 
used to measure fair value into three broad levels as described below: 

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
Level 2: Inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data 
Level 3: Inputs that are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement 

Our assets at December 31 subject to fair value measurement on a recurring basis are summarized below: 
 

       

   Level 1 Fair Value 
in thousands 2018  2017 

Fair Value Recurring      
Rabbi Trust      
   Mutual funds $       19,164    $     20,348   
Total $       19,164    $     20,348   
 
        

   Level 2 Fair Value 
in thousands 2018  2017 

Fair Value Recurring      
Rabbi Trust      
   Money market mutual fund $        1,015    $       1,203   
Total $        1,015    $       1,203   
 
We have two Rabbi Trusts for the purpose of providing a level of security for the employee nonqualified retirement and 
deferred compensation plans and for the directors' nonqualified deferred compensation plans. The fair values of these 
investments are estimated using a market approach. The Level 1 investments include mutual funds and equity securities for 
which quoted prices in active markets are available. Level 2 investments are stated at estimated fair value based on the 
underlying investments in the fund (short-term, highly liquid assets in commercial paper, short-term bonds and certificates of 
deposit). 

Net gains (losses) of the Rabbi Trusts’ investments were $(2,741,000), $2,441,000 and $2,741,000 for the years ended 
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The portions of the net gains (losses) related to investments still held by 
the Rabbi Trusts at December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 were $(4,386,000), $(3,618,000) and $1,599,000, respectively. 

The carrying values of our cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts and notes receivable, short-term debt, trade payables 
and accruals, and all other current liabilities approximate their fair values because of the short-term nature of these 
instruments. Additional disclosures for derivative instruments and interest-bearing debt are presented in Notes 5 and 6, 
respectively. 
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GOODWILL IMPAIRMENT 
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of net assets acquired in business combinations over the fair value of the 
identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination. Goodwill impairment 
exists when the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. As of December 31, 2018, goodwill totaled 
$3,165,396,000, as compared to $3,122,321,000 at December 31, 2017. Goodwill represents 32% of total assets at 
December 31, 2018 compared to 33% at December 31, 2017. 

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually, as of November 1, or more frequently whenever events or changes in 
circumstances would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying amount. Goodwill is 
tested for impairment at the reporting unit level, one level below our operating segments. We have four operating segments 
organized around our principal product lines: Aggregates, Asphalt, Concrete and Calcium. Within these four operating 
segments, we have identified 17 reporting units (of which 9 carry goodwill) based primarily on geographic location. We have 
the option of either assessing qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the carrying value of our 
reporting units exceeds their respective fair value or proceeding directly to a quantitative test. We elected to perform the 
quantitative impairment test for all years presented. 

The quantitative impairment test compares the fair value of a reporting unit to its carrying value, including goodwill. I f the fair 
value exceeds its carrying value, the goodwill of the reporting unit is not considered impaired. However, if the carrying value 
of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, we recognize an impairment loss equal to that excess. 

The results of the annual impairment tests performed as of November 1, 2018, 2017 and 2016 indicated that the fair values 
of all reporting units with goodwill substantially exceeded their carrying values. Accordingly, there were no charges for 
goodwill impairment in the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 or 2016. 

We estimate the fair values of the reporting units using both an income approach (which involves discounting estimated 
future cash flows) and a market approach (which involves the application of revenue and EBITDA multiples of comparable 
companies). Determining the fair value of our reporting units involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions and 
considerable management judgment. We base our fair value estimates on assumptions we believe to be reasonable at the 
time, but such assumptions are subject to inherent uncertainty and actual results may differ. Changes in key assumptions or 
management judgment with respect to a reporting unit or its prospects, which may result from a change in market 
conditions, market trends, interest rates or other factors outside of our control, or underperformance relative to historical or 
projected operating results, could result in a significantly different estimate of the fair value of our reporting units, which 
could result in an impairment charge in the future. 

For additional information about goodwill see Note 18. 

IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS EXCLUDING GOODWILL 
We evaluate the carrying value of long-lived assets, including intangible assets subject to amortization, when events and 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. The carrying value of long-lived assets is considered 
impaired when the estimated undiscounted cash flows from such assets are less than their carrying value. In that event, we 
recognize a loss equal to the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value. Fair value is determined primarily 
by using a discounted cash flow methodology that requires considerable judgment and assumptions. Our estimate of net 
future cash flows is based on historical experience and assumptions of future trends, which may be different from actual 
results. We periodically review the appropriateness of the estimated useful lives of our long-lived assets. 

We test long-lived assets for impairment at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the 
cash flows of other assets. As a result, our long-lived asset impairment test is at a significantly lower level than the level at 
which we test goodwill for impairment. In markets where we do not produce downstream products (e.g., asphalt mix and 
ready-mixed concrete), the lowest level of largely independent identifiable cash flows is at the individual aggregates 
operation or a group of aggregates operations collectively serving a local market. Conversely, in vertically integrated 
markets, the cash flows of our downstream and upstream businesses are not largely independently identifiable as the selling 
price of the upstream products (aggregates) determines the profitability of the downstream business. 
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As of December 31, 2018, net property, plant & equipment represents 43% of total assets, while net other intangible assets 
represents 11% of total assets. During 2018 and 2017, we recorded no losses on impairment of long-lived assets. During 
2016, we recorded a $10,506,000 loss on impairment of long-lived assets resulting from the termination of a nonstrategic 
aggregates lease and the write off of nonrecoverable project costs related to two Aggregates segment capital projects that 
we no longer intend to complete. 

For additional information about long-lived assets and intangible assets see Notes 4 and 18. 

STRIPPING COSTS 
In the mining industry, the costs of removing overburden and waste materials to access mineral deposits are referred to as 
stripping costs. 

Stripping costs incurred during the production phase are considered costs of extracted minerals under our inventory costing 
system, inventoried, and recognized in cost of sales in the same period as the revenue from the sale of the inventory. The 
production stage is deemed to begin when the activities, including removal of overburden and waste material that may 
contain incidental saleable material, required to access the saleable product are complete. Stripping costs considered as 
production costs and included in the costs of inventory produced were $78,911,000 in 2018, $65,944,000 in 2017 and 
$55,987,000 in 2016. 

Conversely, stripping costs incurred during the development stage of a mine (pre-production stripping) are excluded from 
our inventory cost. Pre-production stripping costs are capitalized and reported within other noncurrent assets in our 
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. Capitalized pre-production stripping costs are expensed over the productive 
life of the mine using the unit-of-sales method. Pre-production stripping costs included in other noncurrent assets were 
$95,800,000 as of December 31, 2018 and $81,241,000 as of December 31, 2017. This year-over-year increase resulted 
primarily from the removal of overburden at a greenfield site in California. 

RECLAMATION COSTS 
Reclamation costs resulting from normal use of long-lived assets are recognized over the period the asset is in use when 
there is a legal obligation to incur these costs upon retirement of the assets. Additionally, reclamation costs resulting from 
normal use under a mineral lease are recognized over the lease term when there is a legal obligation to incur these costs 
upon expiration of the lease. The obligation, which cannot be reduced by estimated offsetting cash flows, is recorded at fair 
value as a liability at the obligating event date and is accreted through charges to operating expenses. This fair value is also 
capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the underlying asset and depreciated over the estimated useful life of the asset. 
If the obligation is settled for other than the carrying amount of the liability, a gain or loss is recognized on settlement. 

To determine the fair value of the obligation, we estimate the cost (including a reasonable profit margin) for a third party to 
perform the legally required reclamation tasks. This cost is then increased for both future estimated inflation and an estimated 
market risk premium related to the estimated years to settlement. Once calculated, this cost is discounted to fair value using 
present value techniques with a credit-adjusted, risk-free rate commensurate with the estimated years to settlement. 

In estimating the settlement date, we evaluate the current facts and conditions to determine the most likely settlement date. 
If this evaluation identifies alternative estimated settlement dates, we use a weighted-average settlement date considering 
the probabilities of each alternative. 

We review reclamation obligations at least annually for a revision to the cost or a change in the estimated settlement date. 
Additionally, reclamation obligations are reviewed in the period that a triggering event occurs that would result in either a 
revision to the cost or a change in the estimated settlement date. Examples of events that would trigger a change in the cost 
include a new reclamation law or amendment of an existing mineral lease. Examples of events that would trigger a change 
in the estimated settlement date include the acquisition of additional reserves or the closure of a facility. 

The carrying value of these obligations was $225,726,000 as of December 31, 2018 and $218,117,000 as of December 31, 
2017. For additional information about reclamation obligations (referred to in our financial statements as asset retirement 
obligations) see Note 17. 



 

Part II 75 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE 
Our environmental compliance costs are undiscounted and include the cost of ongoing monitoring programs, the cost of 
remediation efforts and other similar costs. We accrue costs for environmental assessment and remediation efforts when we 
determine that a liability is probable and we can reasonably estimate the cost. At the early stages of a remediation effort, 
environmental remediation liabilities are not easily quantified due to the uncertainties of various factors. The range of an 
estimated remediation liability is defined and redefined as events in the remediation effort occur, but generally liabilities are 
recognized no later than the completion of the remedial feasibility study. 

When we can estimate a range of probable loss, we accrue the most likely amount. If no amount in the range of probable 
loss is considered most likely, the minimum loss in the range is accrued. As of December 31, 2018, the spread between the 
amount accrued and the maximum loss in the range for all sites for which a range can be reasonably estimated was 
$3,105,000 — this amount does not represent our maximum exposure to loss for all environmental remediation obligations 
as it excludes those sites for which a range of loss cannot be reasonably estimated at this time. Accrual amounts may be 
based on technical cost estimations or the professional judgment of experienced environmental managers. Our Safety, 
Health and Environmental Affairs Management Committee routinely reviews cost estimates and key assumptions in 
response to new information, such as the kinds and quantities of hazardous substances, available technologies and 
changes to the parties participating in the remediation efforts. However, a number of factors, including adverse agency 
rulings and encountering unanticipated conditions as remediation efforts progress, may cause actual results to differ 
materially from accrued costs. 

For additional information about environmental compliance costs see Note 8. 

CLAIMS AND LITIGATION INCLUDING SELF-INSURANCE 
We are involved with claims and litigation, including items covered under our self-insurance program. We are self-insured for 
losses related to workers' compensation up to $2,000,000 per occurrence and automotive and general/product liability up to 
$3,000,000 per occurrence. We have excess coverage on a per occurrence basis beyond these retention levels. 

Under our self-insurance program, we aggregate certain claims and litigation costs that are reasonably predictable based on 
our historical loss experience and accrue losses, including future legal defense costs, based on actuarial studies. Certain 
claims and litigation costs, due to their unique nature, are not included in our actuarial studies. We use both internal and 
outside legal counsel to assess the probability of loss, and establish an accrual when the claims and litigation represent a 
probable loss and the cost can be reasonably estimated. For matters not included in our actuarial studies, legal defense 
costs are accrued when incurred. The following table outlines our self-insurance program at December 31: 
 
      

dollars in thousands 2018   2017  

Self-insurance Program      
Self-insured liabilities (undiscounted) $        68,912    $       58,216  
Insured liabilities (undiscounted)  4,377     7,892  
Discount rate 2.93%   1.93% 
Amounts Recognized in Consolidated      
 Balance Sheets      

Other accounts and notes receivable $             631    $         6,158  
Investments and long-term receivables  3,932     7,246  
Other current liabilities  (18,466)    (20,036) 
Other noncurrent liabilities  (48,049)    (41,792) 
Net liabilities (discounted) $       (61,952)   $     (48,424) 
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Estimated payments (undiscounted and excluding the impact of related receivables) under our self-insurance program for 
the five years subsequent to December 31, 2018 are as follows: 
 

  

in thousands   

Estimated Payments under Self-insurance Program   
2019 $        20,529   
2020  15,232   
2021  11,615   
2022  6,360   
2023  3,665   
 
Significant judgment is used in determining the timing and amount of the accruals for probable losses, and the actual liability 
could differ materially from the accrued amounts. 

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION 
All of our share-based compensation awards are classified as equity awards. We measure share-based compensation 
awards using fair-value-based measurement methods. This results in the recognition of compensation expense for all share-
based compensation awards based on their fair value as of the grant date. Compensation cost is recognized over the 
requisite service period. Forfeitures are recognized as they occur. 

A summary of the estimated future compensation cost (unrecognized compensation expense) as of December 31, 2018 
related to share-based awards granted to employees under our long-term incentive plans is presented below: 
 
       

  Unrecognized   Expected 
  Compensation   Weighted-average 
dollars in thousands Expense   Recognition (Years) 

Share-based Compensation    
SOSARs 1 $          3,376     1.4  
Performance shares  14,250     1.6  
Restricted shares  6,098     1.7  
Total/weighted-average $        23,724     1.6  
 

1 Stock-Only Stock Appreciation Rights (SOSARs) 
 
Pretax compensation expense related to our employee share-based compensation awards and related income tax benefits 
for the years ended December 31 are summarized below: 
 

        

in thousands 2018   2017   2016  

Employee Share-based Compensation Awards         
Pretax compensation expense $        23,250    $       24,367   $       17,823  
Income tax benefits  5,940     6,226    6,925  
 
We receive an income tax deduction for share-based compensation equal to the excess of the market value of our common 
stock on the date of exercise or issuance over the exercise price. Tax benefits resulting from tax deductions in excess of the 
compensation cost recognized (excess tax benefits) are reflected as discrete income tax benefits in the period of exercise or 
issuance. Net excess tax benefits were recorded as reductions to our income tax expense and reflected as operating cash 
flows, as follows (combined federal and state): 2018 — $20,137,000; 2017  — $22,962,000; and 2016  — $24,847,000. 

For additional information about share-based compensation, see Note 11 under the caption Share-based Compensation 
Plans. 
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PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS 
Accounting for pension and other postretirement benefits requires that we use assumptions for the valuation of projected 
benefit obligations (PBO) and the performance of plan assets. Each year, we review our assumptions for discount rates 
(used for PBO, service cost, and interest cost calculations) and the expected return on plan assets. Due to plan changes 
made in 2012 and 2013, annual pay increases and the per capita cost of healthcare benefits do not materially impact plan 
obligations. 

 DISCOUNT RATES — We use a high-quality bond full yield curve approach (specific spot rates for each annual expected 
cash flow) to establish the discount rates at each measurement date. See Note 10 for the discount rates used for PBO, 
service cost, and interest cost calculations. 

 EXPECTED RETURN ON PLAN ASSETS — Our expected return on plan assets is: (1) a long-term view based on our 
current asset allocation, and (2) a judgment informed by consultation with our retirement plans’ consultant and our 
pension plans’ actuary. For the year ended December 31, 2018, the expected return on plan assets remained at 7.0%. 

Accounting standards provide for the delayed recognition of differences between actual results and expected or estimated 
results. This delayed recognition of actual results allows for a smoothed recognition in earnings of changes in benefit 
obligations and asset performance. The differences between actual results and expected or estimated results are 
recognized in full in other comprehensive income. Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified to 
earnings in a systematic manner over the average remaining service period of participants for our active plans or the average 
remaining lifetime of participants for our inactive plans. 

For additional information about pension and other postretirement benefits see Note 10. 

INCOME TAXES 
We file federal, state and foreign income tax returns and account for the current and deferred tax effects of such returns 
using the asset and liability method. We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities (which reflect our best assessment of 
the future taxes we will pay) based on the differences between the book basis and tax basis of assets and liabilities. 
Deferred tax assets represent items to be used as a tax deduction or credit in future tax returns while deferred tax liabilities 
represent items that will result in additional tax in future tax returns. 

Significant judgments and estimates are required in determining our deferred tax assets and liabilities. These estimates are 
updated throughout the year to consider income tax return filings, our geographic mix of earnings, legislative changes and 
other relevant items. We are required to account for the effects of changes in income tax rates on deferred tax balances in 
the period in which the legislation is enacted. 

Each quarter we analyze the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be realized. Realization of the deferred tax assets 
ultimately depends on the existence of sufficient taxable income of the appropriate character in either the carryback or 
carryforward period. A valuation allowance is recorded if, based on the weight of all available positive and negative 
evidence, it is more likely than not (a likelihood of more than 50%) that some portion, or all, of a deferred tax asset will not 
be realized. A summary of our deferred tax assets is included in Note 9. 

U.S. income taxes are not provided on foreign earnings when such earnings are indefinitely reinvested offshore. At least 
annually, we evaluate our investment strategies for each foreign tax jurisdiction in which we operate to determine whether 
foreign earnings will be indefinitely reinvested offshore. 

We recognize a tax benefit associated with a tax position when, in our judgment, it is more likely than not that the position 
will be sustained based upon the technical merits of the position. For a tax position that meets the more likely than not 
recognition threshold, we measure the income tax benefit as the largest amount that we judge to have a greater than 50% 
likelihood of being realized. A liability is established for the unrecognized portion of any tax position. Our liability for 
unrecognized tax benefits is adjusted periodically due to changing circumstances, such as the progress of tax audits, case 
law developments and new or emerging legislation. 

Generally, we are not subject to significant changes in income taxes by any taxing jurisdiction for the years before 2015. 
While it is often difficult to predict the final outcome or the timing of resolution of any particular tax matter, we believe our 
liability for unrecognized tax benefits is appropriate. 
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We consider a tax position to be resolved at the earlier of the issue being “effectively settled,” settlement of an examination, 
or the expiration of the statute of limitations. Upon resolution of a tax position, any liability for unrecognized tax benefits will 
be released. 

Our liability for unrecognized tax benefits is generally presented as noncurrent. However, if we anticipate paying cash within 
one year to settle an uncertain tax position, the liability is presented as current. We classify interest and penalties associated 
with our liability for unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense. 

Our largest permanent item in computing both our taxable income and effective tax rate is the deduction allowed for 
statutory depletion. The impact of statutory depletion on the effective tax rate is presented in Note 9. The deduction for 
statutory depletion does not necessarily change proportionately to changes in pretax earnings. 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
We report comprehensive income in our Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income and Consolidated Statements 
of Equity. Comprehensive income comprises two subsets: net earnings and other comprehensive income (OCI). OCI 
includes fair value adjustments to cash flow hedges, as well as actuarial gains or losses and prior service costs related to 
pension and postretirement benefit plans. 

For additional information about comprehensive income see Note 14. 

EARNINGS PER SHARE (EPS) 
Earnings per share are computed by dividing net earnings by the weighted-average common shares outstanding (basic 
EPS) or weighted-average common shares outstanding assuming dilution (diluted EPS), as set forth below: 
 
         

in thousands 2018   2017   2016  

Weighted-average common shares outstanding  132,393     132,513    133,205  
Dilutive effect of         
   SOSARs  963     1,295    1,339  
   Other stock compensation plans  570     1,070    1,246  
Weighted-average common shares outstanding,         
  assuming dilution  133,926     134,878    135,790  
 
All dilutive common stock equivalents are reflected in our earnings per share calculations. In periods of loss, shares that 
otherwise would have been included in our diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding computation would be 
excluded. 

Antidilutive common stock equivalents are not included in our earnings per share calculations. The number of antidilutive 
common stock equivalents for which the exercise price exceeds the weighted-average market price for the years ended 
December 31 is as follows: 
 
         

in thousands 2018   2017   2016  

Antidilutive common stock equivalents 162   79  97 

RECLASSIFICATIONS 
Certain items previously reported in specific financial statement captions have been reclassified to conform with the 2018 
presentation. Refer below to Accounting Standards Recently Adopted (Presentation of Benefit Plan Costs) for the impact of 
reclassifying certain benefit costs from operating income to nonoperating income in our Statements of Comprehensive 
Income. 
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NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS RECENTLY ADOPTED 
RELEASING STRANDED TAX EFFECTS  During the fourth quarter of 2018, we adopted Accounting Standards Update 
(ASU) 2018-02, “Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income,” effective as of 
the beginning of the year. This ASU allowed us to reclassify $29,629,000 of stranded tax effects due to remeasuring certain 
deferred tax assets as a result of applying the TCJA enacted in December 2017 from accumulated other comprehensive 
income (AOCI) to retained earnings.  

PRESENTATION OF BENEFIT PLAN COSTS  During the first quarter of 2018, we adopted ASU 2017-07, “Improving the 
Presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost,” on a retrospective basis as 
required. This ASU changed the presentation of the net benefit cost in the income statement and limits benefit costs eligible 
for inventory capitalization to the service cost component (benefit costs capitalized in inventory are immaterial to our 
financial statements). We continue to present the service cost component of net benefit cost in cost of revenues and selling, 
administrative and general expense consistent with employee compensation costs. The other components of net benefit 
cost (credit) are now included in other nonoperating income. These other components were a net credit for all periods 
presented resulting in a decrease in operating earnings and an increase in other nonoperating income, as follows: 2018 — 
$16,539,000; 2017 — $8,102,000 and 2016 — $13,715,000. 

CLASSIFICATION AND MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS During the first quarter of 2018, we adopted 
ASU 2016-01, “Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities.” This ASU amends certain 
aspects of current guidance on the recognition, measurement and disclosure of financial instruments. Among other changes, 
this ASU requires most equity investments be measured at fair value. Additionally, the ASU eliminates the requirement to 
disclose the method and significant assumptions used to estimate the fair value for instruments not recognized at fair value 
in our financial statements. The adoption of this standard had no material impact on our consolidated financial statements. 

REVENUE RECOGNITION During the first quarter of 2018, we adopted ASU 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers” (ASC Topic 606). Topic 606 outlines a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue 
arising from contracts with customers and supersedes most current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-
specific guidance. Additionally, it provides a more robust framework for addressing revenue issues and expands required 
revenue recognition disclosures. We adopted this standard using the cumulative effect transition approach; however, 
because there was no change in the identified performance obligations under Topic 606 compared with the identification of 
deliverables and separate units of account under previous guidance (Topic 605), the amount and timing of our revenues 
remain materially unchanged. Our expanded revenue disclosure is presented in Note 2. 

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS PENDING ADOPTION 
DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS  In August 2018, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued ASU 2018-14, 
“Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Defined Benefit Plans,” which adds, removes and clarifies the disclosure 
requirements for employers that sponsor defined benefit pension and other postretirement benefit plans. ASU 2018-14 is 
effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2020 and is to be applied retrospectively. Early adoption is permitted. 
While we are still evaluating the impact of ASU 2018-14 and whether we will early adopt, it will not impact our consolidated 
financial statements as it only affects disclosure. Thus, the adoption of this standard will have a minor impact on the notes to 
our consolidated financial statements, specifically, our benefit plans note. 

CREDIT LOSSES  In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, “Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments,” 
which amends guidance on the impairment of financial instruments. The new guidance estimates credit losses based on 
expected losses, modifies the impairment model for available-for-sale debt securities and provides for a simplified 
accounting model for purchased financial assets with credit deterioration. ASU 2016-13 is effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning after December 15, 2019, and interim reporting periods within those annual reporting periods. We do not 
expect the adoption of this standard to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements. 
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LEASE ACCOUNTING  In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases,” which amends existing accounting 
standards for lease accounting and adds additional disclosures about leasing arrangements. Under the new guidance, 
lessees are required to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet for all leases (with certain 
exclusions, including mineral leases) with terms longer than 12 months. Leases will be classified as either finance or 
operating, with classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the income statement and presentation of cash 
flow in the statement of cash flows. This ASU is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018, 
and interim reporting periods within those annual reporting periods. 

We will adopt this standard in the first quarter of 2019 utilizing the comparatives transition option under ASC 840. Under this 
transition approach, we will not restate our comparative periods in the period of adoption. We currently expect to recognize 
operating lease liabilities of approximately $430,000,000, with corresponding right-of-use assets of the same amount based 
on the present value of the remaining minimum rental payments under current leasing standards for existing operating 
leases. 

We expect to elect the ‘package of practical expedients’, which permits us not to reassess under the new standard our prior 
conclusions about lease identification, lease classification, and initial direct costs. Also, we expect to elect the use of the 
practical expedient pertaining to land easements. We do not expect to elect the use-of-hindsight practical expedient. The 
new standard also provides practical expedients for an entity’s ongoing accounting. We currently expect to elect the short-
term lease recognition exemption for all equipment leases. This means, for those leases that qualify, we will not recognize 
right-of-use assets or lease liabilities, and this includes not recognizing right-of-use assets or lease liabilities for existing 
short-term leases of those assets in transition. We also currently expect to elect the practical expedient to not separate lease 
and non-lease components for all of our leases. 

  
  

NOTE 2: REVENUES 
There have been no significant changes to the amount or timing of our revenue recognition as a result of our adoption of 
ASU 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (Accounting Standards Codification Topic 606). Revenues are 
measured as the amount of consideration we expect to receive in exchange for transferring goods or providing services. 
Sales and other taxes we collect are excluded from revenues. Costs to obtain and fulfill contracts (primarily asphalt 
construction paving contracts) are immaterial and are expensed as incurred when the expected amortization period is one 
year or less. 

Total revenues are primarily derived from our product sales of aggregates (crushed stone, sand and gravel, sand and other 
aggregates), asphalt mix and ready-mixed concrete, and include freight & delivery costs that we pass along to our 
customers to deliver these products. We also generate service revenues from our asphalt construction paving business and 
service revenues related to our aggregates business, such as landfill tipping fees. Our total service revenues were as 
follows: 2018 — $198,897,000, 2017 — $113,422,000 and 2016 — $42,904,000. The increased service revenues resulted 
from acquisitions that included asphalt construction paving businesses (2018 – Alabama and Texas, and 2017 – Tennessee, 
See Note 19). 

Our products typically are sold to private industry and not directly to governmental entities. Although approximately 45% to 
55% of our aggregates shipments have historically been used in publicly-funded construction, such as highways, airports 
and government buildings, relatively insignificant sales are made directly to federal, state, county or municipal 
governments/agencies. Therefore, although reductions in state and federal funding can curtail publicly-funded construction, 
our aggregates business is not directly subject to renegotiation of profits or termination of contracts with state or federal 
governments. 
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Our segment total revenues by geographic market for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 are 
disaggregated as follows: 

              

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018  
in thousands Aggregates    Asphalt   Concrete   Calcium   Total  

Total Revenues by Geographic Market 1             
East $  1,109,489    $     156,591    $     257,250    $                0   $    1,523,330 
Gulf Coast  1,821,853     131,745     71,739     8,110    2,033,447 
West  582,307     444,846     73,010     0    1,100,163 
Segment sales $  3,513,649    $     733,182    $     401,999    $         8,110   $    4,656,940 
Intersegment sales  (274,071)    0     0     0    (274,071)
Total revenues $  3,239,578    $     733,182    $     401,999    $         8,110    $    4,382,869   
 
               

For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 
in thousands Aggregates    Asphalt   Concrete   Calcium   Total  

Total Revenues by Geographic Market 1             
East $  1,045,682    $     112,673    $     244,568    $                0   $    1,402,923 
Gulf Coast  1,512,505     80,311     102,716     7,740     1,703,272  
West  537,907     429,090     70,461     0     1,037,458  
Segment sales $  3,096,094    $     622,074    $     417,745    $         7,740    $    4,143,653  
Intersegment sales  (253,357)    0     0     0     (253,357) 
Total revenues $  2,842,737    $     622,074    $     417,745    $         7,740    $    3,890,296   
 
               

   For the Year Ended December 31, 2016 
in thousands Aggregates    Asphalt   Concrete   Calcium   Total  

Total Revenues by Geographic Market 1             
East $     994,559    $                0    $     203,734    $                0    $    1,198,293  
Gulf Coast  1,497,762     102,035     99,253     8,860     1,707,910  
West  469,514     410,275     27,138     0     906,927  
Segment sales $  2,961,835    $     512,310    $     330,125    $         8,860    $    3,813,130  
Intersegment sales  (220,463)    0     0     0     (220,463) 
Total revenues $  2,741,372    $     512,310    $     330,125    $         8,860    $    3,592,667   
 

  

1 The geographic markets are defined by states/countries as follows: 
  East market — Arkansas, Delaware, Illinois, Kentucky, Maryland, North Carolina, Pennsylvania, Tennessee, Virginia, 

and Washington D.C. 
Gulf Coast market — Alabama, Florida, Georgia, Louisiana, Mexico, Mississippi, Oklahoma, South Carolina, Texas and 
the Bahamas 
West market — Arizona, California and New Mexico  

 

PRODUCT AND SERVICE REVENUES 
Revenue is recognized when obligations under the terms of a contract with our customer are satisfied; generally this occurs 
at a point in time when our aggregates, asphalt mix and ready-mixed concrete are shipped/delivered and control passes to 
the customer. Revenue for our products and services is recorded at the fixed invoice amount and is due by the 15th day of 
the following month — we do not offer discounts for early payment. Freight & delivery generally represents pass-through 
transportation we incur (including our administrative costs) and pay to third-party carriers to deliver our products to 
customers and are accounted for as a fulfillment activity. Likewise, the cost related to freight & delivery are included in cost 
of revenues. 
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Freight & delivery revenues are as follows: 
        

in thousands 2018   2017   2016  

Freight & Delivery Revenues         
Total revenues $  4,382,869    $  3,890,296    $  3,592,667  
  Freight & delivery revenues 1  (641,815)   (528,916)    (535,929)

Total revenues excluding freight & delivery $  3,741,054    $  3,361,380    $  3,056,738  
 

1 Includes freight & delivery to remote distribution sites.  

CONSTRUCTION PAVING REVENUES 
Revenue from our asphalt construction paving business is recognized over time using the percentage-of-completion method 
under the cost approach. The percentage of completion is determined by costs incurred to date as a percentage of total 
costs estimated for the project. Under this approach, recognized contract revenue equals the total estimated contract 
revenue multiplied by the percentage of completion. Our construction contracts are unit priced and an account receivable is 
recorded for amounts invoiced based on actual units produced. Contract assets for estimated earnings in excess of billings, 
contract assets related to retainage provisions and contract liabilities for billings in excess of costs are immaterial. Variable 
consideration in our construction paving contracts is immaterial and consists of incentives and penalties based on the quality 
of work performed. Our construction paving contracts may contain warranty provisions covering defects in equipment, 
materials, design or workmanship that generally run from nine months to one year after project completion. Due to the 
nature of our construction paving projects, including contract owner inspections of the work during construction and prior to 
acceptance, we have not experienced material warranty costs for these short-term warranties. 

VOLUMETRIC PRODUCTION PAYMENT REVENUES 
In 2013 and 2012, we sold a percentage interest in certain future aggregates production for net cash proceeds of 
$226,926,000. These transactions, structured as volumetric production payments (VPPs):  

 relate to eight quarries in Georgia and South Carolina 

 provide the purchaser solely with a nonoperating percentage interest in the subject quarries’ future aggregates production  

 contain no minimum annual or cumulative guarantees by us for production or sales volume, nor minimum sales price 

 are both volume and time limited (we expect the transactions will last approximately 25 years, limited by volume rather 
than time) 

We are the exclusive sales agent for, and transmit quarterly to the purchaser the proceeds from the sale of, the purchaser’s 
share of future aggregates production. Our consolidated total revenues exclude the revenue from the sale of the purchaser’s 
share of aggregates. 

The proceeds we received from the sale of the percentage interest were recorded as deferred revenue on the balance 
sheet. We recognize revenue on a unit-of-sales basis (as we sell the purchaser’s share of future production) relative to the 
volume limitations of the transactions. Given the nature of the risks and potential rewards assumed by the buyer, the 
transactions do not reflect financing activities. 

Reconciliation of the VPP deferred revenue balances (current and noncurrent) is as follows:  
         

in thousands 2018   2017   2016  

Deferred Revenue         
Balance at beginning of year $      199,556    $     206,468   $     214,060  
  Revenue recognized from deferred revenue  (6,773)    (6,912)   (7,592) 
Balance at end of year $      192,783    $     199,556   $     206,468  
 
Based on expected sales from the specified quarries, we expect to recognize $7,500,000 of VPP deferred revenue as 
income in 2019 (reflected in other current liabilities in our December 31, 2018 Consolidated Balance Sheet). 
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NOTE 3: INVENTORIES 
Inventories at December 31 are as follows: 
 

     

in thousands 2018   2017  

Inventories      
Finished products 1 $      372,604    $     327,711  
Raw materials  27,942     27,152  
Products in process  3,064     1,827  
Operating supplies and other  25,720     27,648  
Total $      429,330    $     384,338  
 

1 Includes inventories encumbered by volumetric production payments (see Note 2), as follows: December 31, 2018 — $3,230 
thousand and December 31, 2017 — $2,808 thousand. 

 
In addition to the inventory balances presented above, as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, we have 
$9,980,000 and $11,810,000, respectively, of inventory classified as long-term assets (other noncurrent assets) as we do 
not expect to sell the inventory within one year of their respective balance sheet dates. Inventories valued under the LIFO 
method total $308,257,000 at December 31, 2018 and $252,808,000 at December 31, 2017. During 2018, 2017 and 2016, 
inventory reductions resulted in liquidations of LIFO inventory layers carried at lower costs prevailing in prior years as 
compared to current-year costs. The effect of the LIFO liquidation on 2018 results was to increase cost of revenues by 
$132,000 and decrease net earnings by $99,000. The effect of the LIFO liquidation on 2017 results was to decrease cost of 
revenues by $2,714,000 and increase net earnings by $1,662,000. The effect of the LIFO liquidation on 2016 results was to 
decrease cost of revenues by $3,956,000 and increase net earnings by $2,419,000.  

Estimated current cost exceeded LIFO cost at December 31, 2018 and 2017 by $175,844,000 and $168,829,000, 
respectively. We use the LIFO method of valuation for most of our inventories as it results in a better matching of costs with 
revenues. In periods of increasing costs, LIFO generally results in higher cost of revenues than under FIFO. In periods of 
decreasing costs, the results are generally the opposite. We provide supplemental income disclosures to facilitate 
comparisons with companies not on LIFO. The supplemental income calculation is derived by tax-affecting the change in the 
LIFO reserve for the periods presented. If all inventories valued at LIFO cost had been valued under first-in, first-out (FIFO) 
method, the approximate effect on net earnings would have been an increase of $5,223,000 in 2018, an increase of 
$8,092,000 in 2017 and a decrease of $(8,338,000) in 2016. 
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NOTE 4: PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT 
Balances of major classes of assets and allowances for depreciation, depletion and amortization at December 31 are as 
follows: 
 

     

in thousands 2018   2017  

Property, Plant & Equipment      
Land and land improvements 1 $    2,823,092    $  2,742,285  
Buildings  139,948     135,655  
Machinery and equipment  5,106,918     4,740,212  
Leasehold improvements  18,217     17,354  
Deferred asset retirement costs  183,324     172,631  
Construction in progress  186,120     161,175  

Total, gross $    8,457,619    $  7,969,312  

Less allowances for depreciation, depletion      
 and amortization  4,220,312     4,050,381  

Total, net $    4,237,307    $  3,918,931  
 

1 Includes depletable land, as follows: December 31, 2018 — $1,626,899 thousand and December 31, 2017 — $1,606,303 
thousand.  

 
Capitalized interest costs with respect to qualifying construction projects and total interest costs incurred before recognition 
of the capitalized amount for the years ended December 31 are as follows: 
 
           

in thousands 2018   2017   2016  

Capitalized interest cost $          3,674    $        5,177   $        7,468  
Total interest cost incurred before recognition         
  of the capitalized amount  141,651     300,699    141,544  
  

  
  

NOTE 5: DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS 
During the normal course of operations, we are exposed to market risks including interest rates, foreign currency exchange 
rates and commodity prices. From time to time, and consistent with our risk management policies, we use derivative 
instruments to balance the cost and risk of such expenses. We do not use derivative instruments for trading or other 
speculative purposes. 

In 2007 and 2018, we entered into interest rate locks of future debt issuances to hedge the risk of higher interest rates. 
These interest rate locks were designated as cash flow hedges. The gain/loss upon settlement of these interest rate hedges 
is deferred (recorded in AOCI) and amortized to interest expense over the term of the related debt. 

This amortization was reflected in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years 
ended December 31 as follows: 
 
             

in thousands Location on Statement  2018   2017   2016  

Interest Rate Hedges           
Loss reclassified from AOCI           
  (effective portion) Interest expense  $          (306)  $       (3,070)   $       (2,008) 
 

 
The 2017 loss reclassified from AOCI includes the acceleration of deferred losses in the amount of $1,405,000 referable to 
the debt purchase as described in Note 6. 

For the 12-month period ending December 31, 2019, we estimate that $308,000 of the $11,180,000 pretax loss in AOCI will 
be reclassified to interest expense. 
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NOTE 6: DEBT 
Debt at December 31 is detailed as follows: 

       

Effective       
in thousands Interest Rates  2018   2017  

Short-term Debt        
Bank line of credit expires 2021 1, 2 1.25%  $        133,000    $                   0   
Total short-term debt   $        133,000    $                   0   
Long-term Debt        
Bank line of credit expires 2021 1   $                   0    $        250,000   
Term loan due 2018 3    0     350,000   
Floating-rate notes due 2020 3.50%   250,000     250,000   
Floating-rate notes due 2021 3.71%   500,000     0   
7.50% notes due 2021    0     35,111   
8.85% notes due 2021 8.88%   6,000     6,000   
Term loan due 2021    0     250,000   
4.50% notes due 2025 4.65%   400,000     400,000   
3.90% notes due 2027 4.00%   400,000     400,000   
7.15% notes due 2037 8.05%   129,239     240,188   
4.50% notes due 2047 4.59%   700,000     700,000   
4.70% notes due 2048 5.42%   460,949     0   
Other notes 6.46%   208     230   
Total long-term debt - face value   $     2,846,396    $     2,881,529   
Unamortized discounts and debt issuance costs    (67,016)    (26,664)  
Total long-term debt - book value   $     2,779,380    $     2,854,865   
Less current maturities    23     41,383   
Total long-term debt - reported value   $     2,779,357    $     2,813,482   

Estimated fair value of long-term debt   $     2,695,802    $     2,983,419   
 
  

1 Borrowings on the bank line of credit are classified as short-term debt if we intend to repay within twelve months and as long-
term debt if we have the intent and ability to extend payment beyond twelve months.  

2 The effective interest rate reflects the margin above LIBOR for LIBOR-based borrowings. We also paid upfront fees that are 
amortized to interest expense and pay fees for unused borrowing capacity and standby letters of credit.  

3 This short-term loan was refinanced on a long-term basis in February 2018 as discussed below. Thus, it was classified as long-
term debt as of December 31, 2017.  

 
Discounts and debt issuance costs are amortized using the effective interest method over the terms of the respective notes 
resulting in $5,161,000 and $9,808,000, respectively, of net interest expense for these items for 2018 and 2017. 

LINE OF CREDIT 
Our unsecured $750,000,000 line of credit matures December 2021 and contains affirmative, negative and financial 
covenants customary for an unsecured investment-grade facility. The primary negative covenant limits our ability to incur 
secured debt. The financial covenants are: (1) a maximum ratio of debt to EBITDA of 3.5:1 (upon certain acquisitions, the 
maximum ratio can be 3.75:1 for three quarters), and (2) a minimum ratio of EBITDA to net cash interest expense of 3.0:1. 
As of December 31, 2018, we were in compliance with the line of credit covenants. 
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Borrowings on our line of credit are classified as short-term debt if we intend to repay within twelve months and as long-term 
debt if we have the intent and ability to extend repayment beyond twelve months. Borrowings bear interest, at our option, at 
either LIBOR plus a credit margin ranging from 1.00% to 1.75%, or SunTrust Bank’s base rate (generally, its prime rate) plus 
a credit margin ranging from 0.00% to 0.75%. The credit margin for both LIBOR and base rate borrowings is determined by 
our credit ratings. Standby letters of credit, which are issued under the line of credit and reduce availability, are charged a 
fee equal to the credit margin for LIBOR borrowings plus 0.175%. We also pay a commitment fee on the daily average 
unused amount of the line of credit that ranges from 0.10% to 0.25% determined by our credit ratings. As of December 31, 
2018, the credit margin for LIBOR borrowings was 1.25%, the credit margin for base rate borrowings was 0.25%, and the 
commitment fee for the unused amount was 0.15%. 

As of December 31, 2018, our available borrowing capacity was $572,021,000. Utilization of the borrowing capacity was as 
follows: 

 $133,000,000 was borrowed 

 $44,979,000 was used to provide support for outstanding standby letters of credit 

TERM DEBT 
All of our $2,846,396,000 (face value) of term debt is unsecured. $2,846,188,000 of such debt is governed by three 
essentially identical indentures that contain customary investment-grade type covenants. The primary covenant in all three 
indentures limits the amount of secured debt we may incur without ratably securing such debt. As of December 31, 2018, we 
were in compliance with all term debt covenants. 

In December 2018, we completed an exchange offer in which all of the $460,949,000 of 4.70% senior unregistered notes 
due 2048 (issued in February 2018 and March 2018 as described below) were exchanged for new registered notes of like 
principal amount and like denomination as the unregistered notes, with substantially identical terms. We did not receive any 
proceeds from the issuance of the new notes. 

In March 2018, we early retired via exchange offer $110,949,000 of the $240,188,000 7.15% senior notes due 2037 for: (1) 
a like amount of notes due 2048 (these notes are a further issuance of, and form a single series with, the $350,000,000 of 
4.70% senior notes due 2048 issued in February 2018 as described below, and (2) $38,164,000 of cash. The cash payment 
primarily reflects the trading price of the retired notes relative to par and will be amortized to interest expense over the term 
of the notes due 2048. We recognized transaction costs of $1,314,000 with this early retirement. 

In February 2018, we issued $350,000,000 of 4.70% senior notes due 2048 (these notes now total $460,949,000 including 
the notes issued in March as described above) and $500,000,000 of floating-rate senior notes due 2021. Total proceeds of 
$846,029,000 (net of discounts, transaction costs and an interest rate derivative settlement gain), together with cash on 
hand, were used to retire/repay without penalty or premium: (1) the $350,000,000 term loan due 2018, (2) the $250,000,000 
term loan due 2021, and (3) the $250,000,000 bank line of credit borrowings. We recognized noncash expense of $203,000 
with the acceleration of unamortized deferred transaction costs. 

In January 2018, we early retired via redemption the remaining $35,111,000 of the 7.50% senior notes due 2021 at a cost of 
$40,719,000 including a premium of $5,608,000. Additionally, we recognized noncash expense of $263,000 with the 
acceleration of unamortized deferred transaction costs. 

As a result of the first quarter 2018 early debt retirements described above, we recognized premiums of $5,608,000, 
transaction costs of $1,314,000 and noncash expense (acceleration of unamortized deferred transaction costs) of $466,000. 
The combined charge of $7,388,000 was a component of interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2018. 

In December 2017, we early retired via tender offer $564,889,000 of the $600,000,000 7.50% senior notes due 2021 at a 
cost of $662,613,000 including a premium of $96,167,000 and transaction costs of $1,558,000. Additionally, we recognized 
noncash expense of $4,228,000 with the acceleration of unamortized deferred transaction costs. 

Also in December 2017, we entered into a 6-month $350,000,000 unsecured term loan with one of the banks that provides 
our line of credit. Proceeds were used for general corporate purposes. This term loan was prepaid, as described above, in 
February 2018 with the proceeds of the 4.70% senior notes due 2048. 
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In July 2017, we early retired via redemption: (1) the $272,512,000 7.00% senior notes due 2018 and (2) the $250,000,000 
10.375% senior notes due 2018 (neither of which now appear in the table above) — at a combined cost of $565,560,000 
including a premium of $43,020,000 and transaction costs of $28,000. Additionally, we recognized noncash expense of 
$3,029,000 with the acceleration of unamortized deferred discounts, transaction costs and interest rate derivative settlement 
losses. Such redemptions were partially funded with the proceeds of the senior notes issued in June 2017 as described 
below. 

In June 2017, we issued $1,000,000,000 of debt composed of three issuances as follows: (1) $700,000,000 of 4.50% senior 
notes due 2047, (2) $50,000,000 of 3.90% senior notes due 2027 (these notes are a further issuance of, and form a single 
series with, the 3.90% notes issued in March 2017), and (3) $250,000,000 of floating-rate senior notes due 2020. Total 
proceeds of $989,512,000 (net of discounts/premiums and transaction costs) were used to partially finance an acquisition 
and to early retire the notes due in 2018 as described above. 

In June 2017, we drew the full $250,000,000 on the unsecured delayed draw term loan due 2021. These funds were used to 
repay the $235,000,000 line of credit borrowings and for general corporate purposes. This term loan was repaid, as 
described above, in February 2018 with proceeds of the floating-rate senior notes due 2021. 

In March 2017, we issued $350,000,000 of 3.90% senior notes due 2027. Proceeds of $345,450,000 (net of discounts and 
transaction costs) were used for general corporate purposes. This series of notes now totals $400,000,000 including the 
additional $50,000,000 issued in June as described above. 

As a result of the 2017 early debt retirements described above, we recognized premiums of $139,187,000, transaction costs 
of $1,586,000 and noncash expense (acceleration of unamortized deferred transaction costs) of $7,257,000. The combined 
charge of $148,030,000 was a component of interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2017. 

The total scheduled (principal and interest) debt payments, excluding the line of credit, for the five years subsequent to 
December 31, 2018 are as follows: 
 
           

in thousands Total   Principal   Interest 

Scheduled Debt Payments (excluding the line of credit)      
2019 $      121,629    $             23   $    121,606  
2020  366,366     250,025    116,341  
2021  606,312     506,026    100,286  
2022  96,041     28    96,013  
2023  96,041     30    96,011  

STANDBY LETTERS OF CREDIT 
We provide, in the normal course of business, certain third-party beneficiaries with standby letters of credit to support our 
obligations to pay or perform according to the requirements of an underlying agreement. Such letters of credit typically have 
an initial term of one year, typically renew automatically, and can only be modified or canceled with the approval of the 
beneficiary. All of our standby letters of credit are issued by banks that participate in our $750,000,000 line of credit, and 
reduce the borrowing capacity thereunder. Our standby letters of credit as of December 31, 2018 are summarized by 
purpose in the table below: 
 
      

in thousands   

Standby Letters of Credit   
Risk management insurance $       38,111   
Reclamation/restoration requirements  6,868   
Total $       44,979   
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NOTE 7: OPERATING LEASES 
Rental expense from continuing operations under nonmineral operating leases for the years ended December 31, exclusive 
of rental payments made under leases of one month or less, is summarized as follows: 
 
 

        

in thousands 2018   2017   2016  

Operating Leases         
Minimum rentals $        76,443    $       59,536   $       52,713  
Contingent rentals (based principally on usage)  54,572     50,822    57,278  
Total $      131,015    $     110,358   $     109,991  
 
Future minimum operating lease payments under all leases with initial or remaining noncancelable lease terms in excess of 
one year, exclusive of mineral leases (see Note 12), as of December 31, 2018 are payable as follows: 
 

  

in thousands   

Future Minimum Operating Lease Payments   
2019 $        47,979  
2020  43,540  
2021  35,732  
2022  27,463  
2023  19,707  
Thereafter  195,104  
Total $      369,525  
 
Lease agreements frequently include renewal options and require that we pay for utilities, taxes, insurance and maintenance 
expense. Options to purchase are also included in some lease agreements. 
  
  

NOTE 8: ACCRUED ENVIRONMENTAL REMEDIATION COSTS 
Our Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31 include accrued environmental remediation costs (measured on an 
undiscounted basis) as follows: 
 
      

in thousands 2018   2017  

Accrued Environmental Remediation Costs      
Continuing operations $        39,745   $       21,784   
Retained from former Chemicals business  10,685    10,704   
Total $        50,430   $       32,488   
 
The long-term portion of the accruals noted above is included in other noncurrent liabilities in the accompanying 
Consolidated Balance Sheets and amounted to $13,597,000 at December 31, 2018 and $12,760,000 at December 31, 
2017. The short-term portion of these accruals is included in other current liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated 
Balance Sheets. 

The accrued environmental remediation costs in continuing operations relate primarily to the former Florida Rock, Tarmac, 
and CalMat facilities acquired in 2007, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The current increase primarily relates to the Hewitt 
Landfill Matter, a former CalMat facility. The balances noted above for Chemicals relate to retained environmental 
remediation costs from the 2003 sale of the Performance Chemicals business and the 2005 sale of the Chloralkali business. 
Refer to Note 12 for additional discussion of contingent environmental matters. 
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NOTE 9: INCOME TAXES 
The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (TCJA) was enacted in December 2017. The TCJA, among other changes, (1) reduces the U.S. 
federal corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21%, (2) allows for the immediate 100% deductibility of certain capital 
investments, (3) eliminates the alternative minimum tax (though allows for the future use of previously generated alternative 
minimum tax credits), (4) repeals the domestic production deduction, (5) requires a one-time “transition tax” on earnings of 
certain foreign subsidiaries that were previously tax deferred, (6) limits the deductibility of interest expense, (7) further limits 
the deductibility of certain executive compensation and (8) taxes global intangible low taxed income. 

The SEC’s Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) 118 provided a one-year measurement period from the TCJA enactment date for 
companies to complete their income tax accounting. 

During 2017, we recorded provisional estimates for the following two elements. During 2018 we recorded measurement-
period adjustments to finalize these elements as follows: 

 DEEMED REPATRIATION TRANSITION TAX — The TCJA subjected companies to a one-time Deemed Repatriation 
Transition Tax (Transition Tax) on previously untaxed foreign accumulated earnings. We recorded a provisional Transition 
Tax obligation of $12,301,000 at December 31, 2017. In the fourth quarter of 2018, we completed our accounting for this 
element, which resulted in an insignificant amount of additional income tax expense. 

 DEDUCTIBILITY OF EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION — The TCJA eliminated the performance-based compensation 
exception from the limitation on covered employee remuneration. As a result, we believe that a portion of the 
performance-based remuneration accounted for in our deferred taxes will no longer be deductible. As such, we included a 
provisional expense of $1,403,000 at December 31, 2017. In the fourth quarter of 2018, we completed our accounting for 
this element which resulted in an insignificant amount of additional income tax expense. 

Our accounting for the following two elements of the TCJA were recognized solely in 2018 as we were unable to make 
reasonable estimates of the effects during 2017. 

 OUTSIDE BASIS DIFFERENCE IN FOREIGN SUBSIDIARIES — We have previously considered the outside basis 
difference in our foreign subsidiaries to be indefinitely reinvested (the vast majority of which related to the undistributed 
earnings of our foreign subsidiaries). For U.S. federal income tax purposes, the Transition Tax (mentioned above) greatly 
reduced the outside basis difference in our foreign subsidiaries. After passage of the TCJA, if we choose to repatriate any 
previously taxed or undistributed foreign earnings, we have determined that the deferred tax impacts would be: (1) no 
U.S. federal income tax, (2) no foreign withholding tax, and (3) an insignificant amount of state income tax. As a result, we 
have chosen to remove our indefinite reinvestment assertion on the earnings of our foreign subsidiaries. We continue to 
assert indefinite reinvestment on any outside basis differences in excess of our previously taxed and undistributed foreign 
subsidiary earnings that may be subject to tax in the future.  

 GLOBAL INTANGIBLE LOW TAXED INCOME — We do not expect to have significant U.S. inclusions in taxable income 
related to global intangible low taxed income (GILTI). As such, we have made an accounting policy election to treat taxes 
due on the future U.S. inclusions in taxable income related to GILTI as a current period expense when incurred (period 
cost method) versus factoring such amounts into our measurement of deferred taxes (deferred method). 

During the fourth quarter of 2018, we adopted ASU 2018-02, “Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated 
Other Comprehensive Income,” effective as of the beginning of the year. This ASU allowed us to reclassify $29,629,000 of 
stranded tax effects due to remeasuring certain deferred tax assets as a result of applying the TCJA enacted in December 
2017 from accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) to retained earnings. 
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The components of earnings from continuing operations before income taxes are as follows: 
 

        

in thousands 2018   2017   2016  

Earnings from Continuing Operations         
 before Income Taxes         

Domestic $      593,446    $     346,668    $     513,721   
Foreign  29,844     14,648     33,536   
Total $      623,290    $     361,316    $     547,257   
 
Income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations consists of the following: 
 
         

in thousands 2018   2017   2016  

Income Tax Expense (Benefit) from         
  Continuing Operations         
Current         
Federal $        21,111    $       (7,416)   $      72,506   
State and local  15,127     4,661     14,774   
Foreign  4,278     3,109     6,974   
Total $        40,516    $           354    $      94,254   
Deferred         
Federal $        59,216    $  (202,184)   $      37,246   
State and local  8,369     (30,052)    (6,647)  
Foreign  (2,652)    (193)    (2)  
Total $        64,933    $  (232,429)   $      30,597   
Total expense (benefit) $      105,449    $  (232,075)   $    124,851   
 
Income tax expense (benefit) differs from the amount computed by applying the federal statutory income tax rate to earnings 
from continuing operations before income taxes. The sources and tax effects of the differences are as follows: 
 
            

dollars in thousands 2018  2017  2016 

Income tax expense at the federal            
 statutory tax rate $    130,891  21.0%   $    126,461  35.0%   $    191,540  35.0% 

Expense (Benefit) from            
 Income Tax Differences            

Statutory depletion  (21,733) -3.5%    (28,995) -8.0%    (32,230) -5.9% 
State and local income taxes, net of federal            
 income tax benefit  18,562  3.0%    8,115  2.2%    10,074  1.9% 

Share-based compensation  (16,551) -2.7%    (20,740) -5.7%    (22,443) -4.1% 
Uncertain tax positions  (6,402) -1.0%    1,062  0.3%    1,272  0.2% 
Revaluation - deferred tax balances  0  0.0%    (301,567) -83.5%    0  0.0% 
AL NOL valuation allowance release  0  0.0%    (28,827) -8.0%    (4,791) -0.9% 
U.S. production deduction  0  0.0%    2,452  0.7%    (8,790) -1.6% 
Transition tax  595  0.1%    12,301  3.4%    0  0.0% 
Foreign tax credit carryforward  0  0.0%    0  0.0%    (6,513) -1.2% 
Other, net  87  0.0%    (2,337) -0.6%    (3,268) -0.6% 
Total income tax expense (benefit)/            
  Effective tax rate $    105,449  16.9%   $  (232,075) -64.2%   $    124,851  22.8% 
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Deferred taxes on the balance sheet result from temporary differences between the amount of assets and liabilities 
recognized for financial reporting and tax purposes. The components of the net deferred income tax liability at December 31 
are as follows: 
 

     

in thousands 2018   2017  

Deferred Tax Assets Related to      
Employee benefits $        24,407    $       29,547   
Incentive compensation  62,829     59,010   
Asset retirement obligations & other reserves  55,822     47,116   
State net operating losses  68,436     73,083   
Federal credit carryforwards  0     51,284   
Other  31,294     37,518   
Total gross deferred tax assets $      242,788    $     297,558   
Valuation allowance  (29,680)    (29,723)  
Total net deferred tax asset $      213,108    $     267,835   
Deferred Tax Liabilities Related to      
Property, plant & equipment $      510,604    $     490,459   
Goodwill/other intangible assets  233,471     216,039   
Other  36,316     25,418   
Total deferred tax liabilities $      780,391    $     731,916   
Net deferred tax liability $      567,283    $     464,081   
 
Each quarter we analyze the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be realized. A valuation allowance is recorded if, 
based on the weight of all available positive and negative evidence, it is more likely than not (a likelihood of more than 50%) 
that some portion, or all, of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. At December 31, 2018, we have Alabama state net 
operating loss (NOL) carryforward deferred tax assets of $65,577,000, against which we have a valuation allowance of 
$29,183,000. At this time, we do not expect any future adjustment to this valuation allowance. The Alabama NOL 
carryforward, if not utilized, would expire between 2023 and 2032. 

Changes in our liability for unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended December 31 are as follows: 
 

        

in thousands 2018   2017   2016  

Unrecognized tax benefits as of January 1 $        11,643    $       10,828    $         8,447   
Increases for tax positions related to         
   Prior years  0     27     1,368   
   Current year  698     1,039     1,040   
Decreases for tax positions related to         
  Prior years  (655)    (204)    0   

Settlements with taxing authorities  0     0     0   
Expiration of applicable statute of limitations  (8,025)    (47)    (27)  

Unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31 $          3,661    $       11,643    $       10,828   
 
We classify interest and penalties recognized on the liability for unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense. Interest 
and penalties recognized as income tax expense (benefit) were $(1,477,000) in 2018, $420,000 in 2017 and $266,000 in 
2016. The balance of accrued interest and penalties included in our liability for unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31 
was $312,000 in 2018, $1,789,000 in 2017 and $1,369,000 in 2016. Our liability for unrecognized tax benefits at December 
31 in the table above include $3,481,000 in 2018, $10,673,000 in 2017 and $9,884,000 in 2016 that would affect the 
effective tax rate if recognized. We anticipate no single tax position generating a significant increase in our liability for 
unrecognized tax benefits within 12 months of this reporting date. 

As of December 31, 2018, income tax receivables of $922,000 are included in other accounts and notes receivable in the 
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet. There were similar receivables of $106,980,000 ($106,000,000 related to 2017 
federal estimated payments which were refunded early 2018) as of December 31, 2017. 
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NOTE 10: BENEFIT PLANS 

PENSION PLANS 
We sponsor three qualified, noncontributory defined benefit pension plans. These plans cover substantially all employees 
hired before July 2007, other than those covered by union-administered plans. Normal retirement age is 65, but the plans 
contain provisions for earlier retirement. Benefits for the Salaried Plan and the Chemicals Hourly Plan are generally based 
on salaries or wages and years of service; the Construction Materials Hourly Plan provides benefits equal to a flat dollar 
amount for each year of service. In addition to these qualified plans, we sponsor three unfunded, nonqualified pension plans. 
The projected benefit obligation presented in the table below includes $71,435,000 and $82,136,000 related to these 
unfunded, nonqualified pension plans for 2018 and 2017, respectively. 

Effective July 2007, we amended our defined benefit pension plans to no longer accept new participants. Future benefit 
accruals for participants in our salaried defined benefit pension plan ceased on December 31, 2013, while salaried 
participants’ earnings considered for benefit calculations were frozen on December 31, 2015. 

The following table sets forth the combined funded status of the plans and their reconciliation with the related amounts 
recognized in our consolidated financial statements at December 31: 
 

     

in thousands 2018   2017  

Change in Benefit Obligation      
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year $    1,091,223    $  1,006,674   
Service cost  5,716     6,715   
Interest cost  35,503     36,230   
Plan amendment 1  0     10,869   
Actuarial (gain) loss  (118,827)    81,969   
Benefits paid  (54,679)    (51,234)  
Projected benefit obligation at end of year $       958,936    $  1,091,223   
Change in Fair Value of Plan Assets      
Fair value of assets at beginning of year $       840,901    $     749,515   
Actual return on plan assets  (59,083)    122,597   
Employer contribution  109,631     20,023   
Benefits paid  (54,679)    (51,234)  
Fair value of assets at end of year $       836,770    $     840,901   
Funded status  (122,166)    (250,322)  
Net amount recognized $      (122,166)   $   (250,322)  
Amounts Recognized in the Consolidated      
 Balance Sheets      

Noncurrent assets $           6,488    $         4,605   
Current liabilities  (9,067)    (9,478)  
Noncurrent liabilities  (119,587)    (245,449)  
Net amount recognized $      (122,166)   $   (250,322)  
Amounts Recognized in Accumulated      
  Other Comprehensive Income      
Net actuarial loss $       240,199    $     250,581   
Prior service cost  7,828     9,167   
Total amount recognized $       248,027    $     259,748   
 

1 Effective January 2017, we amended the Construction Materials Hourly Plan to increase the multiplier for years of service.  
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The accumulated benefit obligation (ABO) and the projected benefit obligation (PBO) exceeded plan assets for all of our 
defined benefit plans at December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, except for one where the plan assets exceeded the 
ABO by $6,525,000 and $5,346,000, respectively. The ABO for all of our defined benefit pension plans totaled $958,899,000 
(unfunded, nonqualified plans of $71,435,000) at December 31, 2018 and $1,090,482,000 (unfunded, nonqualified plans of 
$82,136,000) at December 31, 2017. 

The following table sets forth the components of net periodic benefit cost, amounts recognized in other comprehensive 
income and weighted-average assumptions of the plans at December 31: 
 

        

dollars in thousands 2018   2017   2016  

Components of Net Periodic Pension         
 Benefit Cost         

Service cost $          5,716    $        6,715    $        5,343   
Interest cost  35,503     36,230     36,505   
Expected return on plan assets  (59,188)    (48,506)    (51,562)  
Amortization of prior service cost (credit)  1,340     1,340     (43)  
Amortization of actuarial loss  9,826     7,397     6,163   
Net periodic pension benefit cost (credit) $         (6,803)   $        3,176    $       (3,594)  
Changes in Plan Assets and Benefit          
  Obligations Recognized in Other         
  Comprehensive Income         
Net actuarial loss (gain) $            (555)   $        7,879    $      33,682   
Prior service cost  0     10,868     0   
Reclassification of prior service (cost) credit  (1,340)    (1,340)    43   
Reclassification of actuarial loss  (9,826)    (7,397)    (6,163)  
Amount recognized in other comprehensive         
  income $       (11,721)   $      10,010    $      27,562   
Amount recognized in net periodic pension         
  benefit cost and other comprehensive         
  income $       (18,524)   $      13,186    $      23,968   
Assumptions         
Weighted-average assumptions used to         
  determine net periodic benefit cost for         
  years ended December 31         
Discount rate — PBO 3.72%   4.29%   4.55%  
Discount rate — service cost 3.90%   4.63%   4.68%  
Discount rate — interest cost 3.35%   3.63%   3.79%  
Expected return on plan assets 7.00%   7.00%   7.50%  
Weighted-average assumptions used to         
  determine benefit obligation at         
 December 31         

Discount rate 4.39%   3.72%   4.29%  
 
The estimated net actuarial loss and prior service cost that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive income 
into net periodic pension benefit cost (credit) during 2019 are $4,933,000 and $1,339,000, respectively. 
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Plan assets are invested according to an investment policy that allocates investments in return seeking assets and liability 
hedging assets based on the plans’ funded ratio (fair value of assets/PBO). Return seeking assets include public and private 
equity securities, public and private debt securities, and commodities. Liability hedging assets include money market 
securities, inflation linked debt securities, public corporate debt securities, and government debt securities. 

At each measurement date, we estimate the net asset values and fair values of our pension assets using various valuation 
techniques. For certain investments, we use the net asset value as a practical expedient to estimating fair value. Fair value 
is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants. The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into 
three broad levels as described below: 

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
Level 2: Inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data 
Level 3: Inputs that are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement 

The fair values and net asset values of our pension plan assets at December 31, 2018 and 2017 are in the tables below. 
The assets in the common/collective trusts and in the private partnerships consist of both return seeking and liability hedging 
investments. At December 31, 2018, the total pension asset allocation was approximately 70% return seeking and 30% 
liability hedging, compared to the December 31, 2017 allocation of approximately 80% return seeking and 20% liability 
hedging. Based on the funded ratio at December 31, 2018, we are in process of shifting the asset allocation to 
approximately 55% return seeking and 45% liability hedging. 

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS AT DECEMBER 31, 2018 
 

in thousands Level 1   Level 2   Level 3  Total 

Asset Category        
Debt funds $                0   $     168,953    $                0    $     168,953  
Commodity funds  0    14,697     0     14,697  
Equity funds  246    135,656     0     135,902  
Investments in the fair value hierarchy $            246   $     319,306    $                0    $     319,552  
Interest in common/collective trusts (at NAV)          462,566  
Private partnerships (at NAV)          54,652  
Total pension plan assets          $     836,770  

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS AT DECEMBER 31, 2017 
 

           

in thousands Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total 

Asset Category         
Debt funds $                0   $     178,512    $                0    $     178,512  
Commodity funds  0    17,041     0     17,041  
Equity funds  1,089    143,010     0     144,099  
Investments in the fair value hierarchy $         1,089   $     338,563    $                0    $     339,652  

Interest in common/collective trusts (at NAV)          416,397  
Private partnerships (at NAV)          84,852  
Total pension plan assets          $     840,901  
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The following describes the types of investments included in each asset category listed in the tables above and the valuation 
techniques we used to determine the fair values or net asset values as of December 31, 2018 and 2017. 

The debt funds category consists of U.S. federal, state and local government debt securities, corporate debt securities, 
foreign government debt securities, and asset-backed securities. The fair values of U.S. government and corporate debt 
securities are based on current market rates and credit spreads for debt securities with similar maturities. The fair values of 
debt securities issued by foreign governments are based on prices obtained from broker/dealers and international indices. 
The fair values of asset-backed securities are priced using prepayment speed and spread inputs that are sourced from the 
new issue market. 

The commodity funds category consists of a single open-end commodity mutual fund. The equity funds category consists of 
a mutual fund investing in domestic equities. For investment funds publicly traded on a national securities exchange, the fair 
value is based on quoted market prices. For investment funds not traded on an exchange, the total fair value of the 
underlying securities is used to determine the net asset value for each unit of the fund held by the pension fund. The 
estimated fair values of the underlying securities are generally valued based on quoted market prices. For securities without 
quoted market prices, other observable market inputs are used to determine the fair value. 

Common/collective trust fund investments consist of index funds for domestic equities, an actively managed fund for 
international equities, and a short-term investment fund for highly liquid, short-term debt securities. Investments are valued 
at the net asset value (NAV) of units of a bank collective trust. The NAV is based on the fair value of the underlying 
investments held by the fund less its liabilities. This practical expedient is not used when it is determined to be probable that 
the fund will sell the investment for an amount different than the reported NAV. 

The private partnerships category consists of various venture capital funds, mezzanine debt funds and leveraged buyout 
funds. The NAV of these investments has been estimated based on methods employed by the general partners, including 
consideration of, among other things, reference to third-party transactions, valuations of comparable companies operating 
within the same or similar industry, the current economic and competitive environment, creditworthiness of the corporate 
issuer, as well as market prices for instruments with similar maturities, terms, conditions and quality ratings. The use of 
different assumptions, applying different judgment to inherently subjective matters and changes in future market conditions 
could result in significantly different estimates of fair value of these securities. 

Total employer contributions to the pension plans are presented below: 
 
     

in thousands Pension 

Employer Contributions   
2016 $          9,576  
2017  20,023  
2018  109,631  
2019 (estimated)  9,067  
 
For our qualified pension plans, we made discretionary contributions of $100,000,000 and $10,600,000 during 2018 and 
2017, respectively, and made no contributions during 2016. We do not anticipate making contributions to our qualified 
pension plans in 2019. For our nonqualified pension plans, we contributed $9,631,000, $9,423,000 and $9,576,000 during 
2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and expect to contribute $9,067,000 during 2019. 
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The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid: 
 

  

in thousands Pension 

Estimated Future Benefit Payments   
2019 $        56,493  
2020  57,191  
2021  58,317  
2022  59,705  
2023  60,871  
2024-2028  301,996  
 
We contribute to a number of multiemployer defined benefit pension plans under the terms of collective-bargaining 
agreements for union-represented employees. A multiemployer plan is subject to collective bargaining for employees of two 
or more unrelated companies. Multiemployer plans are managed by boards of trustees on which management and labor 
have equal representation. However, in most cases, management is not directly represented. The risks of participating in 
multiemployer plans differ from single employer plans as follows: 

 assets contributed to a multiemployer plan by one employer may be used to provide benefits to employees of other 
participating employers 

 if a participating employer stops contributing to the plan, the unfunded obligations of the plan may be borne by the 
remaining participating employers 

 if we cease to have an obligation to contribute to one or more of the multiemployer plans to which we contribute, we may 
be required to pay those plans an amount based on the underfunded status of the plan, referred to as a withdrawal liability 

None of the multiemployer pension plans that we participate in are individually significant. Our contributions to individual 
multiemployer pension funds did not exceed 5% of the fund’s total contributions in the three years ended December 31, 
2018, 2017 and 2016. Total contributions to multiemployer pension plans were $10,081,000 in 2018, $9,253,000 in 2017 
and $10,435,000 in 2016. 

As of December 31, 2018, a total of 8.5% of our domestic hourly labor force was covered by collective-bargaining 
agreements. Of such employees covered by collective-bargaining agreements, 7.5% were covered by agreements that 
expire in 2019. We also employed 332 union employees in Mexico who are covered by a collective-bargaining agreement 
that will expire in 2019. None of our union employees in Mexico participate in multiemployer pension plans. 

In addition to the pension plans noted above, we had one unfunded supplemental retirement plan as of December 31, 2018 
and 2017. The accrued costs for the supplemental retirement plan were $1,122,000 at December 31, 2018 and $1,252,000 
at December 31, 2017. 
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POSTRETIREMENT PLANS 
In addition to pension benefits, we provide certain healthcare and life insurance benefits for some retired employees. In 
2012, we amended our postretirement healthcare plan to cap our portion of the medical coverage cost at the 2015 level. 
Substantially all our salaried employees and, where applicable, certain of our hourly employees may become eligible for 
these benefits if they reach a qualifying age and meet certain service requirements. Generally, Company-provided 
healthcare benefits end when covered individuals become eligible for Medicare benefits, become eligible for other group 
insurance coverage or reach age 65, whichever occurs first. 

The following table sets forth the combined funded status of the plans and their reconciliation with the related amounts 
recognized in our consolidated financial statements at December 31: 
 

     

in thousands 2018   2017  

Change in Benefit Obligation      
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year $        43,480    $       45,546   
Service cost  1,357     1,167   
Interest cost  1,240     1,260   
Actuarial loss  856     378   
Benefits paid  (6,099)    (4,871)  
Projected benefit obligation at end of year $        40,834    $       43,480   
Change in Fair Value of Plan Assets      
Fair value of assets at beginning of year $                 0    $                0   
Actual return on plan assets  0     0   
Fair value of assets at end of year $                 0    $                0   
Funded status $       (40,834)   $     (43,480)  
Net amount recognized $       (40,834)   $     (43,480)  
Amounts Recognized in the Consolidated      
  Balance Sheets      
Current liabilities $         (5,560)   $        (5,624)  
Noncurrent liabilities  (35,274)    (37,856)  
Net amount recognized $       (40,834)   $     (43,480)  
Amounts Recognized in Accumulated      
  Other Comprehensive Income      
Net actuarial gain $       (18,624)   $     (20,757)  
Prior service credit  (11,494)    (15,456)  
Total amount recognized $       (30,118)   $     (36,213)  
 
 



 

Part II 98 
 

The following table sets forth the components of net periodic benefit cost, amounts recognized in other comprehensive 
income, weighted-average assumptions and assumed trend rates of the plans at December 31: 
 

        

dollars in thousands 2018   2017   2016  

Components of Net Periodic Postretirement         
 Benefit Cost         

Service cost $          1,358    $        1,167    $        1,123  
Interest cost  1,240     1,260     1,209  
Amortization of prior service credit  (3,962)    (4,236)    (4,236) 
Amortization of actuarial gain  (1,298)    (1,587)    (1,751) 
Net periodic postretirement benefit cost (credit) $         (2,662)   $       (3,396)   $       (3,655) 
Changes in Plan Assets and Benefit          
 Obligations Recognized in Other         

  Comprehensive Income         
Net actuarial loss (gain) $             835    $           342    $          (111) 
Reclassification of prior service credit  3,962     4,236     4,236  
Reclassification of actuarial gain  1,298     1,587     1,751  
Amount recognized in other comprehensive         
  income $          6,095    $        6,165    $        5,876  
Amount recognized in net periodic         
  postretirement benefit cost and other         
  comprehensive income $          3,433    $        2,769    $        2,221  
Assumptions         
Weighted-average assumptions used to         
  determine net periodic benefit cost for         
  years ended December 31         
Discount rate — PBO 3.34%   3.59%   3.69% 
Discount rate — service cost 3.56%   3.96%   3.77% 
Discount rate — interest cost 2.90%   2.89%   2.81% 
Weighted-average assumptions used to         
  determine benefit obligation at         
  December 31         
Discount rate 4.01%   3.33%   3.58% 
 
The estimated net actuarial gain and prior service credit that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive 
income into net periodic postretirement benefit cost (credit) during 2019 are $(1,344,000) and $(3,919,000), respectively. 

Total employer contributions to the postretirement plans are presented below: 
 
     

in thousands Postretirement 

Employer Contributions   
2016 $          5,280  
2017  4,871  
2018  6,099  
2019 (estimated)  5,561  
 
The employer contributions shown above are equal to the cost of benefits during the year. The plans are not funded and are 
not subject to any regulatory funding requirements. 
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The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid: 
 

  

in thousands Postretirement 

Estimated Future Benefit Payments   
2019 $          5,561  
2020  5,381  
2021  5,077  
2022  4,733  
2023  4,523  
2024–2028  17,168  
 
Contributions by participants to the postretirement benefit plans for the years ended December 31 are as follows: 
 

  

in thousands Postretirement 

Participants Contributions   
2016 $          2,085  
2017  2,025  
2018  1,984  
 

PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS ASSUMPTIONS 
Each year, we review our assumptions for discount rates (used for PBO, service cost, and interest cost calculations) and the 
expected return on plan assets. Due to plan changes made in 2012 and 2013, annual pay increases and the per capita cost 
of healthcare benefits do not materially impact plan obligations. 

We use a high-quality bond full yield curve approach (specific spot rates for each annual expected cash flow) to establish 
the discount rates at each measurement date. At December 31, 2018, the discount rates used were as follows: 

 PBO for various plans – ranged from 3.92% to 4.47% (December 31, 2017 ranged from 3.24% to 3.79%) 

 Service cost – weighted average of 3.90% and 3.56%, respectively, for our pension plans and our other postretirement 
plans (2017 figures were 4.63% and 3.96%, respectively) 

 Interest cost – weighted average of 3.35% and 2.90%, respectively, for our pension plans and our other postretirement 
plans (2017 figures were 3.63% and 2.89%, respectively) 

Our expected return on plan assets is: (1) a long-term view based on our current asset allocation, and (2) a judgment 
informed by consultation with our retirement plans’ consultant and our pension plans’ actuary. The expected return on plan 
assets used to measure plan benefit costs was 7.0% in 2018 and 2017. For 2019, we decreased the expected return on 
plan assets to 5.75%. 

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS 
We sponsor two defined contribution plans. Substantially all salaried and nonunion hourly employees are eligible to be 
covered by one of these plans. Under these plans, we match employees’ eligible contributions at established rates. Expense 
recognized in connection with these matching obligations totaled $40,718,000 in 2018, $44,562,000 in 2017 and 
$45,295,000 in 2016. 
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NOTE 11: INCENTIVE PLANS 

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS 
Our 2016 Omnibus Long-term Incentive Plan (Plan) authorizes the granting of performance shares, restricted shares, Stock-
Only Stock Appreciation Rights (SOSARs) and other types of share-based awards to key salaried employees and 
nonemployee directors. The maximum number of shares that may be issued under the Plan is 8,000,000. 

PERFORMANCE SHARES — Each performance share unit is equal to and paid in one share of our common stock, but 
carries no voting or dividend rights. The number of units ultimately paid for performance share awards may range from 0% 
to 200% of the number of units awarded on the date of grant. Payment is based upon our Total Shareholder Return (TSR) 
performance relative to the TSR performance of the S&P 500®. Awards vest on December 31 of the third (2018 and 2017 
awards) or fourth (all other outstanding awards) year after date of grant. Vesting is accelerated upon reaching retirement 
age, death, disability, or change of control, all as defined in the award agreement. Nonvested units are forfeited upon 
termination for any other reason. Expense provisions referable to performance share awards amounted to $13,656,000 in 
2018, $16,272,000 in 2017 and $12,074,000 in 2016. 

The fair value of performance shares is estimated as of the date of grant using a Monte Carlo simulation model. The 
following table summarizes the activity for nonvested performance share units during the year ended December 31, 2018: 
 

     

Target   Weighted-average 
Number   Grant Date 

   of Shares   Fair Value 

Performance Shares    
Nonvested at January 1, 2018  498,979   $             89.16   
Granted  130,715    117.20   
Vested  (218,725)   74.85   
Canceled/forfeited  (60,291)   103.56   
Nonvested at December 31, 2018  350,678   $           106.06   
 
During 2017 and 2016, the weighted-average grant date fair value of performance shares granted was $117.49 and $87.77, 
respectively. 

The aggregate values for distributed performance share awards are based on the closing price of our common stock as of 
the distribution date. The aggregate values of distributed performance shares for the years ended December 31 are as 
follows: 
 
           

in thousands 2018   2017   2016  

Aggregate value of distributed         
 performance shares $       53,721    $       52,368    $       60,443  
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RESTRICTED SHARES — Each restricted share unit is equal to and paid in one share of our common stock, but carries no 
voting or dividend rights. Awards vest on the third (2018 and 2017 awards) or fourth (all other outstanding awards) 
anniversary of the grant date. Vesting is accelerated upon reaching retirement age, death, disability, or change of control, all 
as defined in the award agreement. Nonvested units are forfeited upon termination for any other reason. Expense provisions 
referable to restricted share awards amounted to $4,831,000 in 2018, $4,371,000 in 2017 and $3,004,000 in 2016. 

The fair value of restricted shares is estimated as of the date of grant based on the stock price adjusted for dividends 
foregone. The following table summarizes the activity for nonvested restricted share units during the year ended December 
31, 2018: 

     

  Weighted-average 
Number   Grant Date 

of Shares   Fair Value 

Restricted Stock Units    
Nonvested at January 1, 2018  109,302   $             97.43   
Granted  52,065    117.20   
Vested  (11,622)   100.35   
Canceled/forfeited  (4,366)   110.73   
Nonvested at December 31, 2018  145,379   $           103.88   
 
During 2017 and 2016, the weighted-average grant date fair value of restricted shares granted was $117.49 and $87.77, 
respectively. 

The aggregate values for distributed restricted share awards are based on the closing price of our common stock as of the 
distribution date. The aggregate values of distributed restricted shares for the years ended December 31 are as follows: 
           

in thousands 2018   2017   2016  

Aggregate value of distributed         
  restricted shares $        1,345    $        7,685    $               0   
 

STOCK-ONLY STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS (SOSARs) — SOSARs granted have an exercise price equal to the 
market value of our underlying common stock on the date of grant. The SOSARs vest ratably over 3 years (2018 and 2017 
awards) or 4 years (all other awards) and expire 10 years subsequent to the grant. Vesting is accelerated upon reaching 
retirement age, death, disability, or change of control, all as defined in the award agreement. Nonvested awards are forfeited 
upon termination for any other reason. 

The fair value of SOSARs is estimated as of the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Compensation 
cost for SOSARs is based on this grant date fair value and is recognized for awards that ultimately vest. The following table 
presents the weighted-average fair value and the weighted-average assumptions used in estimating the fair value of grants 
during the years ended December 31: 
           

   2018   2017   2016  

SOSARs         
Fair value $        43.72    $        43.01    $        29.20   
Risk-free interest rate 2.90%   2.36%   1.66% 
Dividend yield 1.39%   1.27%   1.39% 
Volatility 31.49%   31.35%   30.42% 
Expected term 9.00 years   9.00 years   9.00 years
 
The risk-free interest rate is based on the yield at the date of grant of a U.S. Treasury security with a maturity period 
approximating the SOSARs expected term. The dividend yield assumption is based on our historical dividend payouts 
adjusted for current expectations of future payouts. The volatility assumption is based on the historical volatility and 
expectations about future volatility of our common stock over a period equal to the SOSARs expected term. The expected 
term is based on historical experience and expectations about future exercises and represents the period of time that 
SOSARs granted are expected to be outstanding. 
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A summary of our SOSAR activity as of December 31, 2018 and changes during the year are presented below: 
 

           

         Weighted-average     
      Remaining   Aggregate  

   Number   Weighted-average  Contractual   Intrinsic Value  
of Shares   Exercise Price  Life (Years)   (in thousands)  

SOSARs          
Outstanding at January 1, 2018  2,242,487    $             52.95         
Granted  82,800     121.69         
Exercised  (583,539)    45.71         
Forfeited or expired  (165)    79.41         
Outstanding at December 31, 2018  1,741,583    $             58.64     3.70    $           72,276  
Exercisable at December 31, 2018  1,518,900    $             51.39     3.08    $           71,284  
 
The aggregate intrinsic values in the table above represent the total pretax intrinsic value (the difference between our stock 
price on the last trading day of 2018 and the exercise price, multiplied by the number of in-the-money SOSARs) that would 
have been received by the option holders had all SOSARs been exercised on December 31, 2018. These values change 
based on the fair market value of our common stock. The aggregate intrinsic values of SOSARs exercised for the years 
ended December 31 are as follows: 
 
           

in thousands 2018   2017   2016  

Aggregate intrinsic value of SOSARs exercised $       49,248    $       13,758    $       27,705   
 
The following table presents cash and stock consideration received and tax benefit realized from SOSAR exercises and 
compensation cost recorded referable to SOSARs for the years ended December 31: 
 
           

in thousands 2018   2017   2016  

SOSARs         
Cash and stock consideration received         
  from exercises $              0    $              0    $              0   
Tax benefit from exercises  19,083     5,331     10,767  
Compensation cost  4,763     3,723     2,744  
 
DEFERRED STOCK UNITS — In addition to the share-based compensation plans for employees discussed above, we 
issue a limited number of deferred stock units to our nonemployee directors annually. These deferred stock units vest 
immediately upon issuance (except for the 2015 grant which vested over three years) and accumulate dividends over the 
vesting period. Expense provisions referable to nonemployee director deferred stock units amounted to $1,965,000 in 2018, 
$2,260,000 in 2017 and $2,848,000 in 2016. 

CASH-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS 
We have incentive plans under which cash awards may be made annually. Expense provisions under these plans referable 
to awards to officers and certain employees amounted to $36,969,000 in 2018, $35,280,000 in 2017 and $46,758,000 in 
2016. Additionally, expense provision referable to a 2017 one-time bonus for non-incentive eligible employees amounted to 
$6,716,000. 
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NOTE 12: COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
We have commitments in the form of unconditional purchase obligations as of December 31, 2018. These include 
commitments for the purchase of property, plant & equipment of $35,248,000 and commitments for noncapital purchases of 
$36,722,000. These commitments are due as follows: 
 

  

Unconditional 
Purchase  

in thousands Obligations 

Property, Plant & Equipment   
2019 $        35,248   
Thereafter  0   
Total $        35,248   
Noncapital (primarily transportation and electricity contracts)   
2019 $        11,912   
2020–2021  9,120   
2022–2023  3,690   
Thereafter  12,000   
Total $        36,722   
 
Expenditures under noncapital purchase commitments totaled $56,674,000 in 2018, $40,526,000 in 2017 and $60,591,000 
in 2016. 

We have commitments in the form of minimum royalties under mineral leases as of December 31, 2018 in the amount of 
$240,575,000, due as follows: 
 

  

Mineral 
in thousands Leases 

Minimum Royalties   
2019 $        23,211   
2020–2021  36,630   
2022–2023  26,014   
Thereafter  154,720   

Total $      240,575   
 
Expenditures for royalties under mineral leases totaled $76,761,000 in 2018, $67,933,000 in 2017 and $62,978,000 in 2016. 
Refer to Note 7 for future minimum nonmineral operating lease payments. 

Certain of our aggregates reserves are burdened by volumetric production payments (nonoperating interest) as described in 
Note 2. As the holder of the working interest, we have responsibility to bear the cost of mining and producing the reserves 
attributable to this nonoperating interest. 

As summarized by purpose in Note 6, our standby letters of credit totaled $44,979,000 as of December 31, 2018. 

As described in Note 9, our liability for unrecognized tax benefits is $3,661,000 as of December 31, 2018. 

As described in Note 17, our asset retirement obligations totaled $225,726,000 as of December 31, 2018. 
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LITIGATION AND ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS 
We are subject to occasional governmental proceedings and orders pertaining to occupational safety and health or to 
protection of the environment, such as proceedings or orders relating to noise abatement, air emissions or water discharges. 
As part of our continuing program of stewardship in safety, health and environmental matters, we have been able to resolve 
such proceedings and to comply with such orders without any material adverse effects on our business. 

We have received notices from the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) or similar state or local agencies 
that we are considered a potentially responsible party (PRP) at a limited number of sites under the Comprehensive 
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (CERCLA or Superfund) or similar state and local environmental 
laws. Generally we share the cost of remediation at these sites with other PRPs or alleged PRPs in accordance with 
negotiated or prescribed allocations. There is inherent uncertainty in determining the potential cost of remediating a given 
site and in determining any individual party's share in that cost. As a result, estimates can change substantially as additional 
information becomes available regarding the nature or extent of site contamination, remediation methods, other PRPs and 
their probable level of involvement, and actions by or against governmental agencies or private parties. 

We have reviewed the nature and extent of our involvement at each Superfund site, as well as potential obligations arising 
under other federal, state and local environmental laws. While ultimate resolution and financial liability is uncertain at a 
number of the sites, in our opinion based on information currently available, the ultimate resolution of claims and 
assessments related to these sites will not have a material effect on our consolidated results of operations, financial position 
or cash flows, although amounts recorded in a given period could be material to our results of operations or cash flows for 
that period. Amounts accrued for environmental matters are presented in Note 8. 

We are a defendant in various lawsuits in the ordinary course of business. It is not possible to determine with precision the 
outcome, or the amount of liability, if any, under these lawsuits, especially where the cases involve possible jury trials with 
as yet undetermined jury panels. 

In addition to these lawsuits in which we are involved in the ordinary course of business, certain other material legal 
proceedings are specifically described below. 

■  Lower Passaic River Study Area (DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS) — The Lower Passaic River Study Area is part of the 
Diamond Shamrock Superfund Site in New Jersey. Vulcan and approximately 70 other companies are parties (collectively 
the Cooperating Parties Group, CPG) to a May 2007 Administrative Order on Consent (AOC) with the EPA to perform a 
Remedial Investigation/Feasibility Study (draft RI/FS) of the lower 17 miles of the Passaic River (River). The draft RI/FS 
was submitted recommending a targeted hot spot remedy; however, the EPA issued a record of decision (ROD) in March 
2016 that calls for a bank-to-bank dredging remedy for the lower 8 miles of the River. The EPA estimates that the cost of 
implementing this proposal is $1.38 billion. In September 2016, the EPA entered into an Administrative Settlement 
Agreement and Order on Consent with Occidental Chemical Corporation (Occidental) in which Occidental agreed to 
undertake the remedial design for this bank-to-bank dredging remedy, and to reimburse the United States for certain 
response costs. 

In August 2017, the EPA informed certain members of the CPG, including Vulcan, that it planned to use the services of a 
third-party allocator with the expectation of offering cash-out settlements to some parties in connection with the bank-to-
bank remedy. This voluntary allocation process is intended to establish an impartial third-party expert recommendation 
that may be considered by the government and the participants as the basis of possible settlements. We have begun 
participating in this voluntary allocation process, which is likely to take several years. 

In July 2018, Vulcan, along with more than one hundred other defendants, was sued by Occidental in United States 
District Court for the District of New Jersey, Newark Vicinage. Occidental is seeking cost recovery and contribution under 
CERCLA. It is unknown at this time whether the filing of the Occidental lawsuit will impact the EPA allocation process. 

In October 2018, the EPA ordered the CPG to prepare a streamlined feasibility study specifically for the upper nine miles 
of the River. This directive is focused on dioxin. 

Efforts to remediate the River have been underway for many years and have involved hundreds of entities that have had 
operations on or near the River at some point during the past several decades. We formerly owned a chemicals operation 
near the mouth of the River, which was sold in 1974. The major risk drivers in the River have been identified as dioxins, 
PCBs, DDx and mercury. We did not manufacture any of these risk drivers and have no evidence that any of these were 
discharged into the River by Vulcan. 
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The AOC does not obligate us to fund or perform the remedial action contemplated by either the draft RI/FS or the ROD. 
Furthermore, the parties who will participate in funding the remediation and their respective allocations have not been 
determined. We do not agree that a bank-to-bank remedy is warranted, and we are not obligated to fund any of the 
remedial action at this time; nevertheless, we previously estimated the cost to be incurred by us as a potential participant 
in a bank-to-bank dredging remedy and recorded an immaterial loss for this matter in 2015. 

■  TEXAS BRINE MATTER (DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS) — During the operation of its former Chemicals Division, 
Vulcan secured the right to mine salt out of an underground salt dome formation in Assumption Parish, Louisiana from 
1976 - 2005. Throughout that period and for all times thereafter, the Texas Brine Company (Texas Brine) was the 
operator contracted by Vulcan (and later Occidental) to mine and deliver the salt. We sold our Chemicals Division in 2005 
and transferred our rights and interest related to the salt and mining operations to the purchaser, a subsidiary of 
Occidental, and we have had no association with the leased premises or Texas Brine since that time. In August 2012, a 
sinkhole developed in the vicinity of the Texas Brine mining operations, and numerous lawsuits were filed in state court in 
Assumption Parish, Louisiana. Other lawsuits, including class action litigation, were also filed in federal court before the 
Eastern District of Louisiana in New Orleans. 

There are numerous defendants, including Texas Brine and Occidental, to the litigation in state and federal court. Vulcan 
was first brought into the litigation as a third-party defendant in August 2013 by Texas Brine. We were then added as a 
direct and third-party defendant by other parties, including a direct claim by the state of Louisiana. Damage categories 
encompassed within the litigation have included individual plaintiffs’ claims for property damage, a c laim by the State of 
Louisiana for response costs and civil penalties, claims by Texas Brine for response costs and lost profits, claims for 
physical damages to nearby oil and gas pipelines and storage facilities (pipelines), and business interruption claims. 

In addition to the plaintiffs’ claims, we were also sued for contractual indemnity and comparative fault by both Texas Brine 
and Occidental. It was alleged that the sinkhole was caused, in whole or in part, by our negligent actions or failure to act. 
It was also alleged that we breached the salt lease with Occidental, as well as an operating agreement and related 
contracts with Texas Brine; that we were strictly liable for certain property damages in our capacity as a former lessee of 
the salt lease; and that we violated certain covenants and conditions in the agreement under which we sold our Chemicals 
Division to Occidental. We likewise made claims for contractual indemnity and on a basis of comparative fault against 
Texas Brine and Occidental. Vulcan and Occidental have since dismissed all of their claims against one another. Texas 
Brine has claims that remain pending against Vulcan and against Occidental. 

A bench trial (judge only) began in September 2017 and ended in October 2017 in the pipeline cases. The trial was limited 
in scope to the allocation of comparative fault or liability for causing the sinkhole, with a damages phase of the trial to be 
held at a later date. In December 2017, the judge issued a ruling on the allocation of fault among the three defendants as 
follows: Occidental 50%, Texas Brine 35% and Vulcan 15%. This ruling has been appealed by the parties. 

We have settled all but two outstanding cases and our insurers have funded these settlements in excess of our self-
insured retention amount. The remaining cases involve Texas Brine and the State of Louisiana. Discovery remains 
ongoing and we cannot reasonably estimate a range of liability pertaining to these open cases at this time. 

■  NEW YORK WATER DISTRICT CASES (DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS) — During the operation of our former 
Chemicals Division, which was divested to Occidental in 2005, Vulcan manufactured a chlorinated solvent known as 
1,1,1-trichloroethane. We are a defendant in eleven cases allegedly involving 1,1,1-trichloroethane. All of the cases are 
filed in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York. According to the various complaints, the 
plaintiffs are public drinking water providers who serve customers in Nassau County and Suffolk County, New York. It is 
alleged that our 1,1,1-trichloroethane was stabilized with 1,4-dioxane and that various water wells of the plaintiffs are 
contaminated with 1,4-dioxane. The cases, against us and other defendants, have been filed by the following plaintiffs: 
Albertson Water District, Carle Place Water District, Garden City Park Water District, Jericho Water District, Manhasset-
Lakeview Water District, Oyster Bay Water District, Port Washington Water District, Roslyn Water District, Suffolk County 
Water Authority, Water Authority of Great Neck North, and the West Hempstead Water District (collectively, the Cases). 
The plaintiffs are seeking unspecified compensatory and punitive damages. We will vigorously defend the Cases. At this 
time we cannot determine the likelihood or reasonably estimate a range of loss, if any, pertaining to the Cases. 
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■  HEWITT LANDFILL MATTER (SUPERFUND SITE) — In September 2015, the Los Angeles Regional Water Quality 
Control Board (RWQCB) issued a Cleanup and Abatement Order (CAO) directing Vulcan to assess, monitor, cleanup and 
abate wastes that have been discharged to soil, soil vapor, and/or groundwater at the former Hewitt Landfill in Los 
Angeles. The CAO follows a 2014 Investigative Order from the RWQCB that sought data and a technical evaluation 
regarding the Hewitt Landfill, and a subsequent amendment to the Investigative Order requiring us to provide groundwater 
monitoring results to the RWQCB and to create and implement a work plan for further investigation of the Hewitt Landfill. 
In April 2016, we submitted an interim remedial action plan (IRAP) to the RWQCB, proposing an on-site pilot test of a 
pump and treat system for groundwater; testing and implementation of a leachate recovery system; and storm water 
capture and conveyance improvements. 

Operation of the on-site pilot-scale treatment system began in January 2017 and was completed in April 2017. With 
completion of the pilot testing and other investigative work, we submitted an amendment to the IRAP (AIRAP) to RWQCB 
in August 2017 proposing the use of a pump, treat and reinjection system. In December 2017, we submitted an 
addendum to the AIRAP, incorporating new data acquired since the prior submission. In February 2018, the AIRAP was 
approved by RWQCB. As a result of this approval, we have begun to implement the on-site source control activities 
described in the AIRAP, including procurement of vendors to perform the work and additional bench scale testing of the 
treatment system, which indicated that additional pre and post treatment of the water would be required. Based on the 
proposals from contractors for construction, operation and maintenance of the facility, we accrued an additional 
$10,392,000 of other operating expense during the fourth quarter of 2018, bringing the year-to-date and life-to-date total 
accruals for the on-site system to $19,032,000 and $34,271,000, respectively. 

We are also engaged in an ongoing dialogue with the EPA, the Los Angeles Department of Water and Power, and other 
stakeholders regarding the potential contribution of the Hewitt Landfill to groundwater contamination in the North 
Hollywood Operable Unit (NHOU) of the San Fernando Valley Superfund Site. We are gathering and analyzing data and 
developing technical information to determine the extent of possible contribution by the Hewitt Landfill to the groundwater 
contamination in the area. This work is also intended to assist in identification of other PRPs that may have contributed to 
groundwater contamination in the area. 

The EPA and Vulcan entered into an AOC and Statement of Work having an effective date of September 2017 for the 
design of two extraction wells south of the Hewitt Site to protect the North Hollywood West (NHW) well field. In November 
2017, we submitted a Pre-Design Investigation (PDI) Work Plan to the EPA, which sets forth the activities and schedule 
for our evaluation of the need for a two-well remedy. These activities were completed between the first and third quarters 
of 2018, and in December 2018 we submitted a PDI Evaluation Report to the EPA. The PDI Evaluation Report 
summarizes data collection activities conducted pursuant to the PDI Work Plan, and provides model updates and 
evaluation of remediation alternatives to protect the NHW and Rinaldi-Toluca well fields from 1,4-dioxane from the Hewitt 
Site. Vulcan has not yet received comments or feedback from the EPA or the Regional Board on the report. Until the 
EPA’s review of the PDI Evaluation Report is complete and an effective remedy can be agreed upon, we cannot identify 
an appropriate remedial action. Given the various stakeholders involved and the uncertainties relating to issues such as 
testing, monitoring, and remediation alternatives, we cannot reasonably estimate a loss pertaining to this matter. 

■  NAFTA ARBITRATION — In September 2018, our subsidiary Legacy Vulcan, LLC (Legacy Vulcan), on its own behalf, 
and on behalf of our Mexican subsidiary Calizas Industriales del Carmen, S.A. de C.V. (Calica), served the United 
Mexican States (Mexico) a Notice of Intent to Submit a Claim to Arbitration under Chapter 11 of the North American Free 
Trade Agreement (NAFTA). Our NAFTA claim relates to the treatment of a portion of our quarrying operations in the State 
of Quintana Roo, in Mexico’s Yucatan Peninsula, arising from, among other measures, Mexico’s failure to comply with a 
legally binding zoning agreement and to other unfair, arbitrary and capricious actions by Mexico’s environmental 
enforcement agency. We assert that these actions are in breach of Mexico’s international obligations under NAFTA and 
international law. 

As required by Article 1118 of NAFTA, we sought to settle this dispute with Mexico through consultations. Notwithstanding 
our good faith efforts to resolve the dispute amicably, we were unable to do so and filed a Request for Arbitration, which 
we filed with the International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes (ICSID) in December 2018. In January 2019, 
ICSID registered our Request for Arbitration. 

We expect that the NAFTA arbitration will take at least two years to be concluded. At this time, there can be no assurance 
whether we will be successful in our NAFTA claim, and we cannot quantify the amount we may recover, if any, under this 
arbitration proceeding if we were successful. 
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It is not possible to predict with certainty the ultimate outcome of these and other legal proceedings in which we are involved 
and a number of factors, including developments in ongoing discovery or adverse rulings, or the verdict of a particular jury, 
could cause actual losses to differ materially from accrued costs. No liability was recorded for claims and litigation for which 
a loss was determined to be only reasonably possible or for which a loss could not be reasonably estimated. Legal costs 
incurred in defense of lawsuits are expensed as incurred. In addition, losses on certain claims and litigation described above 
may be subject to limitations on a per occurrence basis by excess insurance, as described in Note 1 under the caption 
Claims and Litigation Including Self-insurance. 
 
 

NOTE 13: EQUITY 
Our capital stock consists solely of common stock, par value $1.00 per share. Holders of our common stock are entitled to 
one vote per share. Our Certificate of Incorporation also authorizes 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, of which no shares 
have been issued. The terms and provisions of such shares will be determined by our Board of Directors upon any issuance 
of preferred shares in accordance with our Certificate of Incorporation. 

There were no shares held in treasury as of December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016. 

Our common stock purchases (all of which were open market purchases) and subsequent retirements for the years ended 
December 31 are summarized below: 
         

in thousands, except average cost 2018   2017   2016  

Shares Purchased and Retired         
Number  1,192     510     1,427  
Total purchase price $      133,983    $       60,303    $     161,463  
Average price per share $        112.41    $       118.18    $       113.18  
 
As of December 31, 2018, 8,297,789 shares may be purchased under the current authorization of our Board of Directors. 

Dividends were as follows: 
 
         

in thousands, except per share data 2018   2017   2016  
Dividends         
Cash dividends $      148,109    $     132,335    $     106,333  
Cash dividends per share $            1.12    $           1.00    $           0.80  
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NOTE 14: OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
Comprehensive income comprises two subsets: net earnings and other comprehensive income (OCI). The components of 
other comprehensive income are presented in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income and 
Consolidated Statements of Equity, net of applicable taxes. 

Amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI), net of tax, at December 31, are as follows: 
 

        

in thousands 2018   2017   2016  

AOCI         
Interest rate hedges $       (11,180)   $     (11,438)   $     (13,300) 
Pension and postretirement plans  (161,035)    (138,028)    (126,076) 
Total $     (172,215)   $   (149,466)   $   (139,376) 
 
Changes in AOCI, net of tax, for the three years ended December 31, 2018 are as follows: 

        

   Pension and  
 Interest Rate   Postretirement   
in thousands Hedges   Benefit Plans   Total 

AOCI       
Balances at December 31, 2015 $       (14,494)   $   (105,575)   $   (120,069) 

Other comprehensive income (loss)         
  before reclassifications  0     (20,583)    (20,583) 
Amounts reclassified from AOCI  1,194     82     1,276  
Net OCI changes  1,194     (20,501)    (19,307) 
Balances at December 31, 2016 $       (13,300)   $   (126,076)   $   (139,376) 

Other comprehensive income (loss)         
  before reclassifications  0     (14,106)    (14,106) 
Amounts reclassified from AOCI  1,862     2,154     4,016  
Net OCI changes  1,862     (11,952)    (10,090) 
Balances at December 31, 2017 $       (11,438)   $   (138,028)   $   (149,466) 

Released stranded tax effects ASU 2018-02 (Note 9)  (2,464)    (27,165)    (29,629) 

Balances at January 1, 2018, due to reclassification $       (13,902)   $   (165,193)   $   (179,095) 

Other comprehensive income (loss)         
  before reclassifications  2,496     (207)    2,289  
Amounts reclassified from AOCI  226     4,365     4,591  
Net OCI changes  2,722     4,158     6,880  
Balances at December 31, 2018 $       (11,180)   $   (161,035)   $   (172,215) 
 
Amounts reclassified from AOCI to earnings, are as follows: 
 
         

in thousands 2018   2017   2016  

Amortization of Interest Rate Hedge Losses         
Interest expense $            306    $        3,070    $        2,008  
Benefit from income taxes  (80)    (1,208)    (814) 
Total $            226    $        1,862    $        1,194  
Amortization of Pension and Postretirement Plan         
  Actuarial Loss and Prior Service Cost         
Other nonoperating income $         5,906    $        2,915    $           134  
Benefit from income taxes  (1,541)    (761)    (52) 
Total $         4,365    $        2,154    $             82  
Total reclassifications from AOCI to earnings $         4,591    $        4,016    $        1,276  
  
  



 

Part II 109 
 

NOTE 15: SEGMENT REPORTING 
We have four operating (and reportable) segments organized around our principal product lines: Aggregates, Asphalt, 
Concrete and Calcium. Management reviews earnings from the product line reporting segments principally at the gross profit 
level. 

The Aggregates segment produces and sells aggregates (crushed stone, sand and gravel, sand, and other aggregates) and 
related products and services. During 2018, the Aggregates segment principally served markets in twenty states, 
Washington D.C., Mexico and the Bahamas with a full line of aggregates, and nine additional states with railroad ballast. 
Customers use aggregates primarily in the construction and maintenance of highways, streets and other public works and in 
the construction of housing and commercial, industrial and other nonresidential facilities. Customers are served by truck, rail 
and water distribution networks from our production facilities and sales yards. Due to the high weight-to-value ratio of 
aggregates, markets generally are local in nature. Quarries located on waterways and rail lines allow us to serve remote 
markets where local aggregates reserves may not be available.  

The Asphalt segment produces and sells asphalt mix in six states: Alabama, Arizona, California, New Mexico, Tennessee 
and Texas, and includes asphalt construction paving in three states: Alabama, Tennessee and Texas. We entered the 
Alabama and Tennessee asphalt markets in 2018 and 2017, respectively, through acquisitions (see Note 19). 

The Concrete segment produces and sells ready-mixed concrete in five states, Washington D.C. and an immaterial amount 
in the Bahamas. In 2018, we exited the Georgia ready-mixed concrete market through a divestiture (see Note 19). In 2017, 
we reentered the California ready-mixed concrete market through an acquisition and exited the Arizona market through a 
swap (see Note 19).  

The Calcium segment consists of a Florida facility that mines, produces and sells calcium products. 

Aggregates comprise approximately 95% of asphalt mix by weight and 80% of ready-mixed concrete by weight. Our Asphalt 
and Concrete segments are primarily supplied with their aggregates requirements from our Aggregates segment. These 
intersegment sales are made at local market prices for the particular grade and quality of product used in the production of 
asphalt mix and ready-mixed concrete. Customers for our Asphalt and Concrete segments are generally served locally at 
our production facilities or by truck. Because asphalt mix and ready-mixed concrete harden rapidly, delivery is time 
constrained and generally confined to a radius of approximately 20 to 25 miles from the producing facility. 

The vast majority of our activities are domestic. We sell a relatively small amount of construction aggregates outside the 
United States. Total domestic revenues were $4,365,309,000 in 2018, $3,872,494,000 in 2017 and $3,579,427,000 in 2016. 
Nondomestic Aggregates segment revenues were $17,560,000 in 2018, $17,802,000 in 2017 and $13,240,000 in 2016; 
there were no significant nondomestic revenues in our Asphalt, Concrete or Calcium segments. Long-lived assets outside 
the United States, which consist primarily of property, plant & equipment, were $278,520,000 in 2018, $211,282,000 in 2017 
and $188,652,000 in 2016. Equity method investments of $39,395,000 in 2018, $22,967,000 in 2017 and $22,965,000 in 
2016 are included below in the identifiable assets for the Aggregates segment and in investments and long-term receivables 
on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. 
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SEGMENT FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE 
 

        

in thousands 2018   2017   2016  

Total Revenues         
Aggregates 1 $    3,513,649    $    3,096,094    $    2,961,835  
Asphalt 2  733,182     622,074     512,310  
Concrete  401,999     417,745     330,125  
Calcium  8,110     7,740     8,860  
Segment sales $    4,656,940    $    4,143,653    $    3,813,130  
Aggregates intersegment sales  (274,071)    (253,357)    (220,463) 
Total revenues $    4,382,869    $    3,890,296    $    3,592,667  
Gross Profit         
Aggregates 3 $       991,858    $       854,524    $       863,811  
Asphalt 3  56,480     91,313     96,608  
Concrete 3  49,893     45,201     24,992  
Calcium  2,714     2,475     3,474  
Total  $    1,100,945    $       993,513    $       988,885  
Depreciation, Depletion, Accretion and Amortization (DDA&A)         
Aggregates $       281,641    $       245,151    $       236,472  
Asphalt  31,290     25,400     16,797  
Concrete  12,539     13,822     12,129  
Calcium  272     677     774  
Other  20,504     20,915     18,768  
Total $       346,246    $       305,965    $       284,940  
Capital Expenditures 4         
Aggregates $       422,175    $       421,989    $       297,737  
Asphalt  38,154     12,970     29,002  
Concrete  12,291     25,176     10,047  
Calcium  22     78     534  
Corporate  2,587     4,020     7,621  
Total $       475,229    $       464,233    $       344,941  
Identifiable Assets 5         
Aggregates $    8,887,749    $    8,409,505    $    7,589,225  
Asphalt  527,226     426,575     259,514  
Concrete   266,581     271,818     192,673  
Calcium  3,942     4,428     4,959  
Total identifiable assets $    9,685,498    $    9,112,326    $    8,046,371  
General corporate assets  102,228     245,919     157,085  
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash  44,404     146,646     268,019  
Total assets $    9,832,130    $    9,504,891    $    8,471,475  
 

1 Includes product sales, as well as freight & delivery costs that we pass along to our customers, and service revenues (see Note 
2) related to aggregates. 

2 Includes product sales, as well as service revenues (see Note 2) from our asphalt construction paving business.  
3 The 2017 and 2016 amounts have been revised as a result of our adoption of ASU 2017-07 as described in Note 1 under the 

captions New Accounting Standards and Accounting Standards Recently Adopted.  
4 Capital expenditures include capitalized replacements of and additions to property, plant & equipment, including capitalized 

leases, renewals and betterments. Capital expenditures exclude property, plant & equipment obtained by business acquisitions. 
5 Certain temporarily idled assets are included within a segment's Identifiable Assets but the associated DDA&A is shown within 

Other in the DDA&A section above as the related DDA&A is excluded from segment gross profit. 
   
  



 

Part II 111 
 

NOTE 16: SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
Supplemental information referable to the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows is summarized below: 
 

        

in thousands 2018   2017   2016  

Cash Payments         
Interest (exclusive of amount capitalized) $      128,217    $      285,801    $     135,039  
Income taxes  (65,968)    125,135     102,849  
Noncash Investing and Financing Activities         
Accrued liabilities for purchases of property,         
 plant & equipment $        37,116    $        31,267    $       26,676  

Amounts referable to business acquisitions         
 Liabilities assumed 1  5,405     3,876     798  
 Consideration payable to seller  4,500     9,681     0  
 Fair value of noncash assets and liabilities exchanged  0     9,900     0   
1 The 2018 amount includes adjustments to 2017 acquisitions.  

  
  

NOTE 17: ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS 
Asset retirement obligations (AROs) are legal obligations associated with the retirement of long-lived assets resulting from 
the acquisition, construction, development and/or normal use of the underlying assets. Recognition of a liability for an ARO 
is required in the period in which it is incurred at its estimated fair value. The associated asset retirement costs are 
capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the underlying asset and depreciated over the estimated useful life of the asset. 
The liability is accreted through charges to operating expenses. 

We record all AROs for which we have legal obligations for land reclamation at estimated fair value. These AROs relate to 
our underlying land parcels, including both owned properties and mineral leases. For the years ended December 31, we 
recognized ARO operating costs related to accretion of the liabilities and depreciation of the assets as follows: 
 
         

in thousands 2018   2017   2016  

ARO Operating Costs         
Accretion $        10,776    $        11,415    $       11,059   
Depreciation  6,034     6,302     6,353   
Total $        16,810    $        17,717    $       17,412   
 
ARO operating costs are reported in cost of revenues. AROs are reported within other noncurrent liabilities in our 
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of our AROs for the years ended December 31 are as follows: 
 
      

in thousands 2018   2017  

Asset Retirement Obligations      
Balance at beginning of year $      218,117    $      223,872   
  Liabilities incurred  20     1,920   
  Liabilities settled  (13,558)    (21,477)  
 Accretion expense  10,776     11,415   
 Revisions, net  10,371     2,387   

Balance at end of year $      225,726    $      218,117   
 
ARO liabilities settled during 2018 and 2017 include $6,934,000 and $11,578,000, respectively, of reclamation activities 
required under a development agreement and conditional use permits at two adjacent aggregates sites on owned property 
in Southern California. The reclamation required under the development agreement will result in the restoration of 90 acres 
of previously mined property to conditions suitable for commercial and retail development.  
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NOTE 18: GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
Acquired identifiable intangible assets are classified into three categories: (1) goodwill, (2) intangible assets with finite lives 
subject to amortization and (3) intangible assets with indefinite lives. Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are 
not amortized; rather, they are reviewed for impairment at least annually. For additional information about our policies on 
impairment reviews, see Note 1 under the captions Goodwill Impairment, and Impairment of Long-lived Assets excluding 
Goodwill. 

GOODWILL 
Goodwill is recognized when the consideration paid for a business exceeds the fair value of the tangible and identifiable 
intangible assets acquired. Goodwill is allocated to reporting units for purposes of testing goodwill for impairment. There 
were no charges for goodwill impairment in the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016. Accumulated goodwill 
impairment losses amount to $252,664,000 in the Calcium segment. 

We have four reportable segments organized around our principal product lines: Aggregates, Asphalt, Concrete and 
Calcium. Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by reportable segment for the three years ended December 31, 2018 
are as follows: 
 

              

in thousands Aggregates  Asphalt   Concrete   Calcium   Total 

Goodwill           
Totals at December 31, 2016 $   3,003,191    $     91,633    $              0    $              0    $  3,094,824  
Goodwill of acquired businesses 1  27,497     0     0     0     27,497  
Totals at December 31, 2017 $   3,030,688    $     91,633    $              0    $              0    $  3,122,321  
Goodwill of acquired businesses 1  43,075     0     0     0     43,075  
Totals at December 31, 2018 $   3,073,763    $     91,633    $              0    $              0    $  3,165,396  
 

1 See Note 19 for a summary of acquisitions. 
 
We test goodwill for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if events or circumstances change in a manner that 
would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value. A decrease in the estimated fair 
value of one or more of our reporting units could result in the recognition of a material, noncash write-down of goodwill. 

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
Intangible assets acquired in business combinations are stated at their fair value determined as of the date of acquisition. 
Costs incurred to renew or extend the life of existing intangible assets are capitalized. These capitalized renewal/extension 
costs were immaterial for the years presented. Intangible assets consist of contractual rights in place (primarily permitting 
and zoning rights), noncompetition agreements, favorable lease agreements, customer relationships and trade names and 
trademarks. Intangible assets acquired individually or otherwise obtained outside a business combination consist primarily of 
permitting, permitting compliance and zoning rights and are stated at their historical cost less accumulated amortization. 

See Note 19 for the details of the intangible assets acquired in business acquisitions during 2018, 2017 and 2016. 
Amortization of finite-lived intangible assets is computed based on the estimated life of the intangible assets. Contractual 
rights in place associated with aggregates reserves are amortized using the unit-of-sales method based on estimated 
recoverable units. Other intangible assets are amortized principally by the straight-line method. Intangible assets are 
reviewed for impairment when events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. There 
were no charges for impairment of intangible assets in 2018 and 2017. During 2016, we incurred $8,180,000 of impairment 
charges related to intangible Aggregates segment assets. 
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The gross carrying amount and accumulated amortization by major intangible asset class for the years ended December 31 
are summarized below: 
 

     

in thousands 2018   2017 

Gross Carrying Amount      
Contractual rights in place  $    1,107,838    $  1,050,816  
Noncompetition agreements  7,667     7,067  
Favorable lease agreements  9,479     9,479  
Permitting, permitting compliance and zoning rights  126,538     119,002  
Other 1  4,517     4,616  
Total gross carrying amount $    1,256,039    $  1,190,980  
Accumulated Amortization      
Contractual rights in place $      (122,100)   $     (94,534) 
Noncompetition agreements  (4,212)    (2,440) 
Favorable lease agreements  (3,533)    (3,179) 
Permitting, permitting compliance and zoning rights  (27,464)    (24,352) 
Other 1  (3,352)    (2,845) 
Total accumulated amortization $      (160,661)   $   (127,350) 
Total Intangible Assets Subject to Amortization, net $    1,095,378    $  1,063,630  
Intangible Assets with Indefinite Lives  0     0  
Total Intangible Assets, net $    1,095,378    $  1,063,630  
Amortization Expense for the Year $         34,924    $       23,765   

1 Includes customer relationships and tradenames and trademarks. 
 
Estimated amortization expense for the five years subsequent to December 31, 2018 is as follows: 
 
   

in thousands   

Estimated Amortization Expense for Five Subsequent Years  
2019 $        34,973   
2020  33,698   
2021  31,695   
2022  29,146   
2023  28,635     
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NOTE 19: ACQUISITIONS AND DIVESTITURES 

BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS 
2018 BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS — During 2018, we purchased the following operations for total consideration of 
$219,863,000 ($215,363,000 cash and $4,500,000 payable): 
 Alabama — aggregates, asphalt mix and construction paving operations 
 California — aggregates and asphalt mix operations 
 Texas — aggregates rail yards, asphalt mix and construction paving operations 

The 2018 acquisitions listed above are reported in our consolidated financial statements as of their respective acquisition 
dates. None of these acquisitions are material to our results of operations or financial position either individually or 
collectively. The fair value of consideration transferred for these business acquisitions and the preliminary amounts assigned 
(pending appraisals of contractual rights in place and property, plant & equipment) to assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed, are summarized below: 
 
      

in thousands 2018  

Fair Value of Purchase Consideration    
Cash    $     215,363  
Payable to seller     4,500  
Total fair value of purchase consideration    $     219,863  
Identifiable Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed      
Accounts and notes receivable, net    $       15,402  
Inventories     11,874  
Other current assets     661  
Property, plant & equipment     150,274  
Other intangible assets      
  Contractual rights in place     44,163  
Deferred income taxes, net     (32,871) 
Liabilities assumed     (11,965) 
Net identifiable assets acquired    $     177,538  
Goodwill    $       42,325  
 

As a result of the 2018 acquisitions, we recognized $44,163,000 of amortizable intangible assets (contractual rights in 
place). The contractual rights in place will be amortized against earnings ($43,072,000 - straight-line over a weighted-
average 19.9 years and $1,080,000 - units of sales in excess of 30.0 years) and $7,385,000 will be deductible for income tax 
purposes over 15 years. Of the $42,325,000 of goodwill recognized, $4,468,000 will be deductible for income tax purposes 
over 15 years, and $32,871,000 represents the balance of deferred tax liabilities generated from carrying over the seller’s 
tax basis in the assets acquired. 
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2017 BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS — During 2017 (excluding the assets immediately divested in the December 2017 
Aggregates USA acquisition for $287,292,000), we purchased the following operations related to material business 
acquisitions for total consideration of $793,523,000: 

 California — aggregates and ready-mixed concrete operations 

 Florida — aggregates operations 

 Georgia — aggregates operations 

 South Carolina — aggregates operations 

 Tennessee — asphalt mix and construction paving operations 

The amounts of total revenues and net earnings for the material business acquisitions noted above are included in our 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended December 31, 2017, as follows:  

     

in thousands 2017 

Actual Results     
Total revenues    $     162,462 
Net earnings     11,830  
 
The unaudited pro forma financial information in the table below summarizes the results of operations for Vulcan and these 
material business acquisitions as if they were combined as of January 1, 2016. The 2016 financial information does not 
reflect any cost savings, operating efficiencies or synergies as a result of these combinations. Transactions between Vulcan 
and these businesses during the periods presented in the pro forma financial information were immaterial and have been 
eliminated as if the companies were consolidated affiliates during the following periods:  
      

in thousands 2017   2016  

Supplemental Pro Forma Results     
Total revenues $  4,015,891    $  3,882,257  
Net earnings  610,494     433,431  
 
The unaudited pro forma results above may not be indicative of the results that would have been obtained had these 
acquisitions occurred at the beginning of 2016, nor does it intend to be a projection of future results. 

The fair value of consideration transferred for these material business acquisitions and the preliminary amounts assigned as 
of December 31, 2017 (immaterial adjustments were recorded in 2018 including an increase to goodwill of $750,000) to 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed, are summarized below: 

     

in thousands 2017 

Fair Value of Purchase Consideration     
Cash    $  1,072,978  
Payable to seller     7,837  
Total fair value of purchase consideration    $  1,080,815  
Identifiable Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed      
Accounts and notes receivable, net    $       14,955  
Inventories     21,679  
Other current assets     608  
Investments     3,590  
Property, plant & equipment     433,606  
Other intangible assets      
 Contractual rights in place     295,482  

Liabilities assumed     (3,894) 
Net identifiable assets acquired and retained    $     766,026  
Goodwill    $       27,497  
Net Assets Divested Immediately Upon Acquisition    $     287,292  
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Additionally, during 2017 we acquired the following operations related to immaterial business acquisitions for $48,490,000 of 
consideration ($36,746,000 cash, $1,844,000 payable and $9,900,000 of fair value of assets swapped): 

 Arizona — asphalt mix operations 

 Illinois — aggregates operations 

 New Mexico — aggregates operations 

 Tennessee — aggregates operations 

 Virginia — aggregates and ready-mixed concrete operations 

As a collective result of the 2017 acquisitions, we recognized $309,112,000 of amortizable intangible assets (primarily 
contractual rights in place).The contractual rights in place will be amortized against earnings ($73,879,000 - straight-line 
over a weighted-average 19.3 years and $235,133,000 - units of sales over an estimated 54.7 years) and deductible for 
income tax purposes over 15 years. Of the $28,247,000 of goodwill recognized, all will be deductible for income tax 
purposes over 15 years. 

2016 BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS — During 2016, the following operations were acquired for $33,287,000 of consideration 
($32,537,000 cash and $750,000 payable): 

 Georgia — aggregates distribution and logistical operations 

 New Mexico — asphalt mix operations 

 Texas — aggregates operations 

None of the 2016 acquisitions listed above are material to our results of operations or financial position either individually or 
collectively. As a result of these 2016 acquisitions, we recognized $16,670,000 of amortizable intangible assets 
($15,213,000 contractual rights in place and $1,457,000 of noncompetition agreement).The contractual rights in place will be 
amortized against earnings ($6,798,000 - straight-line over 20 years and $8,415,000 - units of sales over an estimated 20 
years) and deductible for income tax purposes over 15 years. 

DIVESTITURES AND PENDING DIVESTITURES 
In 2018, we sold: 

 First quarter — ready-mixed concrete operations in Georgia resulting in a pretax gain of $2,929,000 (we retained all real 
property which is leased to the buyer, and obtained a long-term aggregates supply agreement) 

In 2017, we sold: 

 Fourth quarter — swapped ready-mixed concrete operations in Arizona (fair value of $9,900,000 and book value of 
$1,879,000) for asphalt mix operations in Arizona resulting in a pretax gain of $8,021,000 

 Fourth quarter — as required by the Department of Justice, we immediately divested certain assets obtained in the 
Aggregates USA acquisition resulting in no gain 

In 2016, we sold: 

 Fourth quarter — surplus land in California and Virginia for net pretax cash proceeds of $19,185,000 resulting in pretax 
gains of $11,871,000 

 Fourth quarter — plant relocation reimbursement in Virginia for net pretax cash proceeds of $6,000,000 resulting in a 
pretax gain of $4,335,000 (this item is presented within other operating expense in the accompanying Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income) 

No assets met the criteria for held for sale at December 31, 2018, 2017 or 2016. 
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NOTE 20: UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTARY DATA 
The following is a summary of selected quarterly financial information (unaudited) for each of the years ended December 31, 
2018 and 2017: 
 

        

2018  
Three Months Ended  

in thousands, except per share data March 31  June 30  Sept 30 Dec 31 

Total revenues $     854,474   $  1,200,151   $  1,240,197   $  1,088,047  
Gross profit  159,334    323,184    343,142    275,285  
Operating earnings  81,195    230,843    249,184    186,491  
Earnings from continuing operations  53,395    160,302    179,864    124,280  
Net earnings  52,979    159,652    179,151    124,023  

Basic earnings per share from continuing operations $           0.40   $           1.21   $           1.36   $           0.94  
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations $           0.40   $           1.20   $           1.34   $           0.93  

Basic net earnings per share $           0.40   $           1.21   $           1.35   $           0.94  
Diluted net earnings per share $           0.39   $           1.19   $           1.34   $           0.93  
 
 

        

2017  
Three Months Ended  

in thousands, except per share data March 31  June 30  Sept 30 Dec 31 

Total revenues $     787,328   $  1,030,763   $  1,094,715   $     977,490  
Gross profit  158,221    290,017    303,758    241,517  
Operating earnings  70,388    191,976    227,478    149,202  
Earnings from continuing operations  43,523    111,749    110,150    327,969  
Net earnings  44,921    120,139    108,579    327,546  

Basic earnings per share from continuing operations $           0.33   $           0.84   $           0.83   $           2.47  
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations $           0.32   $           0.83   $           0.82   $           2.43  

Basic net earnings per share $           0.34   $           0.91   $           0.82   $           2.47  
Diluted net earnings per share $           0.33   $           0.89   $           0.81   $           2.43   
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ITEM 9 
CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL 

DISCLOSURE 
 

None. 

ITEM 9A 
CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

 
DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 
We maintain a system of controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports we 
file with the SEC is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified by the SEC's rules and 
forms. These disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Rules 13a - 15(e) or 
15d - 15(e)), include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that such information is accumulated 
and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely 
decisions regarding required disclosure. Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, with the participation of 
other management officials, evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of the disclosure controls and 
procedures as of December 31, 2018. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer 
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2018. 

No material changes were made during the fourth quarter of 2018 to our internal control over financial reporting, nor have 
there been other factors that materially affect these controls. 

MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING 
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining an adequate system of internal control over financial 
reporting as required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and as defined in Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). 

Under management's supervision, an evaluation of the design and effectiveness of our internal control over financial 
reporting was conducted based on the framework in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, management concluded 
that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2018. 

Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as auditors of our consolidated financial 
statements, has issued an attestation report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2018. Deloitte & Touche LLP's report, which expresses an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of our 
internal control over financial reporting, follows this report. 

LIMITATIONS OF EFFECTIVENESS OF CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 
In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and 
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired 
control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource 
constraints and that management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and 
procedures relative to their costs. 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM – INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING 
To the shareholders and Board of Directors of Vulcan Materials Company: 

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Vulcan Materials Company and subsidiaries (the “Company”) 
as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in 
all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.  

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
(PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018, of the Company and our 
report dated February 26, 2019, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements. 

Basis for Opinion 

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its 
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s 
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are 
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the 
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in 
all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the 
risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based 
on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe 
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures 
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to 
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts 
and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of 
the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisit ion, 
use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Because of the inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may 
deteriorate. 

 

 

  
  

 

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP 
 
Birmingham, Alabama 

February 26, 2019 
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ITEM 9B 
OTHER INFORMATION 

 
None. 
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PART III 
ITEM 10 

DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 
On or about March 26, 2019, we expect to file a definitive proxy statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
pursuant to Regulation 14A (our “2019 Proxy Statement”). The information under the headings “Proposal 1 - Election of 
Directors,” “Corporate Governance of our Company and Practices of our Board of Directors,” and “General Information - 
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” included in our 2019 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by 
reference. See also the information about our executive officers and governance policies set forth above in Part I, Item I 
“Business” of this report. 

 

ITEM 11 
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

 
The information under the headings “Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Director Compensation,” “Executive 
Compensation,” “Corporate Governance of our Company and Practices of our Board of Directors,” and “Compensation 
Committee Report” included in our 2019 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference. 

 

ITEM 12 
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED 

STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 
 
The information under the headings “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management,” “Equity 
Compensation Plans” and “Executive Compensation — Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control” included in our 
2019 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference. 

 

ITEM 13 
CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE 

 

The information under the heading “Corporate Governance of our Company and Practices of our Board of Directors” 
included in our 2019 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference. 

 

ITEM 14 
PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES 

 
The information under the heading entitled “Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” included in our 2019 Proxy 
Statement is incorporated herein by reference. 
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PART IV 
ITEM 15 

EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 
 
(a) (1) Financial statements 

The following financial statements are included herein on the pages shown below: 
        
  Page in Report  
 Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 63  
 Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 64  
 Consolidated Balance Sheets 65  
 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 66  
 Consolidated Statements of Equity 67  
 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 68 - 117 

(a) (2) Financial statement schedules 

Financial statement schedules are omitted because of the absence of conditions under which they are required or because 
the required information is provided in the financial statements or notes thereto. 

Financial statements (and summarized financial information) of 50% or less owned entities accounted for by the equity 
method have been omitted because they do not, considered individually or in the aggregate, constitute a significant 
subsidiary. 

(a) (3) Exhibits 

 
  

Exhibit 2 Membership Interest Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 24, 2017, by and among Vulcan 
Construction Materials, LLC, Aggregates USA Holdings Sub, LLC, Aggregates USA, LLC, solely 
for limited purposes, SPO Partners II, L.P., and, solely for limited purposes, Vulcan Materials 
Company, filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 25, 2017 
1, 3  

Exhibit 3(a) Certificate of Incorporation (Restated 2007) of the Company (formerly known as Virginia Holdco, 
Inc.), filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K on November 16, 2007 1 

Exhibit 3(b) Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Company (as amended through February 13, 2015) filed 
as Exhibit 3(b) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 27, 2015 1 

Exhibit 4(a) Senior Debt Indenture, dated as of December 11, 2007, between the Company and Wilmington 
Trust Company, as Trustee, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K on 
December 11, 2007 1 

Exhibit 4(b) First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 11, 2007, between Vulcan Materials 
Company and Wilmington Trust Company, as Trustee, to that certain Senior Debt Indenture, dated 
as of December 11, 2007, between the Company and Wilmington Trust Company, as Trustee, filed 
as Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K on December 11, 2007 1 
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Exhibit 4(c) Second Supplemental Indenture, dated June 20, 2008 between the Company and Wilmington 
Trust Company, as Trustee, to that certain Senior Debt Indenture dated as of December 11, 2007, 
filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 20, 2008 1 

Exhibit 4(d) Third Supplemental Indenture, dated February 3, 2009, between the Company and Wilmington 
Trust Company, as Trustee, to that certain Senior Debt Indenture dated as of December 11, 2007 
filed as Exhibit 10(f) to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 2, 2009 1 

Exhibit 4(e) Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated June 14, 2011, between the Company and Wilmington Trust 
Company, as Trustee, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on 
June 15, 2011 1 

Exhibit 4(f) Fifth Supplemental Indenture, dated March 30, 2015, between the Company and Regions Bank, as 
Trustee, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 30,  
2015 1 

Exhibit 4(g) Sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated March 14, 2017, between the Company and Regions Bank, 
as Trustee, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 14, 
2017 1 

Exhibit 4(h) Seventh Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 15, 2017, between Vulcan Materials Company 
and Regions Bank, as Trustee, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K 
filed on June 15, 2017 1 

Exhibit 4(i) Indenture, dated as of May 1, 1991, by and between Legacy Vulcan Corp. (formerly Vulcan 
Materials Company) and First Trust of New York (as successor trustee to Morgan Guaranty Trust 
Company of New York) filed as Exhibit 4 to the Form S-3 on May 2, 1991 (Registration No. 33-
40284) 1 

Exhibit 4(j) Supplemental Indenture No. 1, dated as of November 16, 2007, among the Company, Legacy 
Vulcan Corp. and The Bank of New York, as Trustee, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed on November 21, 2007 1 

Exhibit 4(k) Supplemental Indenture No. 2, dated as of June 30, 2015, between Legacy Vulcan, LLC and The 
Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee, filed as Exhibit 4(a) to the Company’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 5, 2015 1 

Exhibit 4(l) Term Loan Note, dated December 17, 2017, between Vulcan Materials Company and Bank of 
America, N.A., filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on 
December 21, 2017 1 

Exhibit 4(m) Guaranty Agreement, dated December 21, 2017, by each of the parties identified therein as 
Guarantors, each other subsidiary of Vulcan Materials Company that becomes a party thereto, and 
Bank of America, N.A., filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on 
December 21, 2017 1 

Exhibit 4(n) Eighth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of February 23, 2018, between Vulcan Materials 
Company and Regions Bank, as Trustee, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on 
Form 8-K filed on February 23, 2018 1 

Exhibit 4(o) Indenture, dated as of February 23, 2018, between Vulcan Materials Company and Regions Bank, 
as Trustee, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 26, 
2018 1 

Exhibit 4(p) Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of February 23, 2018, between Vulcan Materials 
Company and Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC, U.S. Bancorp Investments, Inc. and Wells Fargo 
Securities, LLC, filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on 
February 26, 2018 1 



 

Part IV 124 
  

Exhibit 10(a) Credit Agreement dated as of June 19, 2015 among the Company and SunTrust Bank as 
Administrative Agent, and other parties named therein filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 25, 2015 1 

Exhibit 10(b) Credit Agreement dated as of December 21, 2016 among the Company and SunTrust Bank, as 
Administrative Agent, and the Lenders and other parties named therein filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the 
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 22, 2016 1 

Exhibit 10(c) Unfunded Supplemental Benefit Plan for Salaried Employees, as amended, filed as Exhibit 10.4 to 
the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 17, 2008 1,2 

Exhibit 10(d) Amendment No. 1 to the Unfunded Supplemental Benefit Plan for Salaried Employees filed as 
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K on January 7, 2014 1,2 

Exhibit 10(e) Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors Who Are Not Employees of the Company, as amended, 
filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 17, 2008 1,2 

Exhibit 10(f) The 2006 Omnibus Long-Term Incentive Plan of the Company filed as Appendix C to Legacy 
Vulcan Corp.’s 2006 Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on April 13, 2006 1,2 

Exhibit 10(g) Amendment to the 2006 Omnibus Long-Term Incentive Plan of the Company filed as Appendix A 
to the Company’s 2011 Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed March 31, 2011 1,2 

Exhibit 10(h) Amendment to the 2006 Omnibus Long-Term Incentive Plan of the Company dated February 9, 
2012, filed as Exhibit 10(l) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2011 filed on February 29, 2012 1,2 

Exhibit 10(i) Restricted Stock Plan for Nonemployee Directors of the Company, as amended, filed as Exhibit 
10.6 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 17, 2008 1,2 

Exhibit 10(j) Executive Deferred Compensation Plan, as amended, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 17, 2008 1,2 

Exhibit 10(k) Form of Change of Control Employment Agreement dated January 1, 2016, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to 
the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 7, 2016 1,2 

Exhibit 10(l) Vulcan Materials Company Change of Control Severance Plan for Senior Officers, effective 
January 1, 2016, filed as Exhibit 10(m) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on 
February 25, 2016 1,2 

Exhibit 10(m) Executive Incentive Plan of the Company, as amended, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 17, 2008 1,2 

Exhibit 10(n) Supplemental Executive Retirement Agreement filed as Exhibit 10 to Legacy Vulcan Corp.’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2001 filed on November 2,  
2001 1,2 

Exhibit 10(o) Form of Stock Option Agreement filed as Exhibit 10(o) to Legacy Vulcan Corp.’s Report on Form 8-
K filed on December 20, 2005 1,2 

Exhibit 10(p) Form of Director Deferred Stock Unit Agreement filed as Exhibit 10.9 to the Company's Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed on December 17, 2008 1,2 

Exhibit 10(q) Form of Performance Share Unit Agreement filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report 
on Form 8-K filed on March 11, 2010 1,2 
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Exhibit 10(r) Form of Performance Share Unit Agreement (2012) filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed on February 14, 2012 1,2 

Exhibit 10(s) Form of Stock-Only Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement filed as Exhibit 10(q) to Legacy Vulcan 
Corp.’s Report on Form 10-K filed on February 26, 2007 1,2 

Exhibit 10(t) Stock-Only Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement between the Company and John R. McPherson 
dated November 9, 2011, filed as Exhibit 10(a) to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed 
on November 15, 2011 1,2 

Exhibit 10(u) Form of Employee Deferred Stock Unit Amended Agreement filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the 
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 17, 2008 1,2 

Exhibit 10(v) Vulcan Materials Company 2016 Omnibus Long-Term Incentive Plan, filed as Exhibit 99 to the 
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-211349) filed on May 13, 2016 1,2 

Exhibit 10(w) Form of Non-Employee Director Deferred Stock Unit Agreement under the Vulcan Materials 
Company 2016 Omnibus Long-Term Incentive Plan, filed as Exhibit 10(y) to the Company’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 3, 2016 1,2 

Exhibit 10(x) Form of Stock-Only Stock Appreciation Rights Award Agreement under the Vulcan Materials 
Company 2016 Omnibus Long-Term Incentive Plan, filed as Exhibit 10(z) to the Company’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 3, 2016 1,2 

Exhibit 10(y) Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the Vulcan Materials Company 2016 
Omnibus Long-Term Incentive Plan, filed as Exhibit 10(aa) to the Company’s Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q filed on August 3, 2016 1,2 

Exhibit 10(z) Form of Performance Share Unit Award Agreement under the Vulcan Materials Company 2016 
Omnibus Long-Term Incentive Plan, filed as Exhibit 10(bb) to the Company’s Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q filed on August 3, 2016 1,2 

Exhibit 10(aa) Separation Agreement, dated as of July 7, 2018, by and between John R. McPherson and Vulcan 
Materials Company, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on 
July 10, 2018 1, 2 

Exhibit 10(bb) Offer Letter, dated as of June 19, 2018, by and between Suzanne H. Wood and Vulcan Materials 
Company, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current report on Form 8-K filed on July 10, 2018 
1, 2  

Exhibit 21 List of the Company's material subsidiaries as of January 31, 2018 

Exhibit 23 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

Exhibit 24 Powers of Attorney 

Exhibit 31(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

Exhibit 31(b) Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

Exhibit 32(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

Exhibit 32(b) Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

Exhibit 95 MSHA Citations and Litigation 
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Exhibit 101.INS XBRL Instance Document 

Exhibit 101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document 

Exhibit 101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document 

Exhibit 101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document 

Exhibit 101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document 

Exhibit 101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document 

1 Incorporated by reference. 
2 Management contract or compensatory plan. 
3 The schedules and exhibits to the Purchase Agreement have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. 

Vulcan agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of such schedules and exhibits, or any section thereof, to the SEC upon 
request. 

 
Our SEC file number for documents filed with the SEC pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is 
001-33841. 
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ITEM 16 

FORM 10-K SUMMARY 
 

We have chosen not to include an optional summary of the information required by this Form 10-K. 
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SIGNATURES 

 
 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused 
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on February 26, 2019. 

 
 

 VULCAN MATERIALS COMPANY 
 

 
 

 
J. Thomas Hill 
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer 
 

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following 
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 

Signature 
 

Title 
 

Date 
 

            
J. Thomas Hill 

Chairman, President 
and Chief Executive Officer 
(Principal Executive Officer) 
 

 
February 26, 2019 

 

 

                                                                                           

Suzanne H. Wood 

Senior Vice President 
and Chief Financial Officer 
(Principal Financial Officer) 
 

 
February 26, 2019 

              
Randy L. Pigg 

Vice President, Controller 
(Principal Accounting Officer) 

 
February 26, 2019 

   
The following directors: 
 
Thomas A. Fanning 
O. B. Grayson Hall, Jr. 
Cynthia L. Hostetler 
Richard T. O'Brien 
James T. Prokopanko 
Kathleen L. Quirk 
David P. Steiner 
Lee J. Styslinger, III 

 
 
Director 
Director 
Director 
Director 
Director 
Director 
Director 
Director 

  

   

 
Michael R. Mills 
Attorney-in-Fact 

  
February 26, 2019 
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EXHIBIT 21 
SUBSIDIARIES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2018 

    

State or Other 
Jurisdiction of 

Incorporation or Organization 

 

% Owned 
Directly or 

Indirectly by Vulcan 

Aggregates USA, LLC 
Aggregates USA (Augusta), LLC 
Aggregates USA (Macon), LLC 
Aggregates USA (Savannah), LLC 
Aggregates USA (Sparta), LLC 
Arundel Company, LLC 
Azusa Rock, LLC 
Black Point Aggregates, Inc. 
Calhoun Asphalt Company, Inc. 
Calizas Industriales del Carmen, S.A. de C.V. 
CalMat Co. 
Central Division Logistics, LLC 
Chem-Marine Corporation of South Carolina 
DMG Equipment Company, LLC 
Florida Rock Industries, Inc. 
Freeport Aggregates Limited 
FRI Bahamas Ltd. 
Fulton Concrete Company, LLC 
Harper Brothers, LLC 
Heritage Logistics, LLC 
Legacy Vulcan, LLC 
Maryland Rock Industries, LLC 
Maryland Stone, LLC 
McCartney Construction Company, Inc. 
McCartney Construction Company, LLC 
Mideast Division Logistics, LLC 
Mountain West Logistics, LLC 
North American Recycling and Crushing, LLC 
Rancho Piedra Caliza, S.A. de C.V. 
Rapica Servicios Tecnicos Y Administrativos, S.A. de C.V. 
R. C. Smith Companies, LLC 
RECO Transportation, LLC 
S & G Concrete Company, LLC 
Salisbury Towing, LLC 
Servicios Integrales, Gestoria Y Administracion, S.A. de C. V. 
Soportes Tecnicos Y Administrativos, S.A. de C.V. 
Southeast Division Logistics, LLC 
Southern Gulf Coast Division Logistics, LLC 
Statewide Transport, LLC 
TCS Materials, LLC 
Triangle Rock Products, LLC 
VGCM, B.V. 
Virginia Concrete Company, LLC 
Vulcan Aggregates Company, LLC 
Vulcan Asphalt, LLC 
Vulcan Concrete, LLC 
Vulcan Construction Materials, LLC 
Vulcan Gulf Coast Materials, LLC 
Vulcan International, B.V. 
Vulcan Lands, Inc. 
Vulica Shipping Company, Limited 

 
 
Delaware 
Delaware 
Delaware 
Delaware 
Delaware 
Delaware 
Delaware 
Nova Scotia 
Alabama 
Mexico 
Delaware 
Delaware 
South Carolina 
Delaware 
Florida 
Bahamas 
Bahamas 
Delaware 
Delaware 
Delaware 
Delaware 
Delaware 
Delaware 
Alabama 
Alabama 
Delaware 
Delaware 
Delaware 
Mexico 
Mexico 
Delaware 
Delaware 
Delaware 
Delaware 
Mexico 
Mexico 
Delaware 
Delaware 
Delaware 
Delaware 
Delaware 
Netherlands 
Delaware 
Delaware 
Delaware 
Delaware 
Delaware 
North Carolina 
Netherlands 
New Jersey 
Bahamas 

 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
100 
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EXHIBIT 23 
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

 
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statements No. 333-223626, 333-197519 and 333-196819 on 
Form S-3, Registration Statement No. 333-227903 on Form S-4 and Registration Statements No. 333-211349, 333-182498, 
333-160302, 333-148993, 333-148238, 333-147450, and 333-147449 on Form S-8 of our reports dated February 26, 2019, 
relating to the consolidated financial statements of Vulcan Materials Company and subsidiaries (the “Company”), and the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of 
Vulcan Materials Company for the year ended December 31, 2018. 

 

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP 

Birmingham, Alabama 
February 26, 2019 
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EXHIBIT 24 

POWER OF ATTORNEY 
 
 
The undersigned director of Vulcan Materials Company, a New Jersey corporation, hereby nominates, constitutes and 
appoints Michael R. Mills, Jerry F. Perkins Jr. and C. Samuel Todd and each of them, the true and lawful attorneys of the 
undersigned to sign the name of the undersigned as director to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2018 of said corporation to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and to any and all amendments to said report. 

The undersigned hereby grants to said attorneys full power of substitution, resubstitution and revocation, all as fully as the 
undersigned could do if personally present, hereby ratifying all that said attorneys or their substitutes may lawfully do by 
virtue hereof. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned director of Vulcan Materials Company has executed this Power of Attorney this 
8th day of February, 2019. 

 
   

   
 /s/ Thomas A. Fanning  
      Thomas A. Fanning  
   
 /s/ O. B. Grayson Hall, Jr.  
      O. B. Grayson Hall, Jr.  
   
 /s/ Cynthia L. Hostetler  
      Cynthia L. Hostetler  
   
 /s/ Richard T. O'Brien  
      Richard T. O'Brien  
   
 /s/ James T. Prokopanko  
      James T. Prokopanko  
   
 /s/ Kathleen L Quirk  
      Kathleen L. Quirk  
   
 /s/ David P. Steiner  
      David P. Steiner  
   
 /s/ Lee J. Styslinger, III  
      Lee J. Styslinger, III  
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EXHIBIT 31(a) 
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

 
    
    
    

I, J. Thomas Hill, certify that: 
 
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Vulcan Materials Company; 

 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 

material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements 
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 
 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly 
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, 
and for the periods presented in this report; 
 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting 
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 
 

 a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in 
which this report is being prepared; 
 

 b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting 
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles; 
 

 c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report 
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period 
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 
 

 d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred 
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual 
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control 
over financial reporting; and 
 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control 
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or 
persons performing the equivalent functions): 
 

 a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize 
and report financial information; and 
 

 b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in 
the registrant's internal control over financial reporting. 
 

Date       February 26, 2019 
   

 
J. Thomas Hill 
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer 
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EXHIBIT 31(b) 
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 

 
    
    
    
    

I, Suzanne H. Wood, certify that: 
 
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Vulcan Materials Company; 

 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 

material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements 
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 
 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly 
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, 
and for the periods presented in this report; 
 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting 
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 
 

 a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in 
which this report is being prepared; 
 

 b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting 
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles; 
 

 c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report 
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period 
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 
 

 d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred 
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual 
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control 
over financial reporting; and 
 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control 
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or 
persons performing the equivalent functions): 
 

 a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize 
and report financial information; and 
 

 b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in 
the registrant's internal control over financial reporting. 
 

Date       February 26, 2019 
    

 
 

 

Suzanne H. Wood 
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
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EXHIBIT 32(a) 
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

OF 
VULCAN MATERIALS COMPANY 

PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

 
 

    

I, J. Thomas Hill, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of Vulcan Materials Company, certify that the Annual 
Report on Form 10-K (the “report”) for the year ended December 31, 2018, filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on the date hereof: 
 
 (i) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 

1934, as amended, and 
 

 

 (ii) the information contained in the report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial 
condition and results of operations of Vulcan Materials Company. 
 

 

  

 
J. Thomas Hill 
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer 
February 26, 2019 
 

 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or 
otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by 
Section 906, has been provided to Vulcan Materials Company and will be retained by Vulcan Materials Company and 
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. 
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EXHIBIT 32(b) 
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 

OF 
VULCAN MATERIALS COMPANY 

PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

 
    
    

I, Suzanne H. Wood, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Vulcan Materials Company, certify that the Annual 
Report on Form 10-K (the “report”) for the year ended December 31, 2018, filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on the date hereof: 
 
 (i) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 

1934, as amended, and 
 

 

 (ii) the information contained in the report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial 
condition and results of operations of Vulcan Materials Company. 
 

 

  
 
 

 

Suzanne H. Wood 
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
February 26, 2019 
 

 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or 
otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by 
Section 906, has been provided to Vulcan Materials Company and will be retained by Vulcan Materials Company and 
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. 
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EXHIBIT 95 
MSHA CITATIONS AND LITIGATION 

 
On July 21, 2010, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the Dodd-Frank Act) was enacted. 
Section 1503 of the Dodd-Frank Act requires companies that are “operators” (as such term is defined in the Federal Mine 
Safety and Health Act of 1977 (the Mine Act)) to disclose certain mine safety information in each periodic report to the 
Securities and Exchange Commission. This information is related to the enforcement of the Mine Act by the Mine Safety and 
Health Administration (MSHA). 
 

The Dodd-Frank Act and the subsequent implementing regulation issued by the SEC require disclosure of the following 
categories of violations, orders and citations: (1) Section 104 S&S Citations, which are citations issued for violations of 
mandatory health or safety standards that could significantly and substantially contribute to the cause and effect of a mine 
safety or health hazard; (2) Section 104(b) Orders, which are orders issued upon a follow up inspection where the inspector 
finds the violation previously cited has not been totally abated in the prescribed time period; (3) Section 104(d) Citations and 
Orders, which are issued upon violations of mandatory health or safety standards caused by an unwarrantable failure of the 
operator to comply with the standards; (4) Section 110(b)(2) Violations, which result from the reckless and repeated failure 
to eliminate a known violation; (5) Section 107(a) Orders, which are given when MSHA determines that an imminent danger 
exists and results in an order of immediate withdrawal from the area of the mine affected by the condition; and (6) written 
notices from MSHA of a pattern of violations of mandatory health or safety standards that are of such nature as could have 
significantly and substantially contributed to the cause and effect of mine health or safety hazards under Section 104(e). In 
addition, the Dodd-Frank Act requires the disclosure of the total dollar value of proposed assessments from MSHA under the 
Mine Act and the total number of mining related fatalities. 
 

The following disclosures are made pursuant to Section 1503. 
 

During the twelve months ended December 31, 2018, none of our operations: (i) received any orders under Section 104(b), 
which are issued upon a follow up inspection where the inspector finds the violation previously cited has not been totally 
abated in the prescribed time period; (ii) had any flagrant violations under Section 110(b)(2); (iii) received notice from MSHA 
of a pattern of violations of mandatory health or safety standards under Section 104(e); or (iv) had any mining-related 
fatalities. 
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CALENDAR YEAR 2018 
 

The table below sets forth, by mine, the total number of citations and/or orders issued by MSHA during the period covered 
by this report under the indicated provisions of the Mine Act, together with the total dollar value of proposed assessments, if 
any, from MSHA, received during the twelve months ended December 31, 2018. Of our 257 active MSHA-regulated facilities 
during the year, we received 494 federal mine safety inspections at 229 facilities during the reporting period. Of our 
inspected facilities, 189 did not receive any reportable citations or orders. 
 

  
 

Name of Operation 
Number of 

Inspections 

Total 
Number 
of S&S 

Citations 

Mine 
Act 

§ 104(b) 
Orders 

Mine Act  
§ 104(d) 

Citations 
and 

Orders 

Mine Act 
§ 110(b)(2) 
Violations 

Mine 
Act 

§ 107(a) 
Orders 

Total Dollar 
Value of 

Proposed 
MSHA 

Assessments 
(dollars in 

thousands) 

Total 
Number 

of Mining 
Related 

Fatalities  

Received 
Written 
Notice 
under 

Mine Act 
§ 104(e) 
(yes/no)  

ADAIRSVILLE, GA 3 2 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 No 
BARBER'S CORNERS, IL 2 1 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 No 
BARTLETT, IL 5 4 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 No 
BLACK ANGUS, AZ 2 2 0 0 0 0 0.8 0 No 
BLAIR, SC 1 1 0 0 0 0 0.8 0 No 
BOLINGBROOK, IL 4 1 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 No 
BRISTOL, TN 2 1 0 0 0 0 0.7 0 No 
BROOKSVILLE CALCIUM, FL 2 1 0 0 0 0 0.8 0 No 
BROWNWOOD, TX 4 1 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 No 
CALERA, AL 3 2 0 0 0 1 0.5 0 No 
CENTRAL KY, KY 8 3 0 0 0 0 1.1 0 No 
CHATTANOOGA, TN 3 1 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 No 
CHEROKEE SG, AL 2 2 0 0 0 0 0.3 0 No 
COLUMBIA MSD, TN 4 1 0 0 0 0 0.2 0 No 
FORT MYERS, FL 3 1 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 No 
FREDERICK, MD 2 1 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 No 
FRESNO, CA 2 1 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 No 
FT PAYNE, AL 2 2 0 0 0 0 0.2 0 No 
GRAND RIVERS, KY 4 1 0 0 0 0 0.4 0 No 
HAVRE DE GRACE, MD 2 2 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 No 
HELOTES, TX 4 1 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 No 
HUNTSVILLE NORTH, AL 4 1 0 0 0 0 0.4 0 No 
KNIPPA, TX 1 1 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 No 
LYMAN, SC 1 1 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 No 
MARYVILLE, TN 3 1 0 0 0 0 0.2 0 No 
MCCOOK, IL 2 2 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 No 
MONTEREY SAND, TN 3 1 0 0 0 0 0.2 0 No 
NORTH TROY QUARRY, OK 2 3 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 No 
PINEVILLE, NC 3 2 0 0 0 0 0.9 0 No 
QUEEN CREEK, AZ 2 1 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 No 
READYVILLE, TN 3 2 0 0 0 0 0.4 0 No 
RIVERSIDE DRIVE, TN 3 1 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 No 
SAN EMIDIO, CA 4 1 0 0 0 0 0.9 0 No 
SOUTH TEXAS PORTABLE 
STONE, TX 2 1 0 0 0 1 0.0 0 No 
SPRUCE PINE, NC 2 1 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 No 
STAFFORD MED, VA 2 1 0 0 0 0 0.8 0 No 
SUN CITY, AZ 2 2 0 0 0 0 1.8 0 No 
TORRANCE, NM 4 4 0 0 0 0 1.2 0 No 
WEST 43RD, AZ 1 1 0 0 0 0 1.0 0 No 
YORK, PA 2 1 0 0 0 0 0.8 0 No 
OTHER OPERATIONS - 189 384 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 0 No 
Total 494 60 0 0 0 2 14.2 0  

 
The total dollar value of proposed assessments received during the twelve months ended December 31, 2018 for all other 
citations, as well as proposed assessments received during the reporting period for citations previously issued, is $143,078. 
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The table below sets forth, by mine, category of legal action and number of legal actions pending before the Federal Mine 
Safety and Health Review Commission as of December 31, 2018.  
 

 Number of Legal Actions 

Name of Operation 
Contest 
Penalty 

Contest 
Citations 

Complaint of 
Discharge, 

Discrimination 
FORT PAYNE QUARRY, AL 1 0 0 
PLACITAS, NM 3 0 0 

 
The table below sets forth, by mine, category of legal action and number of legal actions filed before the Federal Mine Safety 
and Health Review Commission during the twelve months ended December 31, 2018. 
 

 Number of Legal Actions 

Name of Operation 
Contest 
Penalty 

Contest 
Citations 

Complaint of 
Discharge, 

Discrimination 
CHEROKEE SG, AL 1 0 0 
HELOTES, TX 0 0 1 
SPICEWOOD QUARRY, TX 1 0 0 
STAFFORD MED, VA 1 0 0 

 
The table below sets forth, by mine, category of legal action and number of legal actions resolved by the Federal Mine 
Safety and Health Review Commission during the twelve months ended December 31, 2018. 
 

 Number of Legal Actions 

Name of Operation 
Contest 
Penalty 

Contest 
Citations 

Complaint of 
Discharge, 

Discrimination 
BOLINGBROOK UNDERGROUND, IL 10 0 0 
CALERA QUARRY, AL 2 0 0 
DALE PLANT, VA 1 0 0 
ENKA, NC 1 0 0 
GRAHAM-VIRGINIA, VA 2 0 0 
LAUREL SAND PLANT, FL 1 0 0 
MARANA PLANT, AZ 1 0 0 
MICO QUARRY, TX 1 0 0 
PLACITAS, NM 1 0 0 
PINEVILLE, NC 1 0 0 
SCOTTSBORO QUARRY, AL 1 0 0 
ST. ROSE SAND & GRAVEL, LA 1 0 0 
VAL VISTA – CITRUS GROVE 150, AZ 2 0 0 
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VULCAN MATERIALS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

ENTERPRISE FINANCIAL DATA 
in millions 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Average Capital Employed 1

Continuing operations 9,170.0$     8,227.0$   7,757.3$   7,674.3$   7,480.6$   7,660.6$   7,662.4$   7,845.9$   8,070.5$   8,385.2$   8,527.7$   
Cash items 77.1            496.5        207.3        179.0        215.4        197.1        208.8        112.7        82.7          52.5          104.2        
    Subtotal 9,247.1$     8,723.5$   7,964.6$   7,853.3$   7,696.0$   7,857.7$   7,871.2$   7,958.6$   8,153.2$   8,437.7$   8,631.9$   
Discontinued operations 2.8              13.4          4.4            3.6            9.1            (1.0)          (8.3)          6.9            2.2            4.6            1.3            
    Total 9,249.9$     8,736.9$   7,969.0$   7,856.9$   7,705.1$   7,856.7$   7,862.9$   7,965.5$   8,155.4$   8,442.3$   8,633.2$   

Capital Expenditures 2

Continuing operations 475.2$        464.2$      344.9$      304.0$      223.1$      284.6$      95.8$        97.9$        79.4$        106.5$      354.2$      

Property, Plant & Equipment
  from Acquisitions -
  Continuing Operations 148.3$        465.6$      15.5$        26.6$        194.0$      76.2$        0.0$          56.6$        51.2$        14.2$        85.4$        

Depreciation, Depletion,
  Accretion and
  Amortization from
  Continuing Operations 346.2$        306.0$      284.9$      274.8$      279.5$      307.1$      332.0$      361.7$      382.1$      394.6$      389.1$      

Increase (Decrease)
  in Working Capital
Continuing operations 58.8$          136.8$      51.0$        (29.9)$      15.9$        34.6$        (12.6)$      2.4$          (20.8)$      (102.4)$    (153.4)$    
Cash, debt and other
   financing working capital 201.8          (164.5)      (17.2)        292.4        (199.7)      69.2          104.3        263.0        351.0        756.7        755.2        
    Total 260.6$        (27.7)$      33.8$        262.5$      (183.8)$    103.8$      91.7$        265.4$      330.2$      654.3$      601.8$      

Gain on Sale of Property, Plant
  & Equipment and Businesses
Continuing operations 14.9$          17.8$        15.4$        9.9$          244.2$      39.3$        68.5$        47.8$        59.3$        27.1$        94.2$        
Discontinued operations 0.0              0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            11.7          10.2          11.0          8.8            0.8            0.0            
    Total 14.9$          17.8$        15.4$        9.9$          244.2$      51.0$        78.7$        58.8$        68.1$        27.9$        94.2$        

Cash Proceeds from Sale of 
  Property, Plant & Equipment,
  Businesses and Volumetric
  Production Payment 3

Continuing operations 22.2$          15.8$        23.3$        8.2$          747.4$      209.3$      164.3$      76.1$        55.8$        22.3$        241.3$      
Discontinued operations 0.0              0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            13.0          11.3          12.3          8.8            11.5          10.0          
    Total 22.2$          15.8$        23.3$        8.2$          747.4$      222.3$      175.6$      88.4$        64.6$        33.8$        251.3$      

1 Capital employed is the sum of interest-bearing debt, other noncurrent liabilities and equity. Average capital employed is a 12-month average.
2 Capital expenditures include capitalized replacements of and additions to property, plant & equipment, including capitalized leases, renewals and betterments. Capital

expenditures exclude property, plant & equipment obtained by business acquisitions.
3 Cash proceeds for 2013 and 2012 include $153.1 million and $73.6 million, respectively, of Volumetric Production Payments as described in Note 2, Revenues.
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VULCAN MATERIALS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

CONTINUING OPERATIONS—SUPPLEMENTARY DATA 
in millions, except per unit data 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Total Revenues
Aggregates 1 3,513.6$     3,096.1$   2,961.8$   2,777.8$   2,346.4$   2,025.0$   1,863.9$   1,891.7$   1,919.9$   1,985.4$   2,605.1$   
Asphalt 2 733.2          622.1        512.3        530.7        445.6        407.7        398.4        399.0        369.9        393.7        533.4        
Concrete 3 402.0          417.8        330.1        299.2        375.8        471.7        406.4        374.7        383.2        439.4        667.8        
Calcium  4 8.1              7.7            8.9            8.6            25.0          99.0          85.8          71.9          80.2          72.5          106.5        
    Segment sales 4,656.9$     4,143.7$   3,813.1$   3,616.3$   3,192.8$   3,003.4$   2,754.5$   2,737.3$   2,753.2$   2,891.0$   3,912.8$   
Aggregates intersegment sales (274.0)         (253.4)      (220.4)      (194.1)      (189.4)      (185.4)      (148.2)      (142.6)      (154.1)      (165.3)      (206.8)      
Calcium intersegment sales 0.0              0.0            0.0            0.0            (9.2)          (47.3)        (39.0)        (30.1)        (40.2)        (35.2)        (54.6)        
Total revenues 4,382.9$     3,890.3$   3,592.7$   3,422.2$   2,994.2$   2,770.7$   2,567.3$   2,564.6$   2,558.9$   2,690.5$   3,651.4$   

Average Unit Sales Price
  and Unit Shipments
Aggregates
Freight-adjusted revenues 5 2,667.3$     2,392.7$   2,294.2$   2,112.5$   1,794.0$   1,576.0$   1,471.6$   1,466.1$   1,495.1$   1,553.9$   2,038.4$   
Aggregates — tons 201.4          183.2        181.4        178.3        162.4        145.9        141.0        143.0        147.6        150.9        204.3        
Freight-adjusted sales price 6 13.25$        13.06$      12.65$      11.85$      11.05$      10.80$      10.44$      10.25$      10.13$      10.30$      9.98$        

Other products
Asphalt Mix — tons 11.3            10.9          9.5            9.8            7.4            6.9            6.7            7.2            7.2            7.4            9.5            
Asphalt Mix — sales price 55.13$        52.23$      53.14$      54.16$      54.39$      54.83$      55.33$      54.71$      50.58$      52.66$      55.16$      

Ready-mixed 
  concrete — cubic yards 3.2              3.6            3.0            2.8            3.7            4.8            4.2            3.9            4.1            4.3            6.4            
Ready-mixed 
  concrete — sales price 123.35$      116.45$    110.02$    106.44$    99.46$      93.10$      92.19$      92.16$      86.95$      96.53$      97.75$      

Calcium — tons 0.3              0.3            0.3            0.3            0.3            0.3            0.3            0.3            0.3            0.2            0.3            
Calcium — sales price 28.44$        28.26$      27.08$      26.70$      26.50$      25.44$      24.55$      23.80$      28.42$      29.75$      22.90$      

Cement — tons 0.0              0.0            0.0            0.0            0.2            1.1            0.9            0.8            0.8            0.6            1.0            
Cement — sales price 0.00$          0.00$        0.00$        0.00$        92.51$      83.05$      77.77$      73.66$      79.27$      95.70$      96.75$      

Aggregates Sales Volume 
  by End Use (estimated)
  Highways 23% 24% 26% 26% 26% 27% 30% 31% 30% 27% 25%
  Other nonbuilding infrastructure 15% 13% 14% 16% 16% 17% 19% 19% 20% 15% 13%
  Residential construction 20% 21% 20% 19% 19% 19% 17% 16% 15% 16% 17%
  Nonresidential construction 40% 39% 37% 36% 35% 33% 29% 28% 29% 37% 42%
  Nonconstruction 2% 3% 3% 3% 4% 4% 5% 6% 6% 5% 3%
    Total 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

  Using public funds 44% 46% 47% 49% 50% 52% 54% 55% 55% 50% 45%
  Using private funds 56% 54% 53% 51% 50% 48% 46% 45% 45% 50% 55%
    Total 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

1 Includes product sales (crushed stone, sand and gravel, sand, other aggregates), as well as freight & delivery costs that we pass along to our customers, and immaterial 
service revenues related to aggregates.

2 Includes product sales,as well as immaterial service revenues from our asphalt construction paving business.
3 Includes ready-mixed concrete, concrete block, precast concrete, as well as building materials purchased for resale. On March 7, 2014, we sold our concrete business in

the Florida area. 
4 Includes cement and calcium products. On March 7, 2014, we sold our cement business.
5 Freight-adjusted revenues are Aggregates segment sales excluding freight & delivery revenues, and other revenues related to services, such as landfill tipping fees that are 

derived from our aggregates business.
6 Freight-adjusted sales price is calculated as freight-adjusted revenues divided by aggregates unit shipments.
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VULCAN MATERIALS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS AND 
SUPPLEMENTARY DATA 
in millions, except per share data 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Total revenues 4,382.9$     3,890.3$   3,592.7$   3,422.2$   2,994.2$   2,770.7$   2,567.3$   2,564.6$   2,558.9$   2,690.5$   3,651.4$   
Cost of revenues 3,281.9       2,896.8     2,603.8     2,564.6     2,406.6     2,343.8     2,233.3     2,280.7     2,258.2     2,244.5     2,901.7     

Gross profit 1,101.0       993.5        988.9        857.6        587.6        426.9        334.0        283.9        300.7        446.0        749.7        
Selling, administrative and
  general expenses 333.4          325.0        316.8        286.8        272.3        259.4        259.1        290.0        327.5        321.6        342.6        
Other operating income
   (expense), net (19.9)           (29.5)        (6.2)          (21.0)        222.8        22.9          9.9            69.6          12.3          24.1          (158.0)      

Operating earnings 747.7          639.0        665.9        549.8        538.1        190.4        84.8          63.5          (14.5)        148.5        249.1        
Other income (expense), net 13.0            13.4          14.6          (1.7)          3.1            7.5            6.7            0.0            3.0            5.3            (4.4)          
Interest income 0.6              4.4            0.8            0.3            1.0            0.9            1.1            3.4            0.9            2.3            3.1            
Interest expense 138.0          295.5        134.0        220.5        243.4        202.5        213.0        220.6        181.6        175.3        172.8        

Earnings (loss) from continuing
  operations before income taxes 623.3          361.3        547.3        327.9        298.8        (3.7)          (120.4)      (153.7)      (192.2)      (19.2)        75.0          
Income tax
  expense (benefit) 105.5          (232.1)      124.9        94.9          91.7          (24.5)        (66.5)        (78.4)        (89.7)        (37.8)        71.7          

Earnings (loss) from continuing
  operations 517.8          593.4        422.4        233.0        207.1        20.8          (53.9)        (75.3)        (102.5)      18.6          3.3            
Earnings (loss) on discontinued
  operations, net of tax (2.0)             7.8            (2.9)          (11.8)        (2.2)          3.6            1.3            4.5            6.0            11.7          (2.4)          
Net earnings (loss) 515.8$        601.2$      419.5$      221.2$      204.9$      24.4$        (52.6)$      (70.8)$      (96.5)$      30.3$        0.9$          

Diluted earnings (loss) per share
  Continuing operations 3.87$          4.40$        3.11$        1.72$        1.56$        0.16$        (0.42)$      (0.58)$      (0.80)$      0.16$        0.03$        
  Discontinued operations (0.02)           0.06          (0.02)        (0.08)        (0.02)        0.03          0.01          0.03          0.05          0.09          (0.02)        
Diluted net earnings (loss)
  per share 3.85$          4.46$        3.09$        1.64$        1.54$        0.19$        (0.41)$      (0.55)$      (0.75)$      0.25$        0.01$        

Gross profit as a percentage
  of total revenues 25.1% 25.5% 27.5% 25.1% 19.6% 15.4% 13.0% 11.1% 11.8% 16.6% 20.5%
Net earnings (loss)
  As a percentage of
    total revenues 11.8% 15.5% 11.7% 6.5% 6.8% 0.9% -2.0% -2.8% -3.8% 1.1% 0.0%
  As a percentage of 
    average equity 10.2% 13.0% 9.4% 5.2% 5.0% 0.6% -1.4% -1.8% -2.4% 0.8% 0.0%
Effective tax rate 16.9% -64.2% 22.8% 29.0% 30.7% 660.5% 55.2% 51.0% 46.6% 197.0% 95.5%
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VULCAN MATERIALS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS AND OTHER FINANCIAL DATA 
dollars in millions
as of December 31 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 40.0$          141.6$      259.0$      284.1$      141.3$      193.7$      275.5$      155.8$      47.5$        22.3$        10.2$        
Restricted cash 4.4              5.1            9.1            1.2            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.1            0.5            0.0            0.0            
Medium-term investments 0.0              0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            4.1            36.7          
Accounts and notes receivable 540.8          588.3        491.8        418.0        373.8        339.6        297.0        314.9        317.8        268.0        357.0        
Inventories 429.3          384.3        345.6        347.1        321.8        344.6        335.0        327.7        319.8        325.0        364.3        
Current deferred income taxes 0.0              0.0            0.0            0.0            39.7          40.4          40.7          43.0          54.7          56.9          63.2          
Other current assets 64.6            60.8          31.7          34.2          28.7          22.6          21.7          21.6          20.3          43.1          55.2          
Assets held for sale 0.0              0.0            0.0            0.0            15.2          10.6          15.1          0.0            13.2          15.1          0.0            
    Total current assets 1,079.1       1,180.1     1,137.2     1,084.6     920.5        951.5        985.0        863.1        773.8        734.5        886.6        
Investments and long-term
  receivables 44.6            35.1          39.2          40.6          41.6          42.4          42.1          29.0          37.4          33.3          28.0          
Property, plant & equipment, net 4,237.3       3,918.9     3,261.4     3,156.3     3,071.6     3,312.0     3,159.2     3,418.2     3,632.9     3,874.7     4,155.8     
Goodwill 3,165.4       3,122.3     3,094.8     3,094.8     3,094.8     3,081.5     3,086.7     3,086.7     3,097.0     3,096.3     3,085.5     
Other assets 1,305.7       1,248.5     938.9        925.3        912.6        845.7        822.4        796.1        798.4        787.7        753.4        
    Total 9,832.1$     9,504.9$   8,471.5$   8,301.6$   8,041.1$   8,233.1$   8,095.4$   8,193.1$   8,339.5$   8,526.5$   8,909.3$   

Liabilities and Equity
Current maturities 0.0$            41.4$        0.1$          0.1$          150.1$      0.2$          150.6$      134.8$      5.2$          385.4$      311.7$      
Short-term borrowings 133.0          0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            285.5        236.5        1,082.5     
Other current liabilities 469.6          401.5        372.1        353.4        301.3        298.9        285.0        271.5        291.5        251.1        285.5        
Liabilities of assets held for sale 0.0              0.0            0.0            0.0            0.5            0.0            0.8            0.0            0.1            0.4            0.0            
Long-term debt 2,779.4       2,813.5     1,982.8     1,980.3     1,834.6     2,496.2     2,495.2     2,644.5     2,427.5     2,116.1     2,153.6     
All other noncurrent liabilities 1,247.2       1,279.6     1,544.0     1,513.6     1,577.9     1,499.7     1,402.7     1,350.7     1,373.9     1,508.9     1,546.2     
Equity 5,202.9       4,968.9     4,572.5     4,454.2     4,176.7     3,938.1     3,761.1     3,791.6     3,955.8     4,028.1     3,529.8     
    Total 9,832.1$     9,504.9$   8,471.5$   8,301.6$   8,041.1$   8,233.1$   8,095.4$   8,193.1$   8,339.5$   8,526.5$   8,909.3$   

Other Financial Data
Average Capital Employed
  Current maturities 0.5$            49.1$        0.1$          60.7$        12.7$        58.7$        203.4$      15.6$        315.7$      150.5$      250.9$      
  Short-term borrowings 175.0          0.0            0.0            41.9          4.2            21.5          0.0            137.9        171.3        508.1        1,544.1     
  Long-term debt 2,783.7       2,542.2     1,982.5     1,912.2     2,079.6     2,524.2     2,587.5     2,637.9     2,259.5     2,455.1     1,863.2     
  All other noncurrent liabilities 1,242.6       1,511.4     1,506.3     1,567.2     1,505.6     1,454.0     1,315.5     1,303.5     1,417.1     1,531.0     1,144.2     
  Equity 5,048.1       4,634.2     4,480.1     4,274.9     4,103.0     3,798.3     3,756.5     3,870.6     3,991.8     3,797.6     3,830.8     
    Total 9,249.9$     8,736.9$   7,969.0$   7,856.9$   7,705.1$   7,856.7$   7,862.9$   7,965.5$   8,155.4$   8,442.3$   8,633.2$   

Capital Expenditures
Cash purchases of property, 
  plant & equipment 469.1$        459.6$      350.1$      289.3$      224.9$      275.4$      93.4$        98.9$        86.3$        109.7$      353.2$      
Accruals and other items for
  property, plant & equipment 6.1              4.6            (5.2)          14.7          (1.8)          9.2            2.4            (1.0)          (6.9)          (3.2)          0.6            
Debt issued for property, plant
  & equipment 0.0              0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.4            
    Total 475.2$        464.2$      344.9$      304.0$      223.1$      284.6$      95.8$        97.9$        79.4$        106.5$      354.2$      

Acquisitions
Cash paid 221.4$        1,109.7$   32.5$        27.2$        284.2$      90.0$        0.0$          10.5$        70.5$        37.0$        84.1$        
Stock issued 0.0              0.0            0.0            0.0            45.2          0.0            (0.1)          18.6          0.0            0.0            25.0          
Payable to seller 4.5              9.7            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            2.0            0.0            
Fair value - net assets swap 0.0              9.9            0.0            20.0          2.4            0.0            0.0            26.0          0.0            0.0            43.0          
    Total 225.9$        1,129.3$   32.5$        47.2$        331.8$      90.0$        (0.1)$        55.1$        70.5$        39.0$        152.1$      

Working capital 476.6$        737.2$      764.9$      731.1$      468.6$      652.4$      548.6$      456.8$      191.4$      (138.8)$    (793.2)$    
Ratio of earnings to fixed 
  charges 1 4.3              2.1            4.0            2.2            2.1            1.0            0.5            0.4            0.1            0.9            1.3            
Total debt as a percentage
  of total capital 2 35.9% 36.5% 30.2% 30.8% 32.2% 39.0% 41.6% 42.6% 40.7% 40.5% 50.1%
Average number of employees 8,525          8,039        7,375        7,024        6,794        7,027        6,993        7,555        7,997        8,580        9,917        

1 Ratio of earnings to fixed charges is the sum of earnings from continuing operations before income taxes, minority interest in earnings of a consolidated subsidiary,
amortization of capitalized interest and fixed charges net of interest capitalization credits, divided by fixed charges. Fixed charges are the sum of interest expense
before capitalization credits, amortization of financing costs and one-third of rental expense.

2 Total debt as a percentage of total capital is the sum of short-term borrowings, current maturities and long-term debt, divided by total capital. Total capital is the sum of 
total debt and equity.
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VULCAN MATERIALS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
in millions 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Operating Activities
Net earnings (loss) 515.8$        601.2$      419.5$      221.2$      204.9$      24.4$        (52.6)$      (70.8)$      (96.5)$      30.3$        0.9$          
Adjustments to reconcile net
  earnings to net cash provided
  by operating activities
    Depreciation, depletion,
      accretion and amortization 346.3          306.0        284.9        274.8        279.5        307.1        332.0        361.7        382.1        394.6        389.1        
    (Increase) decrease in assets
      excluding the initial effects of
      business acquisitions and
      dispositions (32.4)           (147.9)      (86.8)        (33.5)        (50.9)        (38.4)        (20.8)        4.4            (78.2)        95.7          16.7          
    Increase (decrease) in liabilities
      excluding the initial effects of
      business acquisitions and
      dispositions 25.4            (21.5)        (6.0)          10.4          (42.4)        (22.1)        41.2          (16.3)        98.2          (5.4)          (101.9)      
    Other, net (22.3)           (93.1)        33.0          46.6          (130.1)      85.5          (61.3)        (110.0)      (102.9)      (62.2)        130.4        
       Net cash provided by
         operating activities 832.8$        644.7$      644.6$      519.5$      261.0$      356.5$      238.5$      169.0$      202.7$      453.0$      435.2$      

Investing Activities
Purchases of property,
  plant & equipment (469.1)         (459.6)      (350.1)      (289.3)      (224.9)      (275.4)      (93.4)        (98.9)        (86.3)        (109.7)      (353.2)      
Proceeds from sale of property,
  plant & equipment 22.2            15.8          23.3          8.2            26.0          17.6          80.8          13.7          13.6          17.7          25.5          
Proceeds from sale of businesses 11.3            287.3        0.0            0.0            721.4        51.6          21.2          74.7          51.0          16.1          225.8        
Payment for business acquisitions (221.4)         (1,109.7)   (32.5)        (27.2)        (284.2)      (90.0)        0.0            (10.5)        (70.5)        (37.0)        (84.1)        
(Increase) decrease in
  medium-term investments 0.0              0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            3.6            33.3          (36.7)        
(Increase) decrease in
  investments and
  long-term receivables 0.0              0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            (1.2)          
Withdrawal of earnings from 
  nonconsolidated companies 0.0              0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            1.7            
Other, net (12.9)           (3.3)          2.1            (0.2)          0.1            0.0            1.7            1.1            0.7            (0.4)          33.1          
       Net cash provided by
         (used for) investing activities (669.9)$       (1,269.5)$ (357.2)$    (308.5)$    238.4$      (296.2)$    10.3$        (19.9)$      (87.9)$      (80.0)$      (189.1)$    

Financing Activities
Net short-term
  borrowings (payments) 133.0          0.0            0.0            235.0        0.0            0.0            0.0            (285.5)      49.0          (848.0)      (1,009.0)   
Payment of current maturities, 
  long-term debt and line of credit (892.1)         (1,463.3)   0.0            (695.1)      (579.8)      (150.6)      (134.8)      (743.1)      (519.2)      (361.7)      (48.8)        
Proceeds from issuance of 
  long-term debt 850.0          2,200.0     0.0            400.0        0.0            0.0            0.0            1,100.0     450.0        397.7        949.1        
Purchases of common stock (134.0)         (60.3)        (161.5)      (21.5)        0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            
Proceeds from issuance of 
  common stock 0.0              0.0            0.0            0.0            30.6          3.8            0.0            4.9            41.7          606.5        55.1          
Dividends paid (148.1)         (132.3)      (106.3)      (53.2)        (28.9)        (5.2)          (5.2)          (98.2)        (127.8)      (171.5)      (214.8)      
Proceeds from exercise of 
  stock options 0.0              0.0            0.0            73.0          23.5          9.8            10.5          3.6            20.5          17.3          24.6          
Excess tax benefits from 
  share-based compensation 0.0              0.0            0.0            18.4          3.5            0.2            0.3            0.1            0.8            2.1            11.2          
Other, net (73.9)           (40.7)        (36.8)        (23.6)        (0.7)          (0.1)          0.0            (23.0)        (4.1)          (3.3)          (38.2)        
       Net cash provided by 
         (used for) financing activities (265.1)$       503.4$      (304.6)$    (67.0)$      (551.8)$    (142.1)$    (129.2)$    (41.2)$      (89.1)$      (360.9)$    (270.8)$    

Net increase (decrease) in cash 
  and cash equivalents and
  restricted cash (102.2)         (121.4)      (17.2)        144.0        (52.4)        (81.8)        119.6        107.9        25.7          12.1          (24.7)        
Cash and cash equivalents
  and restricted cash
  at beginning of year 146.6          268.0        285.3        141.3        193.7        275.5        155.9        48.0          22.3          10.2          34.9          
Cash and cash equivalents
  and restricted cash
  at end of year 44.4$          146.6$      268.1$      285.3$      141.3$      193.7$      275.5$      155.9$      48.0$        22.3$        10.2$        
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VULCAN MATERIALS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

TOTAL REVENUES, NET EARNINGS AND EARNINGS PER SHARE 
in millions, except per share data 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Total Revenues
First quarter 854.5$        787.3$      754.7$      631.3$      574.4$      538.2$      535.9$      487.2$      493.3$      600.3$      817.3$      
Second quarter 1,200.2       1,030.8     956.8        895.1        791.1        738.7        694.1        702.0        736.2        721.9        1,021.6     
Third quarter 1,240.2       1,094.7     1,008.1     1,038.5     873.6        813.6        728.9        760.8        743.2        778.2        1,013.3     
Fourth quarter 1,088.0       977.5        873.1        857.3        755.1        680.2        608.4        614.6        586.2        590.1        799.2        
  Total 4,382.9$     3,890.3$   3,592.7$   3,422.2$   2,994.2$   2,770.7$   2,567.3$   2,564.6$   2,558.9$   2,690.5$   3,651.4$   

Operating Earnings (Loss)
First quarter 81.2$          70.4$        64.9$        10.8$        194.7$      (50.1)$      (46.3)$      (61.2)$      (36.8)$      (1.3)$        66.8$        
Second quarter 230.8          192.0        213.8        153.8        103.2        86.9          19.7          23.5          1.2            65.7          238.5        
Third quarter 249.2          227.5        227.1        212.2        140.3        99.8          55.9          106.7        50.4          82.7          128.3        
Fourth quarter 186.5          149.1        160.1        173.0        99.9          53.8          55.5          (5.5)          (29.3)        1.4            (184.5)      
  Total 747.7$        639.0$      665.9$      549.8$      538.1$      190.4$      84.8$        63.5$        (14.5)$      148.5$      249.1$      

Earnings (Loss) from Continuing
  Operations
First quarter 53.4$          43.5$        42.0$        (36.7)$      54.5$        (61.6)$      (57.1)$      (64.6)$      (44.5)$      (32.3)$      14.5$        
Second quarter 160.3          111.7        127.2        49.8          46.5          30.1          (17.0)        (7.1)          (22.5)        15.6          141.2        
Third quarter 179.9          110.2        145.1        126.2        67.8          42.2          15.6          22.4          10.6          47.9          59.8          
Fourth quarter 124.2          328.0        108.1        93.7          38.3          10.1          4.6            (26.0)        (46.1)        (12.6)        (212.2)      
  Total 517.8$        593.4$      422.4$      233.0$      207.1$      20.8$        (53.9)$      (75.3)$      (102.5)$    18.6$        3.3$          

Basic Earnings (Loss) Per Share
  from Continuing Operations
First quarter 0.40$          0.33$        0.31$        (0.28)$      0.42$        (0.47)$      (0.44)$      (0.50)$      (0.35)$      (0.29)$      0.13$        
Second quarter 1.21            0.84          0.95          0.37          0.35          0.23          (0.13)        (0.05)        (0.18)        0.14          1.28          
Third quarter 1.36            0.83          1.09          0.95          0.51          0.32          0.12          0.17          0.08          0.38          0.54          
Fourth quarter 0.94            2.47          0.82          0.70          0.29          0.08          0.03          (0.20)        (0.36)        (0.10)        (1.92)        
  Full year 3.91$          4.48$        3.17$        1.75$        1.58$        0.16$        (0.42)$      (0.58)$      (0.80)$      0.16$        0.03$        

Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share
  from Continuing Operations
First quarter 0.40$          0.32$        0.31$        (0.28)$      0.41$        (0.47)$      (0.44)$      (0.50)$      (0.35)$      (0.29)$      0.13$        
Second quarter 1.20            0.83          0.93          0.37          0.35          0.23          (0.13)        (0.05)        (0.18)        0.14          1.27          
Third quarter 1.34            0.82          1.07          0.93          0.51          0.32          0.12          0.17          0.08          0.38          0.54          
Fourth quarter 0.93            2.43          0.80          0.69          0.29          0.08          0.03          (0.20)        (0.36)        (0.10)        (1.92)        
  Full year 3.87$          4.40$        3.11$        1.72$        1.56$        0.16$        (0.42)$      (0.58)$      (0.80)$      0.16$        0.03$        

Net Earnings (Loss)
First quarter 53.0$          44.9$        40.2$        (39.7)$      54.0$        (54.8)$      (52.1)$      (54.7)$      (38.7)$      (32.8)$      13.9$        
Second quarter 159.7          120.1        124.7        48.2          46.0          28.8          (18.3)        (8.1)          (24.0)        22.2          140.8        
Third quarter 179.2          108.6        142.0        123.8        66.9          41.4          14.3          20.0          13.2          54.2          59.1          
Fourth quarter 123.9          327.6        112.6        88.9          38.0          9.0            3.5            (28.0)        (47.0)        (13.3)        (212.9)      
  Total 515.8$        601.2$      419.5$      221.2$      204.9$      24.4$        (52.6)$      (70.8)$      (96.5)$      30.3$        0.9$          

Basic Net Earnings (Loss)
  Per Share
First quarter 0.40$          0.34$        0.30$        (0.30)$      0.41$        (0.42)$      (0.40)$      (0.42)$      (0.31)$      (0.30)$      0.13$        
Second quarter 1.21            0.91          0.93          0.36          0.35          0.22          (0.14)        (0.06)        (0.19)        0.20          1.28          
Third quarter 1.35            0.82          1.07          0.93          0.51          0.32          0.11          0.15          0.10          0.43          0.54          
Fourth quarter 0.94            2.47          0.85          0.67          0.29          0.07          0.03          (0.22)        (0.37)        (0.11)        (1.93)        
  Full year 3.90$          4.54$        3.15$        1.66$        1.56$        0.19$        (0.41)$      (0.55)$      (0.75)$      0.25$        0.01$        

Diluted Net Earnings (Loss)
  Per Share
First quarter 0.39$          0.33$        0.30$        (0.30)$      0.41$        (0.42)$      (0.40)$      (0.42)$      (0.31)$      (0.30)$      0.13$        
Second quarter 1.19            0.89          0.92          0.36          0.35          0.22          (0.14)        (0.06)        (0.19)        0.20          1.27          
Third quarter 1.34            0.81          1.05          0.91          0.50          0.31          0.11          0.15          0.10          0.43          0.53          
Fourth quarter 0.93            2.43          0.83          0.65          0.28          0.07          0.03          (0.22)        (0.37)        (0.11)        (1.93)        
  Full year 3.85$          4.46$        3.09$        1.64$        1.54$        0.19$        (0.41)$      (0.55)$      (0.75)$      0.25$        0.01$        
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VULCAN MATERIALS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

COMMON STOCK PRICES, DIVIDENDS AND RELATED DATA 
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Common Stock Prices

First quarter High 141.20$     136.82$    106.78$    86.25$      69.50$      59.48$      48.09$      47.18$      54.36$      71.26$      79.75$      
Low 110.23       108.95      78.83        64.28        57.55        49.95        38.78        39.77        41.80        34.30        60.20        
Close 114.17       120.48      105.57      84.30        66.45        51.70        42.73        45.60        47.24        44.29        65.98        

Second quarter High 133.59       134.92      121.22      93.07        68.29        55.74        43.91        46.80        59.90        53.94        84.73        
Low 108.17       116.26      104.61      80.58        58.88        45.42        32.31        36.51        43.60        39.65        59.26        
Close 129.06       126.68      120.36      83.93        63.75        48.41        39.71        38.53        43.83        43.10        59.78        

Third quarter High 131.52       130.12      127.20      102.65      66.55        54.37        49.99        39.99        48.04        62.00        100.25      
Low 106.10       111.77      106.42      84.10        60.20        46.21        35.69        27.44        35.61        39.14        49.39        
Close 111.20       119.60      113.73      89.20        60.23        51.81        47.30        27.56        36.92        54.07        74.50        

Fourth quarter High 114.59       129.63      138.18      106.84      69.10        60.14        53.85        45.00        48.26        54.37        77.95        
Low 82.52         115.01      105.71      87.40        54.10        50.32        44.19        25.06        35.40        44.70        39.52        
Close 98.80         128.37      125.15      94.97        65.73        59.42        52.05        39.35        44.36        52.67        69.58        

Year High 141.20       136.82      138.18      106.84      69.50        60.14        53.85        47.18        59.90        71.26        100.25      
Low 82.52         108.95      78.83        64.28        54.10        45.42        32.31        25.06        35.40        34.30        39.52        
Close 98.80         128.37      125.15      94.97        65.73        59.42        52.05        39.35        44.36        52.67        69.58        

Dividends Declared Per Share
  of Common Stock 1

First quarter 0.28$         0.25$        0.20$        0.10$        0.05$        0.01$        0.01$        0.25$        0.25$        0.49$        0.49$        
Second quarter 0.28           0.25          0.20          0.10          0.05          0.01          0.01          0.25          0.25          0.49          0.49          
Third quarter 0.28           0.25          0.20          0.10          0.06          0.01          0.01          0.25          0.25          0.25          0.49          
Fourth quarter 0.28           0.25          0.20          0.10          0.06          0.01          0.01          0.01          0.25          0.25          0.49          
    Full year 1.12$         1.00$        0.80$        0.40$        0.22$        0.04$        0.04$        0.76$        1.00$        1.48$        1.96$        

Other Data
Market value of debt (in millions) 2,696$       2,675$      2,243$      2,205$      2,275$      2,821$      2,917$      2,931$      2,564$      2,686$      2,155$      
Market value of equity (in millions) 13,018       16,987      16,562      12,623      8,622        7,722        6,752        5,085        5,703        6,631        7,671        
Total enterprise value (in millions) 15,714$     19,662$    18,805$    14,828$    10,897$    10,543$    9,669$      8,016$      8,267$      9,317$      9,826$      

Price earnings ratio (year end)
High 36.7           30.7          44.7          65.1          45.1          316.5        N/A N/A N/A 285.0        N/A
Low 21.4           24.4          25.5          39.2          35.1          239.1        N/A N/A N/A 137.2        N/A
Close 25.7           28.8          40.5          57.9          42.7          312.7        N/A N/A N/A 210.7        N/A

Dividends paid as a percentage
  of diluted net earnings per share 29.1% 22.4% 25.9% 24.4% 14.3% 21.6% N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Equity per common share 39.30$       37.50$      34.33$      33.44$      31.77$      30.23$      28.99$      29.31$      30.96$      33.96$      32.24$      
Ratio of stock price to equity per
  common share at year end 2.5             3.4            3.6            2.8            2.1            2.0            1.8            1.3            1.4            1.6            2.2            
Common shares outstanding
  at year end (in millions) 131.8         132.3        132.3        133.2        131.9        130.2        129.7        129.2        128.6        125.9        110.3        
Weighted-average common shares
  outstanding (in millions) 132.4         132.5        133.2        133.2        131.5        130.3        129.7        129.4        128.1        118.9        109.8        
Weighted-average common shares
  outstanding, assuming dilution
  (in millions) 133.9         134.9        135.8        135.1        133.0        131.5        129.7        129.4        128.1        119.4        111.0        
1  Dividends paid in 2018 totaled $148,109,000 as compared with $132,335,000 paid in 2017. On February 8, 2019, our Board of Directors authorized a quarterly
   dividend of 31 cents per common share payable March 8, 2019. 
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VULCAN MATERIALS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

RECONCILIATION OF NON-GAAP MEASURES 
in millions 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Reconciliation of Net
  Earnings to EBITDA
Net earnings (loss) 515.8$       601.2$      419.5$      221.2$      204.9$      24.4$        (52.6)$      (70.8)$      (96.5)$      30.3$        0.9$          
Income tax expense (benefit) 105.5         (232.1)      124.9        94.9          91.7          (24.5)        (66.5)        (78.4)        (89.7)        (37.8)        71.7          
Interest expense, net 137.4         291.1        133.2        220.2        242.4        201.7        211.9        217.2        180.7        173.0        169.7        
(Earnings) loss on discontinued
  operations, net of tax 2.0             (7.8)          2.9            11.8          2.2            (3.6)          (1.3)          (4.5)          (6.0)          (11.7)        2.4            
EBIT 760.7         652.4        680.5        548.1        541.2        198.0        91.5          63.5          (11.5)        153.8        244.7        
Plus
    Goodwill impairment 0.0             0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            0.0            252.7        
    Depreciation, depletion, accretion
      and amortization from
      continuing operations 346.3         306.0        285.0        274.8        279.5        307.1        332.0        361.7        382.1        394.6        389.1        
EBITDA 1,107.0$    958.4$      965.5$      822.9$      820.7$      505.1$      423.5$      425.2$      370.6$      548.4$      886.5$      

EBITDA is an acronym for Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) does not define this metric. EBITDA 
should not be considered as an alternative to earnings measures defined by GAAP.

We present EBIT and EBITDA for the convenience of investment professionals who use such metrics in their analyses and for shareholders who need to understand the metrics we 
use to assess performance.  We use EBITDA  and other such measures to assess the operating performance of our business and for a basis of strategic planning and forecasting 
as we believe that it closely correlates to long-term shareholder value. We do not use these metrics as a measure to allocate resources.
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VULCAN MATERIALS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND COMMITTEES 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
   
J. THOMAS HILL 
Chairman, President and 
Chief Executive Officer 
Vulcan Materials Company 
 

KATHLEEN L. QUIRK 
Executive Vice President and  
Chief Financial Officer 
Freeport-McMoRan Inc. 

CHAIRMAN EMERITI 
Donald M. James 
Herbert A. Sklenar 

THOMAS A. FANNING 
Chairman, President and 
Chief Executive Officer 
Southern Company 
 

DAVID P. STEINER 
Former President and Chief Executive 
Officer 
Waste Management, Inc. 

DIRECTORS EMERITI 
Marion H. Antonini 
H. Allen Franklin 
John K. Greene 
Ann M. Korologos 
Douglas J. McGregor 
James V. Napier 
Donald B. Rice 
Vincent J. Trosino 

O. B. GRAYSON HALL, JR. 
Former Chairman and  
Chief Executive Officer 
Regions Financial Corporation 
 

LEE J. STYSLINGER, III 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
Altec, Inc. 

CYNTHIA L. HOSTETLER 
Trustee 
Invesco Ltd. 
 

 

RICHARD T. O'BRIEN 
Former President and Chief Executive 
Officer 
Boart Longyear Ltd. 
 

  

JAMES T. PROKOPANKO 
Former President and Chief Executive 
Officer 
The Mosaic Company 

  

   
 

BOARD COMMITTEES 
   
EXECUTIVE 
Thomas A. Fanning 
O. B. Grayson Hall, Jr. 
J. Thomas Hill* 
Richard T. O‘Brien 
David P. Steiner 
Lee J. Styslinger, III 
 

COMPENSATION 
Thomas A. Fanning* 
James T. Prokopanko 
Lee J. Styslinger, III 

GOVERNANCE 
O. B. Grayson Hall, Jr. 
Cynthia L. Hostetler 
James T. Prokopanko 
David P. Steiner* 

AUDIT 
Thomas A. Fanning 
Richard T. O'Brien* 
Kathleen L. Quirk 

FINANCE 
O. B. Grayson Hall, Jr.* 
Cynthia L. Hostetler 
Kathleen L. Quirk 

SAFETY, HEALTH AND 
ENVIRONMENTAL AFFAIRS 
Richard T. O'Brien 
David P. Steiner 
Lee J. Styslinger, III* 
 

  * Chair 
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VULCAN MATERIALS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 

CORPORATE AND CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS OFFICERS 

CORPORATE OFFICERS 
   

J. THOMAS HILL 
Chairman, President and  
Chief Executive Officer 
(2015/1996) Age 59 
 

THOMPSON S. BAKER II 
Senior Vice President 
(2017/2017) Age 60 
 
 

RANDY L. PIGG 
Vice President, Controller and 
Principal Accounting Officer 
(2018/2005) Age 46 
 

SUZANNE H. WOOD 
Senior Vice President and 
Chief Financial Officer 
(2018/2018) Age 59 
 

MICHAEL R. MILLS 
Chief Administrative Officer 
(2016/1991) Age 58 
 
 

LARRY W. MILLER 
Vice President, Human Resources 
(2016/2000) Age 62 
 

STANLEY G. BASS 
Chief Growth Officer 
(2016/1996) Age 57 
 

JERRY F. PERKINS JR. 
General Counsel and Secretary 
(2016/2002) Age 49 

 

 

CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS OFFICERS 
   

CHRISTINA M. ALVORD 
President, Southern and Gulf Coast 
Division 
(2017/2016) Age 51 
 

C. BROCKWAY LODGE, JR. 
President, Western Division 
(2016/2001) Age 46 
 

JASON P. TETER 
President, Southeast Division 
(2018/2013) Age 44 
 

DAVID P. CLEMENT 
President, Central Division 
(2014/2004) Age 58 
 

JEFFERY G. LOTT 
President, Southwest Division 
(2014/2001) Age 60 
 

S. MARTIN THORPE 
President, Mideast Division 
(2017/2000) Age 62 
 

WILLIAM KIM DUKE 
President, Business Improvement 
(2018/1985) Age 63 
 

JEFFREY S. MAY 
President, Mountain West Division 
(2019/2006) Age 46 

 

ERNESTO ENRIQUEZ-CASTILLO 
President, International Division 
(2015/2013) Age 44 
 

DAVID B. PASLEY 
President, Operations Support 
(2018/1999) Age 60 
 

 

   
 
Dates indicate year appointed to present 
position/year employed by Vulcan. 
 
Ages are as of March 1, 2019. 
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION 
HOW TO REACH US  GENERAL INFORMATION 
Shareholder Services 
Our transfer agent and registrar, Computershare 
Shareowner Services LLC (Computershare), has a direct 
response system for handling shareholders’ inquiries about 
change of address, account balances, recent dividend 
information, dividend checks, reportable income and 
dividend reinvestment. 

 Notice of Annual Meeting 
The annual meeting of shareholders will be held at the 
Company’s headquarters, 1200 Urban Center Drive, 
Birmingham, Alabama 35242, on Friday, May 10, 2019, at 
9:00 a.m., Central Daylight Time. All shareholders are 
urged to attend. A formal notice of the meeting and proxy 
materials accompany this report. 

Telephone 
(866) 886-9902 
(toll-free inside the U.S. and Canada) 
(201) 680-6578 
(outside the U.S. and Canada, may call collect) 
(800) 231-5469 
(TDD, hearing impaired) 

 Electronic Deposit of Dividends 
Registered holders of our common stock may have their 
quarterly dividends deposited to their checking or savings 
account free of charge. Contact Computershare personnel 
to sign up for this service. 
Telephone: (866) 886-9902 
Internet: www.computershare.com/investor 

Mail 
Vulcan Materials Company 
c/o Computershare 
PO Box 30170 
College Station, TX 77842-3170 
Internet: www.computershare.com/investor 

 Direct Stock Purchase and 
Dividend Reinvestment Plan 
The Computershare CIP direct purchase and dividend 
reinvestment plan offers both existing registered 
shareholders and first-time investors an affordable 
alternative for investing in the Company, including the 
ability to purchase additional shares of our common stock. 
A brochure describing this service may be obtained by 
calling or visiting: 
Telephone: (866) 886-9902 
Internet: www.computershare.com/investor 

 
Investor Relations 
Mark D. Warren 
Telephone: (205) 298-3220 
E-mail: ir@vmcmail.com 

Community & 
Governmental Relations 
David A. Donaldson 
Telephone: (205) 298-3220 
E-mail: cr@vmcmail.com 

 

Internet Address 
Our internet address is www.vulcanmaterials.com. This 
website includes general Company information, Securities 
and Exchange Commission filings, investor information and 
an archive of recent news releases. 

 Independent Auditors 
Deloitte & Touche LLP 
Birmingham, Alabama 

Corporate Headquarters 
Vulcan Materials Company 
1200 Urban Center Drive 
Birmingham, Alabama 35242-2545 
Telephone: (205) 298-3000    Fax: (205) 298-2963 

  

New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) Assertions 
Our common stock is listed and traded on the NYSE under 
the symbol VMC. 
On June 5, 2018, J. Thomas Hill, Chairman, President and 
Chief Executive Officer, submitted to the NYSE the Written 
Affirmation required by the rules of the NYSE certifying that 
he was not aware of any violations by Vulcan Materials 
Company of NYSE Corporate Governance listing 
standards. 
The certifications of Mr. Hill and Suzanne H. Wood, Senior 
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, made pursuant 
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, have 
been filed as exhibits to our 2018 Annual Report on Form 
10-K. 
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